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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(Dollars in millions except per share data) 20163 2015 2014 2013 20124

Net Sales $ 514.2 $ 535.0 $ 555.1 $ 547.9 $ 562.3

Gross Margin%1 32.6% 35.8% 34.6% 33.0% 30.2%

Operating Expense% 20.5% 17.1% 15.7% 15.1% 16.6%

Income from Operations $   24.5 $   64.8 $   74.6 $ 68.9 $    39.9

Net Income $   13.8 $   43.5 $   49.4 $   45.7 $    23.3

Net Income per Common Share (Diluted) $   0.27 $   0.82 $   0.92 $ 0.84 $    0.41

EBITDA%2 11.8% 18.6% 18.6% 17.6% 11.3%

Cash Dividends per Common Share $   0.20 $   0.20 $ — $     — $ —

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $   69.0 $   69.9 $   84.3 $ 66.8 $    72.7

(1) Net sales less the cost of products sold (excluding depreciation and amortization) as a percentage of net sales.

(2) Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization as a percentage of net sales. 

(3) Includes $15.7 million of costs related to the November 2, 2016 acquisition of the wood-based activated carbon, reactivation, and mineral-
based filtration media business (the New Business). Refer to Note 20 of the consolidated financial statements included in the Company's 2016 
Annual Report on Form 10-K (that is part of this Annual Report) for further information.

(4) Includes $10.2 million of restructuring charges, $1.7 million of multi-employer pension charges, and a $1.7 million charge related to an 
agreement with the Company's former Chief Executive Officer. 
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

In 1942, Calgon Carbon (then known as Pittsburgh Coke and Chemical) made history

when it pioneered the development of coal-based granular activated carbon to meet the 

respirator needs of U.S. soldiers fighting in World War II. Now, as we reflect on 2016 and 

move forward, we celebrate both the accomplishments of our past, and a legacy that 

has been 75 years in the making.

Over many decades, we have forged an 

uncompromising, well-known, and strong 

heritage. It is a heritage defined by a number of 

distinct attributes and processes that I believe, in 

combination, uniquely set us apart, including: 

• An industry-leading expertise in bituminous 

coal-based granular activated carbon. 

• A reputation for providing high-quality, high-

performing products supported by world-class 

innovation.

• Fully-integrated solutions featuring a variety 

of activated carbon products, field service, 

equipment, and carbon reactivation.

• A commitment to solve customers’ most 

challenging purification problems through 

exceptional technical and customer support. 

In 2016, our most significant accomplishment 

was the completion of the largest acquisition 

in our Company’s history. On November 2, we 

closed the $157.4 million acquisition of the 

European activated carbon and filtration media 

capabilities from CECA (the New Business). With 

both wood-based activated carbon and coal-

based reactivation services, the New Business is 

a natural fit for us, and its mineral-based filter 

aid products enhance our capacity to provide the 

most extensive and highest quality purification 

products to our customers. I believe this 

acquisition not only builds upon our brand, but 

significantly broadens our presence in Europe 

and diversifies our global platform. I’ll provide 

more details of the New Business later on.

In addition, I’ll also share with you some of 

our other highlights from 2016, including the 

ways in which we are leveraging the experience 

and expertise of our heritage to ensure 

our participation in several near-term key 

market opportunities.

After completing the year with a historical 

milestone, I believe it’s only fitting to explore the 

rich history that paved the path to bring Calgon 

Carbon to where it is today. Highlights of notable 

events, accomplishments, and achievements that 

have contributed to 75 years of excellence can be 

found on page 8. 

2016 Financial Summary

2016 Sales and Earnings
While we entered 2016 with expectations for 

improving both sales and earnings compared 

to 2015, several continuing and unexpected 

challenges weighed on our performance 

throughout the year:

• Most significantly, the industrial sector slowdown 

we began to experience in 2015 persisted 

unabated throughout 2016. While we held onto 

market share, our industrial sector customers 

were simply using and purchasing less of our 

high-quality, high-performing products. 

• In the market for our mercury removal 

products, low natural gas prices and 

unseasonably warm winter weather conditions 

led to lower than expected usage rates of 

activated carbon by electric power plants in 

North America.
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• Expected growth of ballast water management 

system sales did not materialize in 2016, as it 

was not until late in the year when we finally 

received the long-awaited ratification of the 

International Maritime Organization's Ballast 

Water Management Convention regulation, 

and the U.S. Coast Guard issued its first three 

ballast water system Type Approvals for use 

in U.S. waterways and ports, boding well for 

future years. 

• The U.S. Dollar continued to strengthen 

against the Euro and the British pound sterling 

throughout the year, mainly following the 

June vote in the United Kingdom to approve its 

referendum to exit the European Union (Brexit). 

Combined with changes in exchange rates of 

other currencies, this had the effect of reducing 

our reported sales in U.S. dollars by $2.8 million 

from last year.

However, on the positive side we realized 

year-over-year growth for our activated carbon 

and equipment solutions serving drinking 

water markets in North America – including 

the currently high profile market for removing 

an emerging class of contaminants known as 

perfluorinated compounds (PFCs) primarily from 

groundwater sources. We also increased our sales 

of products for metals-recovery applications, 

particularly in North America and Asia. 

In aggregate, the combination of these factors 

led to a 6% decline in our legacy Calgon Carbon 

business sales to $502.1 million. The sales of the 

New Business for the final two months of the 

year added $12.1 million, and resulted in total 

sales of $514.2 million for 2016, compared to 

$535.0 million in the previous year.

As a result of our lower sales, as well as a less 

favorable mix of sales in the current year, our 

total gross margin* percentage, including the 

results of the New Business, declined to 32.6%, 

compared to 35.8% in 2015.

In addition, our 2016 results were significantly 

burdened with costs related to the acquisition of 

the New Business, which totaled $15.7 million. 

This, as well as the other factors I mentioned 

previously, contributed to a 2016 net income of 

$13.8 million, or $0.27 per fully diluted share, 

being significantly reduced from 2015 results of 

$43.5 million, or $0.82 per fully diluted share. 

While I am far from satisfied with our financial 

results in 2016, I am pleased that despite the 

difficult market conditions that challenged our 

top line, the impact of the cost improvement 

initiatives implemented over the last five years 

have contributed to our ability to maintain 

solid gross margin performance. This is why 

I have confidence that when industrial sector 

market conditions improve, the combination 

of our resilient business model and our focus 

on maximizing and unlocking the value of our 

expanded core businesses will lead to improved 

performance going forward.

Returning Shareholder Value

In 2016, we returned $18.8 million to our 

shareholders. Given our strategic decision to 

commit significant capital resources to complete 

the value-added acquisition of the New Business, 

we announced the suspension of activities under 

our open market common stock repurchase 

program in early 2016.

However, reflective of our Board of Directors’ 

continuing confidence in the fundamental 

strength and cash flows of the Company, it 

authorized quarterly $0.05 per share dividends 

throughout 2016 totaling $10.1 million.

2016 Highlights and Accomplishments

The New Business
In what was our most notable and visible 

accomplishment of the year, the acquisition 

of the New Business – announced in April and 

completed in November 2016 – followed through 

on our long-term strategic priority of “full 

participation in new and developing markets 

worldwide,” which I’ve discussed in my last 

few annual letters. Not only did we meet this 

objective, but as a result of our diligent business 

acquisition process, the addition of this special 

collection of assets and capabilities is a perfect 

fit for Calgon Carbon in many ways, and one that 

will most certainly enhance shareholder value 

going forward. 

*Net sales less the cost of products sold (excluding 
depreciation and amortization) as a percentage of 
net sales.

“...this acquisition not only builds upon our 

brand, but significantly broadens our presence 

in Europe and diversifies our global platform.”
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New, Complementary Capabilities

Our expertise in bituminous coal-based 

granular activated carbon is a foundational 

tenet of our heritage. The New Business 

expands upon that heritage to include new and 

complementary capabilities.

• Wood-based activated carbon: The New Business 

brings wood-based activated carbon production 

capabilities. Located in the heart of its raw 

material source in the largest pine forest in 

Europe, the New Business has a current annual 

capacity to manufacture approximately 22 

million pounds of steam-activated, chemical-

activated, and higher-value-add washed 

wood-based carbons for food, industrial, 

and pharmaceutical market customers. 

This additional capacity and wood carbon 

production know-how will nicely complement 

our U.S.-based 164 million pound annual 

production capacity for bituminous coal-based 

activated carbon.

• Mineral-based filtration media: With this 

acquisition, we broaden our product capabilities 

into the adjacent filtration media technologies 

of Diatomaceous Earth (DE) and Perlites. The 

DE capability is vertically integrated with two 

DE quarry mineral deposit sources, each with 

reserves estimated to last two decades or more. 

The New Business is one of only a few European 

manufacturers of DE and primarily serves food 

and beverage end markets. Perlite media is 

used in beverage and industrial applications, 

as well as in “perliting” applications where 

the material is used to insulate liquefied gas 

storage tanks.

• Strategically located reactivation: Calgon Carbon’s 

legacy activated carbon reactivation facilities 

are located in Belgium and England in northern 

Europe. We look forward to efficiently serving 

more customers across all of Europe through 

utilizing the New Business’ industrial and food- 

grade reactivation capacity that is located in 

southern Europe, in Italy.

• High-performing products: Similar to Calgon 

Carbon’s focus on providing innovative, high-

performing products to meet critical and 

demanding needs across its customer spectrum, 

the New Business’ products are similarly regarded 

for serving an equally demanding customer 

base. This is particularly true for the products 

it provides to the wine, beer, pharmaceutical, 

and fine chemicals manufacturing businesses, 

where the consistency and level of performance 

for activated carbon and filtration media are at 

a premium.

Geographic and End-Market Diversification 

and Expansion

The geographic and end-market mix of the 

New Business’ sales and customer base is a 

desirable complement to that of Calgon Carbon’s 

legacy platform.

Randy Dearth
Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer 
Calgon Carbon Corporation
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• Geographically, Calgon Carbon’s exposure 

immediately shifts from a business with 60% 

exposure to the Americas – mostly North 

America – to a Company with 50% of its 

exposure in Europe and Asia.

• From an end-market perspective, much of 

Calgon Carbon’s current business is tied to and 

driven by regulation. The New Business, which 

immediately increases our total sales by nearly 

20%, brings business levered to “traditional,” 

non-regulated markets. While we continue 

to like the exposure and significant growth 

opportunities that regulation provides us 

from time to time, the New Business positively 

enhances the diversity and balance of our 

overall revenue base.

In addition, we’re eager to execute on 

opportunities we expect will significantly 

improve the profitability of the New Business 

going forward, including:

• Continuing the work previously started to 

de-bottleneck the New Business’ wood-based 

activated carbon manufacturing process. 

• The achievement of cost and other integration-

related synergies through the effective 

integration of the New Business into our 

Chemviron operations in Europe.

Through this transaction, we’ve leveraged 

and expanded upon our core competencies and 

strengthened our opportunities for profitable 

growth. We’ve diversified our mix of traditional 

and regulated businesses and revenue drivers. All 

in all, because of the similarities between our two 

businesses, we believe we’ve made a strategically 

sound investment and we’re excited to continue 

executing our plans to create shareholder value 

from the acquisition both in the near term and 

over a longer-term horizon.

Developing Market Opportunities 

Removing Perfluorinated Compounds (PFCs) 
from Water Sources
Calgon Carbon has been successfully removing 

harmful contaminants like PFCs from industrial 

wastewater emissions and groundwater sources 

for drinking water for more than 15 years. 

While this has been a steady business for us, 

the dynamics that underlie the demand for our 

solutions to serve this market area changed 

notably during 2016, creating an opportunity for 

future growth – and one that is still developing. 

PFCs are manmade, fully-fluorinated 

compounds not naturally found in the 

environment. They have been used in the 

production of a range of common household 

products such as non-stick cookware and 

stain-resistant carpeting or fabrics, as well as 

in fire-fighting foams and coating additives. 

The two most commonly produced PFCs 

used in the production of these products are 

perfluorooctanoic acid and perfluorooctane 

sulfonate, known as PFOA and PFOS, respectively. 

These chemicals – which are highly mobile 

and able to quickly infiltrate groundwater – have 

become widely distributed, are persistent in the 

environment, and can accumulate in the blood 

of humans, wildlife, and fish. Studies indicate 

that exposure to PFOA and PFOS over certain 

levels may result in serious adverse health effects 

to humans.

PFOA and PFOS are on the U.S. Environmental 

Protection Agency (U.S. EPA or EPA) Drinking 

Water Contaminant Candidate List 4, which 

identifies contaminants that are not currently 

subject to national primary drinking water 

regulations, but are known to occur in public 

water systems, and are candidates for being 

regulated in the future. 

During 2016, several events occurred that 

began to increase the focus on the danger of 

these chemicals in certain drinking water sources 

in the United States:

• The Environmental Working Group published 

a report of U.S. EPA PFC occurrence data 

showing that more than 400 well sites at 94 

public drinking water systems in 28 states have 

detectable levels of PFCs.

• The EPA – based on the latest science – issued 

a health advisory limit at 70 parts per trillion, 

a level which the EPA believes provides 

“The New Business...is a perfect fit for Calgon 

Carbon, and one that will most certainly 

enhance shareholder value going forward.”
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Americans with a margin of protection from 

exposure to these chemicals.

• The U.S. Department of Defense (DoD) – which 

has used fire-fighting foams as part of regular 

training exercises – has identified a number of 

bases that could be impacted from the use of 

such products over many years.

• Some states have publicly stated that they 

are considering establishing health advisory 

limits or maximum contaminant levels that 

are considerably lower than those established 

by the EPA – in some cases to a non-

detectable level. 

While still not subject to official regulation, 

these events have led many utilities and DoD 

bases that have measured trace amounts of PFCs, 

both above and below the EPA health advisory 

limit, to take action and implement solutions to 

remove PFCs from their drinking water sources 

or remediate other contaminated water.

Due to our established reputation and 

technical expertise in dealing with and removing 

PFCs from groundwater, many of these utilities 

and military bases are choosing Calgon Carbon’s 

fully integrated solution of FILTRASORB® coal-

based granular activated carbon, equipment, 

field service, and reactivation. Our solution 

is effective, economical, and can be rapidly 

deployed. Laboratory testing has demonstrated 

that FILTRASORB® activated carbon 

outperforms competing coconut-based activated 

carbon solutions. Spent activated carbon that 

contains PFCs can be reactivated, destroying 

the compounds and eliminating the liability 

associated with other disposal options. 

We closed 2016 with a total of 20 awarded 

PFC projects valued at nearly $10 million. This 

is a market that is still developing. As of early 

January we have been developing customized 

testing and design work for nearly 50 additional 

PFC projects. We expect this to lead to increased 

sales in our North American municipal water 

business in the coming year.

In addition to those receiving water from 

a municipal utility, we have also become 

significantly involved in providing granular 

activated carbon for use in point-of-entry home 

water filtration systems for private wells.

While regulations are an important driver of 

growth for drinking water and other areas of our 

business, PFCs represent an example of how our 

business can be swiftly and positively impacted 

by emerging market requirements.

Protecting the World’s Oceans and Waterways 
from Invasive Species
Following years of delays in the implementation 

of United States Coast Guard (USCG) and 

International Maritime Organization (IMO) 

regulations intended to safeguard marine 

ecosystems from the spread of invasive species, 

2016 brought significant progress that has 

kindled momentum in the development and 

growth of the market for our ballast water 

treatment systems (BWTS).

First, after a long and arduous twelve-year 

process, this past September the IMO Convention 

for the Control and Management of Ships’ Ballast 

Water and Sediments was finally ratified – and 

is now scheduled to go into force on September 

8, 2017. Currently, more than 60 BWTS Type 

Approvals have been granted by the IMO that 

comply with the Convention, including our Hyde 

GUARDIAN® BWTS. 

In addition, in December 2016 the USCG finally 

granted its first three BWTS Type Approvals. 

Although USCG regulations applicable to ballast 

water discharges in U.S. waters moved fully into 

force between January 1, 2014 and January 1, 

2016, ship owners have been unwilling to invest 

in and install systems that may not achieve 

a USGC Type Approval. This has led to the 

issuance of more than 11,500 vessel compliance 

extensions as of December 2016.

Consequently, we are currently moving 

forward on the testing of our Hyde GUARDIAN® 

system under USCG testing protocols, and are 

confident we will be in a position to submit 

our application for USCG Type approval in the 

2017 fourth quarter. We believe the timing of 

our USGC testing is ideal, both from a market 

formation perspective and because of the 

enhanced knowledge we have gained regarding 

the USCG testing procedures.

“2016 brought significant progress that has 

kindled momentum in the development and 

growth of the market for our ballast water 

treatment systems (BWTS).”
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As a result of these developments, in late 

2016 we began experiencing a notable increase 

in customer inquiries regarding our BWTS. 

Unfortunately for our 2016 financial results, 

these developments did not come soon enough 

to materialize into orders, sales, and earnings. 

However, we do expect the pace of activity to 

remain robust and lead to increased BWTS 

equipment sales starting in late 2017, and 

for several years thereafter, so long as IMO 

Convention vessel compliance timing, and our 

USCG Type Approval testing, stay on track. 

We look forward to participating in the 

development of this market, which we estimate 

to include approximately 64,000 vessels (both 

new ships and retrofits of existing vessels) with a 

total potential value of $18 billion to $28 billion 

over the next 5 to 7 years. In addition, based on 

our recent experience – albeit a limited number 

of installed systems currently – we anticipate an 

ongoing market for follow-on parts and service. 

Responsible Care Certification 
Calgon Carbon’s virgin activated carbon 

manufacturing and reactivation facilities, as 

well as our headquarters and innovation center, 

attained certification to the American Chemistry 

Council’s Responsible Care® Management 

System in late 2016. 

Responsible Care® participants pledge 

to improve environmental, health, safety, 

and sustainability performance for facilities, 

processes, and products throughout their 

operations. Participants must also implement 

additional codes of management practice that 

include Product Safety, Process Safety, and 

Security. Members also commit to transparent 

reporting and submit publicly available 

annual data on their progress towards meeting 

performance goals. 

A key requirement of the Responsible Care® 

Management System process is mandatory 

certification by an independent, accredited 

auditor. To achieve certification, Calgon Carbon 

underwent facility audits to assure that we have 

a structure and system in place to measure, 

manage, and verify performance. 

We see this certification and initiative as 

significant to the continued success of our 

operations, and also complementary to our 

sustainability efforts. Implementing Responsible 

Care® is the right step in managing and 

improving our impacts on our key focus areas 

– our employees, products, environmental 

performance, and community efforts.

Safety
At Calgon Carbon, we make every effort to keep 

our employees safe from injury. That’s why, more 

than two years ago, we launched a company-wide 

campaign employing new ways to encourage 

employees to engage in safe behaviors and 

practices at the workplace. 

I am happy to report that our safety standard 

score continues to rise as the total number of 

injuries sustained on the job decreases. We have 

reduced the number of recordable injuries year-

over-year since 2014, with our 2016 performance 

showing a 62% improvement over 2014. 

With improved safety performance in the U.S. 

and Europe, our 2016 corporate safety goal was 

achieved and multiple facilities operated without 

recordable injuries. 

We attribute our success in 2016 to continued 

SafeStart® training for current and new 

employees, which puts a strong emphasis on 

performing Behavior-Based Observations, and 

our unwavering adherence to the Calgon Carbon 

Safety Standard Audits. Additional information 

on Safety can be found in our 2016 Sustainability 

Report, which is scheduled to be released in the 

third quarter of 2017. Our 2015 Sustainability 

Report is available on our website. 

History in the Making

Moving Forward
With the complementary wood-based carbons 

and filter aid business acquisition complete, our 

focus in 2017 will be to optimize the entirety 

of our expanded core businesses, across our 

entire platform. We will continue to instill the 

operational excellence Calgon Carbon has 

achieved over 75 years, ensuring that our place 

as a leading activated carbon and filter aid 

supplier remains intact, particularly in high-end, 

advanced product and service areas.

“...the impact of the cost improvement 

initiatives implemented over the last five years 

have contributed to our ability to maintain 

solid gross margin performance.”
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• We will focus on the integration of the wood-

based activated carbon and filter aid business, 

specifically on capturing the operational and 

project-related synergies that I discussed 

earlier. As we progress through this process, 

we will be executing our plans to maximize our 

participation in markets served by these new 

and complementary products and capabilities.

• In addition to our immediate focus on ensuring 

that we capture our fair share of the developing 

ballast water and PFC market areas mentioned 

earlier, we will execute actions that solidify 

our leading positions in the market areas 

where high-performing products and excellent 

technical service solutions are required. We 

believe placing focus in this area – and playing 

to our strengths – will serve us well and 

enhance our long-term fortunes.

• We will continue controlling and reducing costs 

across our entire platform, as well as improving 

our operational and manufacturing processes 

in order to provide both more value to our 

customers, and higher levels of profitability to 

our shareholders. 

I look forward to reporting to you the progress 

on these initiatives throughout 2017. We expect 

them to enhance the strength of Calgon Carbon 

in the markets we serve, and that they will in 

turn provide us the opportunity to deliver 

steadily improving sales, earnings and operating 

cash flows – which in total adds up to increasing 

This Letter to Shareholders 
contains forward-looking 
statements. Please refer 
to the Forward-Looking 
Information Safe Harbor 
statement on page 13 of this 
annual report to shareholders 
regarding the risks associated 
with and attendant to forward-
looking statements.

shareholder value and returns. We also intend to 

pay close attention to the policies and actions 

of the new U.S. Presidential administration in 

Washington. We will be particularly focused on 

anticipated changes in the areas of U.S. corporate 

income and cross-border tax policies, as well as 

environmental regulations. We will ensure that 

our strategies going forward will encompass 

appropriate consideration of this new dynamic 

economic and political landscape.

Finally, I’d like to recognize the nearly 1,400 

employees who make up the very foundation 

on which Calgon Carbon is built. Our global 

team efforts strengthened in 2016, but especially 

during the completion of our acquisition of 

the New Business. Throughout a challenging 

year, our team sustained a steadfast focus on 

acquiring and beginning to integrate the New 

Business, while simultaneously performing 

day-to-day responsibilities at a high level. The 

work ethic demonstrated by our team in 2016 

is emblematic of the spirit that has carried 

Calgon Carbon through 75 years of success. I am 

confident that it will continue to carry us forward 

in 2017, and into the future as well.

Randall S. Dearth

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Left to Right: Chad Whalen, 
Steve Schott, Randy Dearth, 
Jim Coccagno, Bob Fortwangler
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When the United States entered World War II, coconut shells 

were the raw material used to produce granular activated 

carbon, the filtering agent in military gas masks. Faced with 

a shortage of this crucial war material, the government 

asked Pittsburgh Coke and Chemical to develop a substitute 

from a native material. In 1942, the Company produced 

an activated carbon product using bituminous coal, and 

that was the beginning of the company now known as 

Calgon Carbon Corporation.

CALGON CARBON HISTORY

1942 1955 1960 1962 1965

1993

2009 2011

1987 1991 1996

2010

Pittsburgh Coke & Chemical 
Company, Inc. pioneers the 
development of coal-based 
granular activated carbon for 
use in military protection.

The "Pittsburgh Pulse Bed" 
system is introduced – the first 
activated carbon system for 
sugar decolorization.

The Activated Carbon Division 
of Pittsburgh Coke and Chemical 
pioneers the use of granular 
activated carbon in drinking 
water treatment.

Pittsburgh Activated Carbon 
Company (formerly Pittsburgh 
Coke & Chemical) is acquired by 
Calgon Corporation.

In the U.K., Thames Water 
Utilities, Ltd., grants Calgon 
Carbon exclusive rights to 
market its new Sandwich Filter 
technology for the removal of 
pesticides and other organic 
compounds from drinking water.

The company unveils a new 
corporate logo, re-positioning 
the former logo’s distinctive 
“ellipse” shape into a forward-
moving direction to symbolize 
the company’s anticipated long-
term growth.

The acquisition of Calgon 
Carbon Japan KK (CCJ), the 
former joint venture between 
Calgon Carbon Corporation and 
Mitsubishi Chemical Corporation 
is completed.

Calgon Carbon acquires two companies: the firm Zwicky Denmark and Sweden, service providers 
and long-term distributors of Chemivron Carbon’s activated carbon products; and purchases the 
outstanding stock of Hyde Marine Inc., a manufacturer of systems that utilize filters and UV technology 
to treat marine ballast water.

Calgon Carbon’s Blue Lake, California plant is the first in the U.S. to receive certification from NSF 
International under NSF/ANSI Standard 61: Drinking Water System Components – Health Effects for 
custom reactivated carbon for potable water applications.

Calgon Carbon completes initial 
public offering of common stock.

Calgon Carbon is listed on the 
New York Stock Exchange 
(NYSE), trading under the 
symbol CCC.

Calgon Carbon acquires the Perox-Pure (UV light technology) 
business operations of Vulcan Peroxidation Systems, Inc., (Tucson, 
Arizona), and Solarchem Enterprises, Inc., (Toronto, Ontario, Canada). 
Calgon Carbon also acquires Advanced Separation Technologies 
Incorporated™ (Lakeland, Florida) and Charcoal Cloth (International) 
Ltd., a British manufacturer of activated carbon in cloth form.

The Activated Carbon Division 
reaches a major milestone 
when 40,000 pounds of granular 
activated carbon is installed for 
the Virginia-American Water 
Co., a subsidiary of the American 
Water Works Service Company, 
setting a new benchmark for 
drinking water quality.

A Tradition of Innovation

Japan
The Public Health and  
Safety Organization

Calgon Corporation

Throughout its history, Calgon Carbon has been a pioneer 

in creating new activated carbon products, systems and 

services. The Company currently offers carbon technologies 

used in over 700 distinct market applications from 

purifying air, drinking water, foods and pharmaceuticals, 

to separating gas and removing mercury emissions. As a 

leader in the activated carbon industry and with ultraviolet 

light disinfection and oxidation expertise, Calgon Carbon 

Corporation has originated cutting-edge purification systems 

for drinking water, wastewater, odor control, pollution 

abatement, and a variety of industrial and commercial 

manufacturing processes.
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Innovations
Over 20 years ago, Calgon Carbon introduced an advanced 

UV oxidation process to remediate contaminated 

groundwater. In 1998, we followed that up with the first 

radical breakthrough in the treatment of drinking water in 

decades, when our scientists invented a process that could 

be used to inactivate Cryptosporidium and other similar 

pathogens in surface water, rendering them harmless to 

humans. This inventive process placed Calgon Carbon 

on the leading edge of UV disinfection technology. With 

the Sentinel® line for drinking water, the C3 Series™ for 

wastewater, and the Rayox® line for groundwater and process 

water, Calgon Carbon continues to lead the marketplace with 

innovative UV technologies.

From the use of granular activated carbon (GAC) for taste 

and odor removal in the early 1960s, to the development 

of ultraviolet light technology for pathogen control in the 

late 1990s, to the application of ion exchange technology 

for removing perchlorates starting in 2000, Calgon Carbon 

continues to be a pioneer in making water safer and cleaner.

1967 1968 1970 1978 1985

1997 2002

2011(cont.) 2014 2016

1998 2007

2012 2015

Calgon Corporation is 
reorganized into six 
autonomous divisions, including 
the Pittsburgh Activated 
Carbon Company, responsible 
for its own marketing 
and manufacturing.

Chemviron, S.A, 
headquartered in Brussels, is 
established to market water 
pollution control systems, 
products and engineering 
services in Europe.

A joint venture is formed with 
Mitsui Chemicals, Inc. and 
Mitsui & Co., Ltd.

Calgon Carbon, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Merck and Co., Inc., 
is acquired by its management 
through a leveraged buyout.

Singapore-based marketing 
subsidiary Calgon Carbon Asia 
is formed, serving customers 
in Korea, Taiwan, the People's 
Republic of China, Southeast 
Asia, Australia, New Zealand 
and India.

Calgon Carbon Corporation 
expands in Asia, starting up a 
manufacturing plant in China 
and forming a joint venture with 
Mitsubishi Chemical Corporation 
of Tokyo, Japan to produce and 
sell activated carbon and related 
services throughout Japan.

Randy Dearth assumes the 
position of Chairman of the Board.

Calgon Carbon acquires 
wood-based activated carbon, 
reactivation, and filtration media 
capabilities located in Europe, 
Calgon Carbon becomes an even 
more global and diverse industry 
leader in activated carbon, 
reactivation, and filtration media 
in the form of diatomaceous earth 
and perlites.

Calgon Carbon launches 
Sentinel® ultraviolet (UV) 
disinfection system for the 
inactivation of Cryptosporidium.

The company acquires Waterlink 
Specialty Products, known as 
Barnebey Sutcliffe in the United 
States, and Sutcliffe Speakman in 
Europe, to enhance capabilities in 
carbon reactivation, impregnation 
and on-site services.

First contract for FLUEPAC® 
powdered activated carbon for 
treatment of mercury in flue gas 
streams from coal-fired electric 
power plant is signed.

Calgon Carbon’s chairman, 
president and chief executive 
officer, John S. Stanik, 
retires. Randy Dearth is 
appointed president and chief 
executive officer.

Calgon Carbon moves into new 
headquarters building.

Calgon Carbon reinstates a 
dividend to shareholders.

Calgon Corporation acquired by 
Merck and Co., Inc.

Mitsui Chemicals, Inc.

Mitsui & Co., Ltd.
+

2004

Pittsburgh  
Activated  
Carbon Company

AZ

Additionally, the company 
announces that the City Council 
of Phoenix, Arizona has selected 
Calgon Carbon to negotiate a 
contract to provide reactivation 
services for a ten-year period, and 
also includes the construction 
of a reactivation facility in 
Maricopa County, Arizona.
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CALGON CARBON: 75 YEARS
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Forward-Looking Information Safe Harbor
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains historical infor-

mation and forward-looking statements. Forward-looking 

statements typically contain words such as “expect,” “believe,” 

“estimate,” “anticipate,” or similar words indicating that future 

outcomes are uncertain. Statements looking forward in time, 

including statements regarding future growth and profitability, 

price increases, cost savings, broader product lines, enhanced 

competitive posture and acquisitions, are included in this 

Annual Report on form 10-K pursuant to the “safe harbor” 

provision of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 

1995. These forward-looking statements involve known and 

unknown risks and uncertainties that may cause Calgon Carbon 

Corporation’s (the Company’s) actual results in future periods to 

be materially different from any future performance suggested 

herein. Further, the Company operates in an industry sector 

where securities values may be volatile and may be influenced 

by economic and other factors beyond the Company’s control. 

Factors that could affect future performance of the Company 

include, without limitation: the Company’s ability to success-

fully integrate the November 2, 2016 acquisition of the assets 

and business of the wood-based activated carbon, reactivation, 

and mineral-based filtration media of CECA, a subsidiary of 

Arkema Group (New Business) and achieve the expected results 

of the acquisition, including any expected synergies and the 

expected future accretion to earnings; changes in, or delays in 

the implementation of, regulations that cause a market for our 

products; changes in competitor prices for products similar to 

ours; higher energy and raw material costs; costs of imports and 

related tariffs; unfavorable weather conditions and changes in 

market prices of natural gas relative to prices of coal; changes 

in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates; changes 

in corporate income and cross-border tax policies of the United 

States and other countries; labor relations; availability of capital 

and environmental requirements as they relate to both our 

operations and to those of our customers; borrowing restric-

tions; validity of patents and other intellectual property; and 

pension costs. In the context of the forward-looking information 

provided in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, please refer to the 

discussions of risk factors and other information detailed in, as 

well as the other information contained in this Annual Report. 

Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on 

which such statement is made and the Company does not intend 

to correct or update any forward-looking statements, whether 

as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, 

unless required to do so by the Federal securities laws of the 

United States.

In reviewing any agreements incorporated by reference in 

this Form 10-K, please remember such agreements are included 

to provide information regarding the terms of such agreements 

and are not intended to provide any other factual or disclosure 

information about the Company. The agreements may contain 

representations and warranties by the Company, which should 

not in all instances be treated as categorical statements of 

fact, but rather as a way of allocating the risk to one of the 

parties should those statements prove to be inaccurate. The 

representation and warranties were made only as of the date 

of the relevant agreement or such other date or dates as may 

be specified in such agreement and are subject to more recent 

developments. Accordingly, these representations and warran-

ties alone may not describe the actual state of affairs as of the 

date they were made or at any other time.
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PART I

Item 1. Business: 

The Company
Calgon Carbon Corporation (the Company) is a global leader in 

innovative solutions, high quality products and reliable services 

designed to protect human health and the environment from 

harmful contaminants in water, and air. As a leading manufac-

turer of activated carbon, with broad capabilities in ultraviolet 

light disinfection, the Company provides purification solutions 

for drinking water, wastewater, pollution abatement, and a 

variety of industrial and commercial manufacturing processes.

On November 2, 2016, the Company completed the acquisition 

of the wood-based activated carbon, reactivation and mineral-

based filtration media business of CECA, a subsidiary of Arkema 

Group (New Business). Due to the complementary nature of 

the New Business’ products and market applications to those 

of the Company, and its significant exposure to less regulated, 

more traditional end markets, the addition of the New Business 

to the Company creates a more balanced global platform from 

which the Company can continue to grow by leveraging its 

now expanded capabilities in the global activated carbon and 

adjacent filtration media market areas.

The Company was organized as a Delaware corporation 

in 1967.

Products and Services
The Company offers a diverse range of products, services, 

and equipment specifically developed for the purification, 

separation, and concentration, and filtration of liquids, gases, 

and other media through its reportable business segments: 

Activated Carbon and Service, Equipment, Consumer, and Other. 

In 2016, Other is exclusively comprised of the results of the 

New Business. 

• The Activated Carbon and Service segment manufactures 

and markets granular and powdered activated carbon 

for use in many distinct market applications that remove 

organic compounds from water, air, and other liquids and 

gases. The Service aspect of this segment consists of carbon 

reactivation and the leasing, installation, monitoring and 

maintenance of carbon adsorption equipment.

• The Equipment segment provides solutions to customers’ 

air, water and other liquid purification problems through 

the design, fabrication, installation and sale of equipment 

systems that utilize one or more of the Company’s enabling 

technologies: carbon adsorption, ultraviolet (UV) light (for 

ballast water, drinking water, and wastewater treatment), 

and advanced ion-exchange (IX) technologies.

• The Consumer segment supplies activated carbon cloth for 

use in medical, military, and industrial applications.

• The New Business, reported in Other, manufactures and 

markets granular and powdered wood-based activated 

carbon, coal-based activated carbon reactivation, diatoma-

ceous earth and perlite filtration media for use in various 

distinct market applications. They are used primarily for 

decolorization, purification, decontamination, and filtra-

tion of liquids in various applications including food and 

beverage, industrial, fine chemicals and pharmaceuticals.

For further information, refer to Note 18 to the consolidated 

financial statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Activated Carbon and Service. The sale of activated carbon is 

the principal component of the Activated Carbon and Service 

business segment. The Company is recognized as the leading 

manufacturer of bituminous coal-based granular activated 

carbon. Activated carbon is a porous material that removes 

organic compounds from liquids and gases by a process known 

as “adsorption.” In adsorption, undesirable organic molecules 

contained in a liquid or gas are attracted and bound to the 

surface of the pores of the activated carbon as the liquid or gas 

is passed through.

The primary raw material used in the production of the 

Company’s activated carbons is bituminous coal, which is 

crushed, sized and then processed in rotary kilns followed by 

high temperature furnaces. This heating process is known as 

“activation” and develops the pore structure of the carbon. 

Through adjustments in the activation process, pores of the 

required size and number are developed for a particular puri-

fication application. The Company’s technological expertise in 

adjusting the pore structure in the activation process has been 

one of a number of factors enabling the Company to develop 

many special types of activated carbon available in several 

particle sizes. The Company also markets activated carbons from 

other raw materials, including coconut shell and wood.

The Activated Carbon and Service business segment produces 

and sells a broad range of activated, impregnated or acid 

washed carbons in granular, powdered or pellet form. Granular 

Activated Carbon (GAC) particles are irregular in shape and 

generally used in fixed filter beds for continuous flow purifica-

tion processes. Powdered Activated Carbon (PAC) is carbon that 

has been pulverized into powder and is often used in batch puri-

fication processes, in municipal water treatment applications 
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Foundation International (NSF) under NSF/ANSI Standard 

61: Drinking Water System Components - Health Effects for 

custom reactivated carbon for potable water applications. 

NSF International is an independent, not-for-profit organization 

committed to protecting and improving public health and 

the environment.

European custom reactivation process maintains the segrega-

tion of drinking water provider’s activated carbon and ensures 

returned product fulfills the requirements of European Standard 

EN12015 as well as specific additional requirements as found in 

the United Kingdom Drinking Water Inspectorate (DWI) approval 

list of products and in the KIWA-ATA certification. Custom 

reactivation for European municipal drinking water treatment 

plants is performed in reactivation facilities in Belgium, the 

United Kingdom, and Italy. The site in Feluy, Belgium, which is 

accredited ISO9001 and ISO14001 for Quality and Environmental 

management systems, is the only carbon reactivation facility 

in the world with ISO22000 accreditation for Food Safety 

Management System (FSMS).

Transportation services are offered via bulk activated 

carbon deliveries and spent carbon returns through the 

Company’s private fleet of trailers, capable of transporting 

both hazardous and non-hazardous material. The Company will 

arrange transportation for packaged and smaller volumes of 

activated carbon in appropriate containers and small returnable 

equipment through a network of commercial and less-than-

truckload carriers.

Sales for the Activated Carbon and Service segment were 

$454.6 million, $486.5 million, and $498.2 million for the years 

ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively.

Equipment. Along with providing activated carbon products, 

the Company has developed a portfolio of standardized, 

pre-engineered, activated carbon adsorption systems—for both 

liquid and vapor applications—which can be quickly delivered 

and easily installed at treatment sites. Liquid phase equipment 

systems are used for potable water treatment, process 

purification, wastewater treatment, groundwater remediation, 

and de-chlorination. Vapor phase equipment systems are used 

to control volatile organic compound (VOC) emissions, off gases 

from air strippers, and landfill gas production.

Through its UV Technologies LLC subsidiary, the Company 

also manufactures and sells a broad line of UV (ultraviolet) light 

disinfection equipment. Following the Company’s introduction 

of an advanced UV oxidation process to remediate contaminated 

groundwater, in 1998, its scientists invented a UV disinfection 

process used to inactivate Cryptosporidium, Giardia and other 

similar pathogens in surface water, rendering them harmless 

to humans. In combination with hydrogen peroxide, UV light is 

and for flue gas emissions control. Pelletized activated carbons 

are extruded particles, cylindrical in shape, and are typically 

used for gas phase applications due to the low pressure drop, 

high mechanical strength, and low dust content of the product.

Another important component of the Activated Carbon 

and Service business segment is the optional services that the 

Company makes available to purchasers of its products and 

systems. It offers a variety of treatment services for customers 

including carbon supply, equipment leasing, installation and 

demobilization, transportation, and spent carbon reactivation. 

Other services include feasibility testing, process design, perfor-

mance monitoring, and major maintenance of Company-owned 

adsorption equipment.

Spent carbon reactivation and re-supply is a key focus of the 

Company’s service business. In the reactivation process, the 

spent GAC is subjected to high temperature remanufacturing 

conditions that destroy the adsorbed organics and ensure that 

the activated carbon is returned to usable quality. The Company 

is permitted to handle and reactivate spent carbons containing 

hazardous and non-hazardous organic compounds.

Granular carbon reactivation is conducted at numerous loca-

tions throughout the world. It is valuable to a customer for both 

environmental and economic reasons, allowing them to reuse 

carbon cost-effectively without purchasing more expensive new 

carbon, and, at the same time, protecting natural resources. The 

Company provides reactivation services in packages ranging 

from a fifty-five gallon drum to truckload quantities.

The Company’s custom reactivation process for United States 

(U.S.) municipal drinking water treatment plants is specially 

tailored to meet the unique demands of the drinking water 

industry. Activated carbon reactivation for use in drinking water 

treatment facilities in the U.S. must adhere to requirements of 

the American Water Works Association (AWWA) standard B605. 

Perhaps the most important requirement of this standard is that 

the reactivator must return to the municipality/water provider 

its own activated carbon that has been reactivated. Unlike indus-

trial activated carbon reactivation practiced by a number of 

carbon companies, where carbons from different customers can 

be co-mingled and reactivated as a pooled material, drinking 

water carbons are carefully segregated. This means that a 

drinking water provider’s activated carbon is kept separate not 

only from industrial customers’ carbons, but from the activated 

carbon of other providers’ activated carbon as well, to avoid 

any potential cross-contamination. The Company maintains 

the integrity of each drinking water provider’s carbon, and its 

potable reactivation facilities and procedures strictly adhere to 

AWWA B605. The Company’s Blue Lake, California, Columbus, 

Ohio, North Tonawanda, New York, and Gila Bend, Arizona 

plants have received certification from the National Sanitation 
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The Company assembles its equipment using parts that 

are both manufactured internally as well as purchased from 

other suppliers. During periods of heightened demand, 

manufacturing and assembly may be outsourced to other 

qualified manufacturers. 

Sales for the Equipment segment were $38.9 million, $39.3 

million, and $45.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 

2015, and 2014, respectively.

Consumer. The primary product offered in the Consumer 

segment is carbon cloth. Carbon cloth, which is activated carbon 

in cloth form, is manufactured in the United Kingdom (UK) 

and sold to the medical, military, and specialty markets. First 

developed in the 1970’s, activated carbon cloth was originally 

used in military clothing and masks to protect wearers against 

nuclear, biological and chemical agents. Today, activated carbon 

cloth can be used in numerous additional applications, including 

sensor protection, filters for ostomy bags, wound dressings, 

conservation of artifacts, and respiratory masks.

Sales for the Consumer segment were $8.7 million, $9.2 

million, and $11.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 

2015, and 2014, respectively.

Other. As mentioned previously, the Company’s New Business 

is reported in Other. In summary, the New Business is a leading 

European manufacturer of wood-based activated carbon, coal-

based activated carbon reactivation, and diatomaceous earth 

and perlite filtration media, and a leading distributor of such 

products and services primarily throughout the European 

region and into Asia. With four manufacturing facilities located 

in France and two in Italy, the 2016 sales of the New Business 

were $12.1 million from its date of acquisition on November 2, 

2016 through December 31, 2016.

The New Business’ wood-based activated carbon manufac-

turing facility is located in Parentis en Born, France, which 

is ideally situated in the heart of a forest in Europe. It is the 

only European activated carbon facility to have both steam 

and chemical activation process capabilities on the same site. 

The New Business’ manufacturing processes impart first-rate 

physio-chemical properties to the final activated carbon 

products including high porosity, large adsorption capacity, 

permeability, and – when combined with a washing process – a 

high level of purity. Its products are sold primarily in Europe to 

food, beverage, industrial, fine chemicals and pharmaceutical 

customers. It also sells product into Asia, primarily India, prin-

cipally for pharmaceutical end market usage. The Company’s 

products are well known in the regional market places as 

Acticarbone® and Anticromos®.

effective in destroying many contaminants common in ground-

water remediation applications. The Company participates in the 

marketplace for innovative UV technologies with its Sentinel® 

line designed to protect municipal drinking water supplies from 

pathogens, the C3 Series™ open-channel wastewater disinfection 

product line for municipal wastewater disinfection, and Rayox® 

UV advanced oxidation equipment for treatment of contami-

nants in groundwater, process water, and industrial wastewater. 

UV oxidation equipment can also be combined with activated 

carbon to provide effective solutions for taste and odor removal 

in municipal drinking water and for water reuse.

Under the trade name Hyde Marine, which was acquired in 

2010, the Company also manufactures and sells UV ballast water 

management systems (BWMS) that combine filtration and UV 

disinfection to treat and disinfect the ballast water taken in by 

a ship in one location, and discharged in another, to prevent 

the spread of non-indigenous aquatic organisms. Invasion of 

non-native species via ballast water is considered to be one of 

the greatest threats to the world’s waterways and marine envi-

ronment. The Company competes in this market with its Hyde 

GUARDIAN® BWMS – an easy-to-use, cost-effective, and chem-

ical-free ballast water management solution. The International 

Maritime Organization (IMO) type approved system meets the 

needs of ship owners committed to operating their vessels in a 

responsible, sustainable, and economic way through its proven 

reliability, flexible and compact design, and low operating costs. 

In 2017, the Company is planning to complete the testing of its 

BWMS in order to apply to become type approved by the U.S. 

Coast Guard (USCG) for treating ballast water discharged in 

U.S. waterways.

The Company also manufactures and sells fixed bed and 

continuous ion exchange equipment. The proprietary contin-

uous ISEP® (Ionic Separator) and CSEP® (Chromatographic 

Separator) units are used for the purification, separation and 

recovery of many products in the food and beverage, pharma-

ceutical, mining, chemical, and biotechnology industries. The 

ISEP® and CSEP® systems are currently used in installations 

worldwide for a variety of applications in industrial settings, 

as well as in selected environmental applications including 

perchlorate and nitrate removal from drinking water. The core 

technology of these systems is the proprietary rotary distribu-

tion valve. This valve technology is offered in combination with 

a turntable for movement of media vessels, or with static media 

vessels where vessel-movement is simulated by recent advances 

in valve technology. 
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The New Business’ coal-based granular activated carbon 

reactivation capability is located in northern Italy, which 

is complementary to the location of the Company’s other 

European reactivation facilities – which are located in the UK 

and Belgium. Its capabilities include both food grade and indus-

trial grade reactivation kilns.

The remainder of the New Business is related to the manu-

facture of diatomaceous earth (DE) and perlite filtration media 

products. These products, which are primarily used as filter aids 

in beverage, food, and industrial applications, are marketed 

and distributed across the European region in relatively close 

proximity to their manufacturing locations.

For the production of DE products, the New Business is 

vertically integrated from the raw material source to the final 

product, as it owns two mineral deposit quarry sources which 

provide raw materials for its DE manufacturing processes. DE is 

manufactured from diatomite, which is a lightweight and porous 

rock formed over many years by the successive accumulation 

and fossilization of the skeletal remains of single-cell algae – or 

diatoms – that lived in lakes, and were able to fix soluble silica 

on their shells. These owned quarries each have 20 or more years 

of raw material reserves available. The Company manufactures 

DE through a multi-step process that includes crushing, milling, 

calcination, and packaging. The New Business’ DE products are 

sold throughout the European region under the broadly recog-

nized Clarcel® brand name. 

The New Business’ perlite products, widely known in Europe 

as Randalite® and Randafil™, are manufactured from perlite 

oar, which is a silica rock of volcanic origin that contains fine 

water droplets. Through the New Business’ manufacturing 

process it is expanded at high temperature then crushed and 

grated into final product form. The Company obtains its raw 

material for perlite manufacturing from mines located in the 

Mediterranean region.

Markets
The Company participates in six primary markets: Potable 

Water, Industrial Process, Environmental Water, Environmental 

Air, Food and Beverage, and Specialty markets. Potable Water 

applications include municipal drinking water treatment as 

well as point of entry and point of use devices. Applications 

in the Industrial Process Market include catalysis, product 

recovery and purification of chemicals, specialty chemicals 

and pharmaceuticals, as well as process water treatment. The 

major applications for the two Environmental markets include 

wastewater treatment, groundwater remediation, ballast water 

treatment, VOC removal from vapors, and mercury control in 

flue gas streams. Food and Beverage applications include wine, 

bottling, brewing, amino acids, and sweetener purification. 

Medical, personal protection (military and industrial), automo-

tive, consumer, and precious metals applications comprise the 

Specialty Market.

Potable Water Market. The Company sells activated carbons, 

equipment, custom reactivation services, ion exchange 

technology, and UV technologies to municipalities for the 

treatment of potable water. The activated carbon adsorption 

technology is used to remove both regulated and non-regulated 

contaminants of concern, including disinfection by-products 

precursors, perfluorinated compounds, pesticides, carcinogenic 

volatile organic compounds, algal toxins, other dissolved organic 

materials, and taste and odor compounds to meet regulated 

limits or to make the water quality acceptable to the public. 

The Company also sells to original equipment manufacturers 

(OEMs) of home water purification systems. Granular and 

powdered activated carbon products are sold in this market 

and in many cases the granular activated carbon functions 

both as the primary filtration media as well as an adsorption 

media to remove contaminants from the water. Ion exchange 

resins are sold for use in both fixed beds and continuous 

counter-current operations to meet strict regulatory guidelines 

for perchlorate in water. UV advanced oxidation systems are 

sold for the destruction of waterborne contaminants, and UV 

disinfection systems are sold for the inactivation of pathogens 

in surface water.

Industrial Process Market. In industrial processing, the 

Company’s activated carbon and DE filtration media products 

are used either for purification, separation or concentration 

of customers’ products in the manufacturing process. The 

Company sells a wide range of activated carbons to the chemical, 

petroleum refining, and process industries for the purification 

of organic and inorganic chemicals, amines and vitamins. 

Further, activated carbon is used in treatment of natural 

gas, biogas and other high purity gases to remove unwanted 

contamination. The liquefied natural gas industry uses activated 

carbons to remove mercury compounds that would otherwise 

corrode process equipment. Activated carbons are also sold for 

gasoline vapor recovery equipment. The Company has a range of 

high purity activated carbons that are ideally suited as catalyst 

carriers and for use in the fine chemicals and pharmaceutical 

industries. The Company’s advanced ion exchange technology 

is used for a variety of industrial processes including separation 

and recovery in hydrometallurgy applications, decolorization 

in pulp and paper, the production of organic and inorganic 

chemicals, and the purification of brine.
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Environmental Water and Air Markets. The Company offers 

its products and services to assist various industries in meeting 

the stringent environmental requirements imposed by various 

government entities. Products used for wastewater and ballast 

water treatment, the cleanup of contaminated groundwater, 

surface impoundments, and accidental spills comprise a 

significant need in this market. The Company provides products 

and services employing both activated carbon adsorption and 

UV technologies for emergency and temporary cleanup services 

as well as for permanent installations.

The Company’s reactivation service is an especially important 

element if the customer has contaminants that are hazardous 

organic chemicals. Reactivation of spent carbon protects the 

environment and eliminates the customers’ expense, potential 

liability, and difficulty in securing disposal options (such as 

landfills) for hazardous organic chemicals.

Activated carbon is also used in the chemical, pharmaceu-

tical, and refining industries for purification of air discharge 

to remove contaminants such as benzene, toluene, and other 

volatile organics. In addition, reduction of mercury emissions 

from coal-fired power plants in the U.S. and Canada is a signifi-

cant market, and is served by the Company with its broad line of 

FLUEPAC® powdered activated carbons.

The Company’s Rayox® UV System is an industry staple 

for the destruction of groundwater pollutants, as well as 

for the removal of alcohol, phenol and acetone in process 

water and total organic compound (TOC) reduction in 

wastewater treatment.

The Company’s Hyde GUARDIAN® BWMS is a fully automated 

system that can be integrated into a ship’s ballast control 

system. The compact design can be skid mounted for new 

construction or can be made modular for easy installation in 

crowded machinery spaces on existing vessels. It is capable of 

providing complete ballast water management solutions for a 

variety of vessels including cruise ships, cargo and container 

ships, offshore supply vessels, and military vessels.

Food and Beverage Market. In this market, sweetener 

manufacturers are principal purchasers of the Company’s 

activated carbon products, and also use the Company’s DE and 

perlite filtration media products. The Company’s wood-based 

and coal-based activated carbon products are used in the 

purification of dextrose and high fructose corn syrup. Activated 

carbons are also sold for use in the purification of cane sugar. 

The Company’s DE and perlite filtration media and high 

performing activated carbons are used in applications such as 

the wine, beer, and flavoring markets. Other food and beverage 

processing applications include de-colorization and purification 

of many different foods and beverages and for purifying 

water, liquids and gases prior to usage in brewing and bottling. 

Continuous ion-exchange systems are also used in this market 

for the production of lysine and vitamin E as well as purification 

of dextrose, high fructose corn syrup and sugar cane.

Specialty Market. The Company is a major supplier of specialty 

activated carbons to manufacturers of gas masks for the U.S. 

and European military as well as protective respirators and 

collective filters for first responders and private industry. The 

markets for collective filters for U.S. and European military 

equipment, indoor air quality, and air containment in 

incineration and nuclear applications are also serviced.

Additional industries using activated carbons include 

precious metals producers to recover gold and silver from low-

grade ore. The Company’s activated carbon cloth product is used 

in medical and other specialty applications.

Sales and Marketing
In the U.S., the Company operates primarily through a direct 

sales force. In some markets and regions, the Company also sells 

through agents and distributors. In Latin America and Canada, 

the Company maintains a sales office in Sao Paulo, Brazil, and 

sells through agent/distributor relationships.

In the Asia Pacific Region, the Company maintains sales 

offices in Suzhou, Jiangsu Province, China; Hong Kong; Osaka, 

Japan; Tokyo, Japan; Singapore; and Taipei, Taiwan, and uses 

direct sales as well as agents and distributors.

In Europe, the Company maintains sales offices in Feluy, 

Belgium; Kolding, Denmark; Paris, France; Beverungen, 

Germany; Milan, Italy; Ashton-in-Makerfield, United Kingdom; 

Houghton-le-Spring, United Kingdom; and Gothenburg, Sweden, 

and operates through a direct sales force. The Company also 

has a network of agents and distributors that conduct sales in 

certain countries in Europe, the Middle East, and Africa.

Many offices can play a role in sales of products or services 

from each of the Company’s segments. Geographic sales infor-

mation can be found in Note 18 to the consolidated financial 

statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report. Also refer to Risk 

Factors in Item 1A.

Over the past three years, no single customer accounted for 

more than 10% of the total sales of the Company in any year.

Backlog
The Company had a sales backlog of $10.1 million and $15.4 

million as of January 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, in the 

Equipment segment. The $5.3 million decrease was a result 

of regulatory delays for ballast water treatment systems and 

several large contracts that were completed during 2016 that 

more than offset new contracts. The Company expects to carry 

approximately $1.3 million of the 2017 backlog into 2018 and $0.5 

million into 2019.
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Competition
With respect to the production and sale of activated carbon 

related products, the Company has a major global presence, 

and has several competitors in the worldwide market. Norit, a 

subsidiary of Cabot Corporation, Ingevity Corporation, formerly 

the Specialty Chemicals Division of WestRock Company, a U.S. 

company, Jacobi Carbons, a Swedish company, and Evoqua Water 

Technologies (formerly Siemens Water Technologies), a U.S. 

company, are the primary competitors. Chinese producers of 

coal-based activated carbon and certain East Asian producers of 

coconut-based activated carbon participate in the market on a 

worldwide basis and sell principally through numerous resellers. 

Competition in activated carbons, carbon equipment and 

services is based on quality, performance, and/or price. Other 

sources of competition for the Company’s activated carbon 

services and systems are alternative technologies for purifica-

tion, filtration, and extraction processes that do not employ 

activated carbons.

A number of other smaller competitors engage in the produc-

tion and sale of activated carbons and in local markets, but do 

not compete with the Company on a global basis. These compa-

nies compete with the Company in the sale of specific types of 

activated carbons, but do not generally compete with a broad 

range of products in the worldwide activated carbon business. 

For example, ADA Carbon Solutions, owned by Energy Capital 

Partners, competes with the Company in the America’s market 

for the removal of mercury from coal-fired power plant flue gas.

With respect to the Company’s DE and perlite filtration 

media products, due to their low weight, low density physical 

properties, the Company primarily distributes these products 

throughout the European region. Competitors in the region 

include EP Minerals, Imerys and Dicalite. Similar to activated 

carbon, competition for these products is primarily based on 

quality, performance and/or price.

The Company competes with several small regional 

companies for the sale of its reactivation services and carbon 

equipment in the U.S., Europe, Japan, and China.

The Company’s UV technologies product line has primary 

competition from Trojan Technologies, Inc., a Canadian 

company owned by Danaher Corporation, a U.S. company, and 

Xylem Inc, headquartered in White Plains, N.Y., a U.S. company.

Competition for The Company’s UV technologies Hyde Marine 

ballast water treatment systems utilizing UV and filtration 

includes Panasia of Busan, Korea, Alfa Laval of Sweden and 

Optimarin of Norway. As of December 31, 2016, more than 60 

treatment systems have been granted IMO Type Approval, while 

three systems have been granted USCG Type Approval.

Raw Materials
The principal raw material purchased by the Company for its 

Activated Carbon and Service segment is bituminous coal from 

mines primarily in the U.S. purchased under long term and 

annual supply contracts, as well as spot purchases.

The Company purchases natural gas from various suppliers 

for use in its Activated Carbon and Service segment production 

facilities. In both the U.S. and Europe, natural gas is purchased 

pursuant to various annual and multi-year contracts, as well as 

spot purchases.

The Company buys various metals, acids and other additives 

that are used within the activated carbon production process to 

enhance the performance of certain products. These materials 

are bought under multi-year and annual contracts, as well as on 

a spot basis.

The purchase of key equipment components and fabrications 

are coordinated through agreements with various suppliers for 

UV, ISEP® and the carbon equipment markets.

With the recent addition of the New Business, the Company 

also purchases wood from a local forest in Europe. The Company 

owns two mineral deposit quarry sources, which provide raw 

materials for its DE manufacturing processes. These quarries 

each have 20 or more years of raw material reserves available. 

The Company obtains its crude perlite oar raw material from 

mines located in the Mediterranean region.

The Company does not presently anticipate any significant 

problems in obtaining adequate supplies of its raw materials or 

equipment components.

Research and Development
The Company’s primary research and development (R&D) 

activities are conducted at an innovation center in Pittsburgh, 

Pennsylvania with an additional facility in Japan. The 

Pittsburgh facility is used for the evaluation of experimental 

activated carbon and equipment and application development. 

Experimental systems are also designed and evaluated at 

this location.

The principal goals of the R&D’s research program are to 

improve the Company’s position as a technological leader 

in solving customers’ problems with its products, services 

and equipment; develop new products and services; and 

provide technical support to customers and operations of 

the Company. Research programs include new and improved 

methods for manufacturing and utilizing new and enhanced 

activated carbons.

The Company performs R&D to continuously advance the 

application of UV technologies to pathogens as well as new 

and emerging contaminants. Additionally, R&D is devoted 
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to continual product advancement for reduction of life cycle 

cost to the customer and to ensure compliance with U.S. and 

international regulations. This includes R&D work on Advanced 

Oxidation for treatment of taste and odor compounds (MIB and 

Geosmin), nitrosamines, pesticide/herbicides and pharmaceu-

tical/personal care products.

For ballast water treatment, Hyde Marine has active R&D for 

continued ballast treatment efficacy testing in multiple marine 

environments and new product development to extend the 

range, usability and end application.

Research and development expenses were $5.4 million, $6.4 

million, and $6.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 

2015, and 2014, respectively.

Patents and Trade Secrets
The Company possesses a substantial body of technical knowl-

edge and trade secrets and owns 49 U.S. patent applications and/

or patents as well as 156 patent applications and/or patents in 

other countries. The issued patents expire in various years from 

2017 through 2033.

The technology embodied in these patents, trade secrets, 

and technical knowledge applies to all phases of the Company’s 

business including production processes, product formulations, 

and application engineering. The Company considers this body 

of technology important to the conduct of its business.

Regulatory Matters
The Company is subject to various environmental health and 

safety laws and regulations of a nature considered normal to 

its business. It is the Company’s policy to accrue for amounts 

related to these matters when it is probable that a liability has 

been incurred and the loss amount is reasonably estimable. 

Refer to Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 

8 of this Annual Report, which is incorporated herein by refer-

ence, for further details.

Employee Relations
As of December 31, 2016, the Company employed 1,334 persons 

on a full-time basis, 723 of whom were salaried and non-union 

hourly production, office, supervisory and sales personnel. The 

United Steelworkers represent 228 hourly personnel in the U.S. 

The current contracts with the United Steelworkers expire on 

July 31, 2018, at the Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania facility, February 

17, 2019 at the Columbus, Ohio facility and June 9, 2017 at 

the Company’s Catlettsburg, Kentucky facility. The 66 hourly 

personnel at the Company’s Belgian facility are represented by 

two national labor organizations with contracts that expired on 

December 31, 2016 and are in the process of being renegotiated. 

The 63 hourly personnel at the Company’s facilities in Italy 

are represented by two national labor organizations with one 

contract that expired on December 31, 2016 and is in the process 

of being renegotiated and two that will expire on December 31, 

2017. The 254 hourly personnel at the Company’s facilities in 

France are represented by multiple national labor organizations 

with contracts that will expire on February 2, 2018.

Copies of Reports
The periodic and current reports of the Company filed with the 

SEC pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934 are available free of charge, as soon as reasonably practi-

cable after the same are filed with or furnished to the SEC, at the 

Company’s website at www.calgoncarbon.com. All other filings 

with the SEC are available on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.

Copies of Corporate Governance Documents
The following Company corporate governance documents are 

available free of charge at the Company’s website at www.calgon-

carbon.com and such information is available in print to any 

stockholder who requests it by contacting the Secretary of the 

Company at 3000 GSK Drive, Moon Township, PA 15108.

• Corporate Governance Guidelines

• Audit Committee Charter

• Compensation Committee Charter

• Governance Committee Charter

• Investment Committee Charter

• Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

• Code of Ethical Business Conduct Supplement for Chief 

Executive and Senior Financial Officers

• Related Party Transaction Policy
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Item 1A. Risk Factors:

Risks relating to our business

Increases in U.S. and European imports of Chinese or other 

foreign manufactured activated carbon could have an 

adverse effect on our financial results.

We face pressure and competition in our U.S. and European 

markets from brokers of low cost imported activated carbon 

products, primarily from China. We believe we offer the market 

technically superior products and related customer support. 

However, in some applications, low cost imports have become 

accepted as viable alternatives to our products because they 

have been frequently sold at less than fair value in the market. 

If the markets in which we compete experience an increase in 

these imported low cost carbons, especially if sold at less than 

fair value, we could see declines in net sales. In addition, the 

sales of these low cost activated carbons may make it more 

difficult for us to pass through raw material price increases to 

our customers.

In response to a petition from the U.S. activated carbon 

industry filed in March 2006, the U.S. Department of Commerce 

(Commerce Department) announced the imposition of anti-

dumping duties starting in October 2006. The Commerce 

Department announcement was based on extensive economic 

analysis of the operations and pricing practices of the Chinese 

producers and exporters. The Commerce Department announce-

ment required U.S. Customs and Border Protection to require 

importers of steam activated carbon from China to post a 

provisional bond or cash deposit in the amount of the duties. 

The anti-dumping duties are intended to offset the amount by 

which the steam activated carbon from China is sold at less than 

fair value in the U.S.

Annual reviews of duties begin to occur in April of the year 

following the twelve month period then completed. The signifi-

cant anti-dumping duties originally imposed by the Commerce 

Department, and the affirmative decision by the International 

Trade Commission (ITC), has had an adverse impact on the cost 

of Chinese manufactured activated carbon imported into the 

U.S. However, the anti-dumping duties could be further reduced 

or eliminated in the future which could adversely affect demand 

or pricing of our product.

We have operations in multiple foreign countries and, as 

a result, are subject to foreign exchange translation risk, 

which could have an adverse effect on our financial results.

We conduct significant business operations in several foreign 

countries. Of our 2016 net sales, approximately 47% were sales to 

customers outside of the U.S., and 2016 net sales denominated 

in non-U.S. dollars represented approximately 32% of our 

overall net sales. With the acquisition of the New Business, these 

percentages are expected to increase. We conduct business in the 

local currencies of each of our foreign subsidiaries or affiliates. 

Those local currencies are then translated into U.S. dollars at 

the applicable exchange rates for inclusion in our consolidated 

financial statements. The exchange rates between some of these 

currencies and the U.S. dollar in recent years have fluctuated 

significantly and may continue to do so in the future. Changes 

in exchange rates, particularly the strengthening of the U.S. 

dollar, could significantly reduce our sales and profitability from 

foreign subsidiaries or affiliates from one period to the next as 

local currency amounts are translated into fewer U.S. dollars.

Our European and Japanese activated carbon businesses are 

sourced from both the U.S. and China, which subjects these 

businesses to foreign exchange transaction risk.

Our virgin activated carbon is produced primarily in the 

U.S. We also source significant quantities of activated carbon in 

China. Produced and sourced activated carbons are provisioned 

to all of our global operations. Purchases of these carbons are 

typically denominated in U.S. dollars yet are ultimately sold in 

other currencies thereby creating foreign currency exchange 

transaction risk. We generally execute foreign currency deriva-

tive contracts of not more than eighteen months in duration 

to cover a portion of our known or projected foreign currency 

exposure. However, those contracts do not protect us from 

longer-term trends of a strengthening U.S. dollar, which could 

significantly increase our cost of activated carbon delivered to 

our European and Japanese markets, and we may not be able to 

offset these costs by increasing our prices.
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partners’ facilities for more than a temporary period as a result 

of a hurricane, typhoon, earthquake, flood or other natural 

disaster, or as a result of fire, explosions, war, terrorist activities, 

political conflict or other hostilities, or as a result of unforeseen 

mechanical problems, could significantly affect our ability to 

meet our demand requirements, thereby resulting in lost sales 

and profitability in the short-term or eventual loss of customers 

in the long term. In addition, a prolonged planned shutdown of 

any of our production facilities due to a change in the business 

conditions could result in impairment charges that could have 

an adverse impact on our financial results.

Delays in enactment of new state or federal regulations 

could restrict our ability to reach our strategic growth 

targets and lower our return on invested capital.

Our strategic growth initiatives are reliant upon more restric-

tive environmental regulations being enacted for the purpose 

of making water and air cleaner and safer. Examples include 

regulation of mercury emissions, drinking water disinfection 

by-products, and ship ballast water. If stricter regulations are 

delayed or are not enacted or enacted but subsequently repealed 

or amended to be less strict, or enacted with prolonged phase-in 

periods, our sales growth targets could be adversely affected and 

our return on invested capital could be reduced.

For example, our Hyde GUARDIAN® ballast water treatment 

system received type approval from the IMO in April 2009. 

However, the IMO Ballast Water Management Convention, which 

mandates the use of IMO approved ballast water treatment 

systems for ships in international traffic, was not ratified until 

September 2016 and is not scheduled to go into force until 

September 2017. Similarly, the USCG regulates ballast water in 

U.S. waters, and will not follow the IMO convention. We, along 

with several other ballast water treatment system manufacturers 

have received Alternate Management System designation from 

the USCG, but this is a temporary designation while full USCG 

type approval is pursued. In December 2015, the USCG decided 

it would not allow us, and several other manufacturers of 

ultraviolet light-based ballast water treatment systems, to use 

the Most Probable Number (MPN) test method for purposes of 

testing the Company’s system to apply for type approval under 

USCG regulations. Consequently, we have redesigned our Hyde 

GUARDIAN® system under USCG testing protocols and are 

embarking on testing to support our application for USCG Type 

Approval in the fourth quarter of 2017. The first USCG type 

approvals were granted to competitors in December 2016 and 

two of these approvals were for UV light-based systems. While we 

Our financial results could be adversely affected by an 

interruption of supply or an increase in the price of raw 

materials we use, such as coal and wood.

We use bituminous coal as the main raw material in our 

activated carbon production process. Based upon our current 

projected usage and price, we estimate that our 2017 coal costs 

in the U.S. will be approximately $26.6 million excluding the 

cost of transportation to our carbon manufacturing facilities. 

We have various annual and multi-year contracts in place for 

the supply of our coal that expire at various intervals in 2017 

and 2018 and cover approximately 88% of our expected 2017 

tonnage. Interruptions in coal supply caused by mine accidents, 

labor disputes, transportation delays, breach of supplier 

contractual obligations, floods or other events for other than a 

temporary period could have an adverse effect on our ability to 

meet customer demand. We use very specific high quality metal-

lurgical coals for many of our products. Our inability to obtain 

these high-quality coals at competitive prices in a timely manner 

due to changing market conditions with limited high-quality 

suppliers could also have an adverse affect on our financial 

results. In addition, increases in the prices we pay for coal under 

our supply contracts could adversely affect our financial results 

by significantly increasing production costs. Based upon the 

current estimated usage and price of coal in 2017, a hypothetical 

10% increase in the price of coal, excluding transportation costs, 

that is not covered by our supply contracts, would result in $0.5 

million of additional pre-tax expense to us. We may not be able 

to pass through raw material price increases to our customers.

Additionally, as a result of our acquisition of the New Business 

in late 2016, wood has become an important raw material for 

us. We have various contracts in place to secure nearly half of 

our wood requirement through 2017. Since we require a certain 

quality of wood, our inability to secure this product could 

affect our ability to meet customer demand for our products. 

Our inability to obtain this quality at a reasonable price in a 

timely manner could affect our operations or financial position. 

We may not be able to pass through these raw material price 

increases to our customers.

A planned or unplanned shutdown at one of our 

production facilities could have an adverse effect on our 

financial results.

We operate multiple facilities and source product from 

strategic partners who operate facilities which are close to 

water or in areas susceptible to floods, hurricanes, and earth-

quakes. An unplanned shutdown at any of our or our strategic 
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remain confident in our product’s capabilities, there can be no 

assurance that we will receive USCG type approval or that addi-

tional approval of competing systems will not have an adverse 

effect on the Company’s ability to compete in the market for 

ballast water treatment systems for vessels discharging ballast 

water in U.S. waterways and ports.

Our required capital expenditures may exceed estimates.

Our capital expenditures were $31.9 million in 2016 and are 

forecasted to be approximately $70 million to $80 million in 

2017, including capital expenditures related to the New Business. 

Future capital expenditures may be significantly higher and 

may vary substantially if we are required to undertake certain 

actions to comply with new regulatory requirements or compete 

with new technologies. We may not have the capital to undertake 

the capital investments. If we are unable to do so, we may not be 

able to effectively compete.

Encroachment into our markets by competitive 

technologies could adversely affect our financial results.

Activated carbon is utilized in various applications as a 

cost-effective solution to solve customer problems. If other 

competitive technologies, such as membranes, ozone and UV, 

are advanced to the stage in which such technologies could cost 

effectively compete with activated carbon technologies, we could 

experience a decline in net sales, which could adversely affect 

our financial results.

Our industry is highly competitive. If we are unable to 

compete effectively with competitors having greater 

resources than we do, our financial results could be 

adversely affected.

Our activated carbon and service business faces 

significant competition principally from Cabot Norit, the MWV 

(MeadWestvaco) Specialty Chemicals Division of WestRock 

Company and Evoqua Water Technologies, as well as from 

Chinese and European activated carbon producers and East 

Asian producers of coconut-based activated carbon. Our UV 

technology products face significant competition principally 

from Trojan Technologies, Inc., which is owned by Danaher 

Corporation, and Xylem. Our competitors include major 

manufacturers and diversified companies, a number of which 

have revenues and capital resources exceeding ours, which they 

may use to develop more advanced or more cost-effective tech-

nologies, increase market share or leverage their distribution 

networks. We could experience reduced net sales as a result of 

having fewer resources than these competitors.

Our international operations are subject to political 

and economic risks for conducting business in 

corrupt environments.

We conduct business in developing countries, and we are 

focusing on increasing our sales in regions such as South 

America, Southeast Asia, India, China and the Middle East, 

which are less developed, have less stability in legal systems 

and financial markets, and are generally recognized as poten-

tially more corrupt business environments than the U.S. and 

therefore, present greater political, economic and operational 

risks. We emphasize compliance with the law and have policies 

in place, procedures and certain ongoing training of employees 

with regard to business ethics and key legal requirements such 

as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA), the United 

Kingdom Bribery Act (UKBA) and all applicable export control 

laws and regulations of the U.S. and other countries (the 

Export Regulations); however, there can be no assurances that 

our employees will adhere to our code of business conduct, 

other Company policies, the FCPA, the UKBA or the Export 

Regulations. If we fail to enforce our policies and procedures 

properly or maintain internal accounting practices to accurately 

record our international transactions or if we violate any of 

these laws or regulations, we may be subject to severe criminal 

or civil sanctions and penalties, including fines, debarment from 

export privileges and loss of authorizations needed to conduct 

aspects of our international business. We could incur significant 

costs for investigation, litigation, fees, settlements and judg-

ments which, in turn, could negatively affect our business, 

financial condition and results of operations.

Significant stockholders or potential stockholders may 

attempt to effect changes at the Company or acquire 

control over the Company, which could adversely affect the 

Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

Stockholders of the Company may from time to time 

engage in proxy solicitations, advance stockholder proposals 

or otherwise attempt to effect changes or acquire control over 

the Company. Campaigns by stockholders to effect changes 

at publicly traded companies are sometimes led by investors 

seeking to increase short-term stockholder value through 

actions such as financial restructuring, increased debt, special 

dividends, stock repurchases or sales of assets or the entire 

company. Responding to proxy contests and other actions 

by activist stockholders can be costly and time-consuming, 

disrupting the Company’s operations and diverting the 

attention of the Company’s Board of Directors and senior 

management from the pursuit of business strategies. As a result, 

stockholder campaigns could adversely affect the Company’s 

results of operations and financial condition.
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Failure to innovate new products or applications 

could adversely affect our ability to meet our strategic 

growth targets.

Part of our strategic growth and profitability plans involve 

the development of new products or new applications for our 

current products in order to replace more mature products or 

markets that have seen increased competition. If we are unable 

to develop new products or applications, our financial results 

could be adversely affected.

Our inability to successfully negotiate new collective 

bargaining agreements upon expiration of the existing 

agreements could have an adverse effect on our 

financial results.

We have collective bargaining agreements in place at six 

production facilities covering approximately 46% of our full-time 

workforce as of December 31, 2016. Those collective bargaining 

agreements expire through 2019. Any work stoppages as a result 

of disagreements with any of the labor unions or our failure to 

renegotiate any of the contracts as they expire could disrupt 

production and significantly increase product costs as a result of 

less efficient operations caused by the resulting need to rely on 

temporary labor.

Our business is subject to a number of global 

economic risks.

Financial markets in the U.S., Europe, and Asia continue to 

experience disruption, including, among other things, volatility 

in security prices, diminished liquidity and credit availability, 

rating downgrades of certain investments and declining valua-

tions of others. Governments have taken actions intending to 

address these market conditions that include restricted credit 

and declines in values of certain assets.

An economic downturn in the businesses or geographic 

areas in which we sell our products could reduce demand for 

our products and result in a decrease in sales volume that could 

have a negative impact on our results of operations. Continued 

volatility and disruption of financial markets in the U.S., Europe 

and Asia could limit our customers’ ability to obtain adequate 

financing or credit to purchase our products or to maintain 

operations, and result in a decrease in sales volumes that could 

have a negative impact on our results of operations.

Our international operations expose us to political and 

economic uncertainties and risks from abroad, which could 

negatively affect our results of operations.

We have manufacturing facilities and sales offices throughout 

the world which are subject to economic conditions and political 

factors within the respective countries which, if changed in 

a manner adverse to us, could negatively affect our results of 

operations and cash flow. Political risk factors include, but are 

not limited to, taxation, nationalization, inflation, currency fluc-

tuations, foreign exchange restrictions, increased regulation and 

quotas, tariffs and other protectionist measures. Approximately 

79% of our sales in 2016 were generated by products sold in the 

U.S., Canada, and Western Europe while the remaining sales 

were generated in other areas of the world, such as Asia, Eastern 

Europe, and Latin America.

Environmental compliance and remediation and potential 

climate change could result in substantially increased 

capital requirements and operating costs.

Our production facilities are subject to environmental laws 

and regulations in the jurisdictions in which they operate or 

maintain properties. Costs may be incurred in complying with 

such laws and regulations. Each of our domestic production 

facilities require permits and licenses issued by local, state 

and federal regulators which regulate air emissions, water 

discharges, and solid waste handling. These permits are 

subject to renewal and, in some circumstances, revocation. 

International environmental requirements vary and could have 

substantially lesser requirements that may give competitors 

a competitive advantage. Additional costs may be incurred if 

environmental remediation measures are required. In addition, 

the discovery of contamination at any of our current or former 

sites or at locations at which we dispose of waste may expose us 

to cleanup obligations and other damages. In addition, there is 

currently vigorous debate over the effect of CO² gas releases and 

the effect on climate change. Many of our activities create CO² 

gases. Should legislation or regulation be enacted, it could have 

a material adverse effect upon our ability to expand our opera-

tions or perhaps continue to operate as we currently do.

Our financial results could be adversely affected by 

shortages in energy supply or increases in energy costs.

The price for and availability of energy resources could be 

volatile as it is affected by political and economic conditions that 

are outside our control. We utilize natural gas as a key compo-

nent in our activated carbon reactivation manufacturing process 

at many of our facilities. If shortages of, or restrictions on the 

delivery of natural gas occur, production at our activated carbon 

reactivation facilities would be reduced, which could result in 

missed deliveries or lost sales. We also have exposure to fluctua-

tions in energy costs as they relate to the transportation and 

distribution of our products. We may not be able to pass through 

natural gas and other fuel price increases to our customers.



C A L G O N C A R B O N C O R P O R AT I O N 25

Our business includes capital equipment sales which could 

have fluctuations due to the cyclical nature of that type 

of business.

Our Equipment segment represented approximately 8% of 

our 2016 net sales. This business generally has a long project 

life cycle from bid solicitation to project completion and often 

requires customers to make large capital commitments well 

in advance of project execution. In addition, this business is 

usually affected by the general health of the overall economy. As 

a result, sales and earnings from the Equipment segment could 

be volatile.

Our products could infringe the intellectual property rights 

of others, which may cause us to pay unexpected litigation 

costs or damages or prevent us from selling our products.

Although it is our intention to avoid infringing or otherwise 

violating the intellectual property rights of others, our products 

may infringe or otherwise violate the intellectual property 

rights of others. We may be subject to legal proceedings and 

claims, including claims of alleged infringement by us of 

the patents and other intellectual property rights of third 

parties. Intellectual property litigation is expensive and time-

consuming, regardless of the merits of any claim.

If we were to discover or be notified that our products 

potentially infringe or otherwise violate the intellectual 

property rights of others, we may need to obtain licenses from 

these parties or substantially re-engineer our products in order 

to avoid infringement. We might not be able to obtain the 

necessary licenses on acceptable terms, or at all, or be able to 

re-engineer our products successfully. Moreover, if we are sued 

for infringement and lose the suit, we could be required to pay 

substantial damages and/or be enjoined from using or selling 

the infringing products. Any of the foregoing could cause us to 

incur significant costs and prevent us from selling our products.

Declines in the operating performance of one of our 

business segments could result in an impairment of the 

segment’s goodwill.

As of December 31, 2016, we had consolidated goodwill of 

approximately $66.3 million, of which $41.0 million is related 

to the acquisition of the New Business reported in Other. The 

remaining $25.3 million of goodwill is primarily from our 

Activated Carbon and Service and Equipment segments. We 

test our goodwill on an annual basis or when an indication of 

possible impairment exists in order to determine whether the 

carrying value of our assets is still supported by the fair value 

of the underlying business. To the extent that it is not, we are 

required to record an impairment charge to reduce the asset to 

fair value. A decline in the operating performance of any of our 

business segments could result in a goodwill impairment charge 

which could have a material effect on our financial results.

Our pension plans are currently underfunded, and we 

could be subject to increases in pension contributions to 

our defined benefit pension plans, thereby restricting our 

cash flow.

We sponsor various pension plans in the U.S. and Europe that 

are underfunded and may require significant cash payments. 

We contributed $0.7 million and $1.3 million to our U.S. pension 

plans and $1.7 million and $1.8 million to our European pension 

plans in 2016 and 2015, respectively. We currently expect to 

contribute in 2017 approximately $2.9 million to our U.S. plans 

and $1.7 million to our European plans to meet minimum 

funding requirements, in accordance with our funding policy. 

The funding status of our pension plans is determined using 

many assumptions, such as inflation, rates of return on invest-

ments, mortality, turnover and interest rates, any of which could 

prove to be different than projected. If the performance of the 

assets in our pension plans does not meet our expectations, or 

if other actuarial assumptions are modified, or not realized, we 

may be required to contribute more to our pension plans than 

we currently expect. For example, an approximate 25-basis point 

decline in the funding target interest rate under Section 430 of 

the Internal Revenue Code, as added by the Pension Protection 

Act of 2006 for minimum funding requirements, would increase 

our minimum required funding policy contributions to our U.S. 

pension plans by approximately $1.0 million to $2.0 million over 

the next three fiscal years. This amount reflects the provisions 

of Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century Act (MAP-21) 

and the Highway and Transportation Funding Act of 2014 

(HAFTA), both of which affect pension plan funding.

Our pension plans are underfunded in the aggregate by 

approximately $38 million as of December 31, 2016 based on 

comparing the projected benefit obligation, calculated using 

actuarial assumptions in accordance with Accounting Standards 

Codification (ASC) 715 “Compensation — Retirement Benefits,” 

to the fair value of plan assets. Our U.S. pension plans, which 

were underfunded by approximately $22 million as of December 

31, 2016, are subject to ERISA. In the event our U.S. pension 

plans are terminated for any reason while the plans are less 

than fully funded, we will incur a liability to the Pension Benefit 

Guaranty Corporation that may be equal to the entire amount 

of the underfunding at the time of the termination. In addition, 

changes in required pension funding rules that were affected 
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by the enactment of the Pension Protection Act of 2006 have 

significantly increased funding requirements, which could have 

an adverse effect on our cash flows. If cash flows from operations 

are insufficient to fund our worldwide pension liability, we may 

be required to reduce or delay capital expenditures, or to seek 

additional capital. Refer to Note 9 to the consolidated financial 

statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

We have identified a material weakness in our internal 

controls over financial reporting that, if not properly 

corrected, could have a material adverse effect on our 

operations and result in material misstatements in our 

financial statements.

As described in the Report of Management in "Item 8. 

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data," we have 

concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was 

ineffective as of December 31, 2016 because a material weakness 

existed in our internal control over financial reporting related 

to the recognition of revenue for a subset of transactions within 

the U.S. potable water market. 

Management has identified actions that the Company intends 

to implement immediately in order to remediate this material 

weakness. However, we have not completed all of the correc-

tive actions that we believe are necessary. As we continue to 

evaluate and work to remediate the material weakness, we may 

implement additional measures. The actions we are taking to 

remediate the material weakness are subject to ongoing senior 

management review, as well as oversight by the Audit Committee 

of our Board of Directors.

If our remedial measures are insufficient to address the 

material weakness, or if additional material weaknesses or signif-

icant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting 

are discovered or occur in the future, our consolidated financial 

statements may contain material misstatements and we could be 

required to restate our financial results, which could adversely 

affect our stock price and result in our inability to maintain 

compliance with applicable stock exchange listing requirements.

Existing and future laws, regulations and other legal 

requirements relating to our business may increase our 

costs of doing business and may expose us to liability.

We are subject to laws, regulations and other legal require-

ments enacted or adopted by federal, state and local authorities, 

as well as foreign authorities relating to various matters, 

including the protection of our workers, our consumers and the 

environment. Complying with these requirements has had, and 

will continue to have an effect on our costs of operations and 

competitive position. In addition, there is the possibility that we 

could incur substantial costs as a result of violations under these 

laws or be subject to governmental orders which cause us to 

alter our operations or expend substantial resources to comply 

with such orders. Any additional laws, regulations and other 

legal requirements enacted or adopted by federal, state and local 

authorities, as well as foreign authorities or new interpretations 

of existing legal requirements by regulatory bodies could further 

affect our costs of operations and competitive position. For 

example, as a result of our acquisition of the New Business in 

late 2016, we may be subject to additional regulations currently 

under consideration related to the effects of crystalline silica. If 

such regulations are ultimately adopted, we may need to expend 

substantial resources to comply with these regulations and if we 

fail to comply with these new regulations we could be subject to 

fines, penalties and other liabilities.

Our future success may be dependent upon the successful 

integration of our acquisitions and reaping the anticipated 

benefits from those acquisitions.

We may make acquisitions of businesses that complement or 

expand our current business. No assurance can be given that 

we will be able to identify suitable acquisition opportunities, 

negotiate acceptable terms, obtain financing for acquisitions on 

acceptable terms or successfully acquire the identified targets. 

The success of any completed acquisition will depend on our 

ability to effectively integrate the acquired business into our 

existing operations and obtain the benefits contemplated at 

the time we made the acquisition. The process of integrating 

and operating any acquired business may involve unforeseen 

difficulties and may require a disproportionate amount of our 

managerial and financial resources. Our failure to successfully 

integrate the acquired businesses and assets into our existing 

operations and achieve the anticipated benefits from those 

acquisitions could have a material adverse effect on our financial 

condition and results of operations.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments:

None.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware 

law contain provisions that may delay or prevent an 

otherwise beneficial takeover attempt of our Company.

Certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and 

bylaws and Delaware law could make it more difficult for a third 

party to acquire us, even if doing so would be beneficial to our 

stockholders. These include provisions:

• providing for a board of directors with staggered, three-

year terms;

• requiring super-majority voting to affect certain amend-

ments to our certificate of incorporation and bylaws;

• limiting the persons who may call special stockholders’ 

meetings;

• limiting stockholder action by written consent;

• establishing advance notice requirements for nominations 

for election to the board of directors or for proposing 

matters that can be acted upon at stockholders’ meetings; 

and

• allowing our board of directors to issue shares of preferred 

stock without stockholder approval.

These provisions, alone or in combination with each other, 

may discourage transactions involving actual or potential 

changes of control, including transactions that otherwise could 

involve payment of a premium over prevailing market prices to 

holders of our common stock, or could limit the ability of our 

stockholders to approve transactions that they may deem to be 

in their best interest.

The security of our information technology systems could 

be compromised, which could adversely affect our ability 

to operate.

Increased global information technology security require-

ments, threats and sophisticated and targeted computer crime 

pose a risk to the security of our systems, networks and the 

confidentiality, availability and integrity of our data. Despite 

our efforts to protect sensitive information and confidential and 

personal data, our facilities and systems may be vulnerable to 

security breaches. This could lead to negative publicity, theft, 

modification or destruction of proprietary information or key 

information, manufacture of defective products, production 

downtimes and operational disruptions, which could adversely 

affect our reputation, competitiveness and results of operations.
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Item 2. Properties:

The Company believes that the production facilities, warehouses, service centers, sales offices, and quarries are adequate and suitable for its 

current operating needs. The following table sets forth the locations utilized by the Company:

Description Location Property Interest

Carbon Manufacturing Plant Catlettsburg, Kentucky Owned
Carbon Manufacturing Plant Pearlington, Mississippi Owned
Carbon Manufacturing Plant Parentis-en-Born, France Owned
Carbon Reactivation Plant Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania Owned
Carbon Reactivation Plant Blue Lake, California Owned
Carbon Reactivation Plant Feluy, Seneffe, Belgium Owned
Carbon Reactivation Plant Gila Bend, Arizona Owned
Carbon Reactivation Plant Columbus, Ohio Owned
Carbon Reactivation Plant Grays, United Kingdom Owned
Carbon Reactivation Plant Tipton, Dudley, United Kingdom Owned
Carbon Reactivation Plant San Pietro di Legnago, Italy Owned
Carbon Reactivation Plant Fukui, Japan Owned
Carbon Reactivation Plant Suzhou, China Owned
Equipment & Assembly Plant Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania Owned
Diatomaceous Earth Plant Riom-ès-Montagnes, France Owned
Diatomaceous Earth Plant Saint Bauzile, Chomerac, France Owned
Diatomite Quarry Virargues, France Owned
Diatomite Quarry Saint-Bauzile, France Owned
Perlite Plant Foggia, Italy Owned
2 Warehouses Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania Owned
Carbon Reactivation Plant North Tonawanda, New York Leased
Carbon Reactivation Plant Ashton-in-Makerfield, United Kingdom Leased
UV Manufacturing & Fabrication Plant Coraopolis, Pennsylvania Leased
Carbon Cloth Fabrication Plant Houghton-le-Spring, United Kingdom Leased
Corporate Headquarters & Innovation Center Moon Township, Pennsylvania Leased
Field Service Center Joliet, Illinois Leased
Field Service Center St. Catherines, Ontario, Canada Leased
Field Service Center Westlake, Louisiana Leased
Field Service Center Douglasville, Georgia Leased
Service Center Downingtown, Pennsylvania Leased
Service Center Rutland, Massachusetts Leased
Sales Office & Service Center Houston, Texas Leased
Sales Office São Paulo, Brazil Leased
Sales Office Beverungen, Germany Leased
Sales Office Gothenburg, Sweden Leased
Sales Office Paris, France Leased
Sales Office Singapore, Singapore Leased
Sales Office Taipei, Taiwan Leased
Sales Office Osaka, Japan Leased
Sales Office Hong Kong, China Leased
Operational Office Malmaison, France Leased
Operational Office Milan, Italy Leased
Operational Office Tokyo, Japan Leased
Office & Warehouse Tianjin, China Leased
Office & Warehouse Ashton-in Makerfield, United Kingdom Leased
Warehouse & Maintenance Facility Abidos, France Leased
Warehouse, Service Center & Office Kolding, Denmark Leased
4 Warehouses Huntington, West Virginia Leased
3 Warehouses North Tonawanda, New York Leased
Warehouse Coraopolis, Pennsylvania Leased
Warehouse Santa Fe Springs, California Leased
Warehouse Stockton, California Leased
Warehouse Tempe, Arizona Leased
Warehouse Kenova, West Virginia Leased
Warehouse Phoenix, Arizona Leased
Warehouse South Point, Ohio Leased
Warehouse Singapore, Singapore Leased
Warehouse Nitro, West Virginia Leased
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The Catlettsburg, Kentucky plant is the Company’s largest 

facility, with plant operations occupying approximately 50 acres 

of a 226-acre site. This plant, which serves the Activated Carbon 

and Service segment, produces granular and powdered activated 

carbons and acid washed granular activated carbons and reacti-

vates spent granular activated carbons.

The Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania carbon production plant 

occupies a 15-acre site which serves the Activated Carbon and 

Service segment. Operations at the plant include the reactiva-

tion of spent granular activated carbons, the impregnation of 

granular activated carbons and the grinding of granular acti-

vated carbons into powdered activated carbons. The plant also 

has the capacity to finish coal-based or coconut-based specialty 

activated carbons. The plant is now partially idle while a 36,000 

square foot warehouse is being constructed, which is expected 

to be completed in the first quarter of 2018.

The Pearlington, Mississippi plant occupies a site of 

approximately 100 acres. The plant has one production line 

that produces granular and powdered activated carbons for the 

Activated Carbon and Service segment.

The Columbus, Ohio plant occupies approximately 27 acres. 

Operations at the plant include the reactivation of spent 

granular activated carbons, impregnation of activated carbon, 

crushing activated carbon to fine mesh, acid and water washing, 

filter-filling, and various other value added processes to granular 

activated carbon for the Activated Carbon and Service segment.

The Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania Equipment and Assembly plant 

is located on Neville Island and is situated within a 16-acre site 

that includes a 300,000 square foot building. The Equipment and 

Assembly plant occupies 85,000 square feet with the remaining 

space used as a centralized warehouse for carbon inventory. 

The plant, which serves both the Equipment and Activated 

Carbon and Service segments, manufactures and assembles 

fully engineered carbon and ISEP® equipment for purification, 

concentration and separation systems. This plant also serves 

as the East Coast staging and refurbishment point for carbon 

service equipment.

The Coraopolis, Pennsylvania Equipment plants consist of 

a 44,000-square foot production facility and a 16,691-square 

foot production facility located near Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. 

The facilities are adjacent properties and the primary focus 

is the manufacture of UV and Hyde GUARDIAN® equip-

ment, including mechanical and electrical assembly, controls 

systems integration and validation testing of equipment. This 

location also serves as the Pilot Testing facility for Process 

Development, as well as the spare parts distribution center for 

UV and Hyde GUARDIAN® systems. These plants serve the 

Equipment segment.

The Gila Bend, Arizona facility occupies a 20-acre site. 

Operations at the plant include the reactivation of spent 

granular activated carbons for the Activated Carbon and 

Service segment.

The North Tonawanda, New York plant consists of 12,500 

square feet. The facility houses a dry feed system, screening 

tower, reactivation furnace, storage tanks, and packaging 

system and services customers for the Activated Carbon and 

Service segment.

The Blue Lake plant, located near the city of Eureka, 

California, occupies approximately 2 acres. The primary opera-

tion at the plant includes the reactivation of spent granular 

activated carbons for the Activated Carbon and Service segment. 

The plant is currently idled.

The Feluy, Seneffe plant occupies a site of approximately 38 

acres located 30 miles south of Brussels, Belgium. Operations at 

the plant include both the reactivation of spent granular acti-

vated carbons and the grinding of granular activated carbons 

into powdered activated carbons for the Activated Carbon and 

Service segment.

The Tipton plant, located near the city of Dudley, United 

Kingdom, occupies approximately 4 acres and became 

operational in 2016 after several years undergoing operational 

upgrades. It is a reactivation plant of spent granular activated 

carbon that serves the Activated Carbon and Service segment.

The Ashton-in-Makerfield plant occupies a 1.6-acre site, 20 

miles west of Manchester, United Kingdom. Operations at the 

plant include the impregnation of granular activated carbons 

for the Activated Carbon and Service segment. The plant also 

has the capacity to finish coal-based or coconut-based acti-

vated carbons.

The Houghton le-Spring plant, located near the city of 

Newcastle, United Kingdom, occupies approximately 2 acres. 

Operations at the plant include the manufacture of woven and 

knitted activated carbon textiles and their impregnation and 

lamination for the Consumer segment.
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The Grays plant occupies a 3-acre site near London, United 

Kingdom. Operations at the plant include the reactivation of 

spent granular activated carbons for the Activated Carbon and 

Service segment. The plant is currently idled.

The Fukui, Fukui Prefecture, Japan plant, that serves 

the Activated Carbon and Service segment, occupies a site 

of approximately 6 acres and has two production lines for 

carbon reactivation.

The Suzhou, China plant occupies approximately 11 acres 

and is licensed to export activated carbon products. This plant 

is a reactivation facility that serves the Activated Carbon and 

Service segment.

In November 2016, the following locations were acquired 

upon the consummation of the purchase of the New Business, 

which is being reported as Other in 2016 for segment 

reporting purposes:

The Parentis-en-Born plant occupies approximately 62 acres 

and is located in Landes Forest in Southwestern France. The 

plant is approximately 860,000 square feet and it is a virgin 

wood-based activation carbon plant.

The Riom-ès-Montagnes plant occupies approximately 3 

acres and is located in south-central France. The plant produces 

Clarcel® brand diatomaceous earth which is mined from the 

diatomite quarry also acquired from CECA which is located 

in Viragues, France, approximately 23 miles from Riom-ès-

Montagnes. The plant is approximately 30,000 square feet and 

the quarry is approximately 118 acres.

The Saint Bauzile plant, located in Chomerac, France 

produces Clarcel® brand diatomaceous earth which is mined 

from the diatomite quarry also acquired from CECA which is 

located in Saint-Bauzile, France. The plant occupies a 17 acre site, 

and is approximately 163,000 square feet.

The Foggia, Italy plant produces Randalite® and Randafil™ 

brands perlite filtration media and it is located in southern Italy. 

The plant occupies 8 acres and consists of approximately 353,000 

square feet.

The San Peitro di Legnago plant, located in northern Italy, 

occupies approximately 5 acres. The primary operation at the 

plant, which consists of approximately 54,000 square feet, 

includes the reactivation of spent granular activated carbons.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings:

The Company is involved in various legal proceedings, lawsuits 

and claims, including employment, product warranty and 

environmental matters of a nature considered normal to its 

business. It is the Company’s policy to accrue for amounts 

related to the legal matters when it is probable that a liability has 

been incurred and the loss amount is reasonably estimable.

On February 21, 2017, the Japan Fair Trade Commission 

(the JFTC) informed the Company’s subsidiary, Calgon Carbon 

Japan (CCJ) that it is investigating CCJ along with several other 

manufacturers and distributors that participate in the activated 

carbon market in Japan over concerns of anti-competitive 

conduct. The JFTC is investigating whether manufacturers and 

sellers of activated carbon used in water purification plants, 

garbage incineration plants and other similar facilities in Japan 

have acted in concert with each other in violation of the Japan 

Anti-Monopoly Act. JFTC agents searched the offices of CCJ, 

reviewing and collecting contracts and other business records 

and interviewed certain CCJ employees. At this early stage of the 

investigation, it is difficult to predict the outcome of this matter 

or what remedies, if any, may be imposed by the JFTC. CCJ is 

cooperating with the JFTC as it conducts its investigation.

Refer to Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements 

in Item 8 of this Annual Report, which is incorporated herein 

by reference.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures:

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities: 

Common Shares and Market Information
Common shares are traded on the New York Stock Exchange 

under the trading symbol CCC. There were 980 registered 

stockholders as of December 31, 2016.

Quarterly Common Stock Price Ranges and Dividends

2016 2015

Fiscal Quarter High Low Dividend High Low Dividend

First $17.53 $13.67 $0.05 $21.59 $19.02 $0.05
Second $16.59 $12.75 $0.05 $23.20 $19.26 $0.05
Third $15.77 $12.70 $0.05 $19.69 $14.90 $0.05
Fourth $18.80 $14.45 $0.05 $18.22 $14.72 $0.05

On February 18, 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors rein-

stated its common stock dividend program. Quarterly dividends 

of $0.05 per share were declared in each of the four quarters for 

the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. The Company did 

not declare or pay any dividends in 2014. Dividend declaration 

and payout are at the discretion of the Board of Directors. 

Future dividends will depend on the Company’s earnings, cash 

flows, and capital investment plans to pursue long-term growth 

opportunities.

The information appearing in Item 12 of Part III below 

regarding common stock issuable under the Company’s equity 

compensation plan is incorporated herein by reference.

Stockholder Return Performance Graph
The following performance graph and related information 

shall not be deemed “filed” with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission, nor shall such information be incorporated by 

reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 

or Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, except to 

the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by refer-

ence into such filing.

The graph below compares the yearly change in cumulative 

total stockholder return of the Company’s common stock with 

the cumulative total return of the Standard & Poor’s (S&P) 

500 Stock Composite Index and the Peer Group. The Company 

believes that its core business consists of purifying air, water 

and other products. As such, the Company’s selected peer group 

consists of companies that are involved in lines of business that 

are similar to the Company’s core business. The Peer Group is 

comprised of five companies: Cabot Corporation, CLARCOR, 

Inc., Donaldson Company, Inc., ESCO Technologies Inc., and 

Lydall, Inc.

Comparison of Five-Year
Cumulative Total Return*
Among Calgon Carbon’s
Common Stock, S&P
500 Composite Index,
and Peer Group

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Calgon Carbon Corporation 100 90.26 130.94 132.27 111.01 110.84
S&P 500 Index - Total Returns 100 116.00 153.57 174.60 177.01 198.18
Peer Group 100 106.15 138.09 132.56 109.98 165.79

* Assumes that the value of the investment in Calgon Carbon Common Stock and the index and Peer Group was $100 on 
December 31, 2011 and that all dividends are reinvested.
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Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities

Period
(a) Total Number of 

Shares Purchased
(b) Average Price 

(1) Paid Per Share

(c) Total Number of Shares 
Purchased as Part of Publicly 

Announced Repurchase 
Plans or Programs 

(d) Maximum Number
(or Approximate
Dollar Value) of 

Shares that May Yet be 
Purchased Under the 

(2) Plans or Programs

October 1 — October 31, 2016 — $    — — $64,131,013
November 1 — November 30, 2016 — $    — — $64,131,013
December 1 — December 31, 2016 624 $17.87 — $64,131,013

(1) Includes 624 shares surrendered to the Company by employees to satisfy tax withholding obligations on restricted share awards issued under the 
Company’s Equity Incentive Plan. Future purchases under this Plan will be dependent upon employee elections.

(2) In December 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of additional common stock, resulting in a total remaining availability 
of $150 million. There is no expiration date for this program. In April 2016, the Company announced that it would suspend the activities of the share 
repurchase program.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data:

FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY OF SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Calgon Carbon Corporation

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) 2016(1) 2015 2014 2013 2012(3)

Income Statement Data:
Net sales $514,246 $535,004 $555,103 $547,939 $562,255
Net income $ 13,797 $ 43,463 $ 49,370 $ 45,713 $ 23,272
Net income per common share, basic $    0.27 $    0.84 $    0.93 $    0.85 $    0.41
Net income per common share, diluted $    0.27 $    0.82 $    0.92 $    0.84 $    0.41
Cash dividends declared per common share $    0.20 $    0.20 $      — $      — $      —

Balance Sheet Data (as of year end):
Total assets $775,218 $656,518 $621,661 $590,078 $577,769
Long-term debt (2) $220,000 $103,941 $ 70,448 $ 32,114 $ 44,408

(1) Includes $15.7 million of costs related to the acquisition of the New Business, consisting primarily of $14.0 million of transaction costs. Total assets and 
long-term debt increased in 2016 as a result of the acquisition of the New Business. Refer to Note 20 of the consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of 
this Annual Report for further information.

(2) Excludes $5.0 million and $7.5 million of debt which is classified as the current portion of long-term debt as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
Refer to Note 8 of the consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report for further information. Excludes $0.8 million, $2.2 million and 
$19.6 million of debt which was classified as current as of December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.

(3) Includes $10.2 million of restructuring charges and $1.7 million of multi-employer pension charges. Also includes a $1.7 million charge related to an 
agreement with the Company’s former Chief Executive Officer.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations:

period in 2016, net sales would have declined $32.9 million or 

6.1% in 2016 as compared to 2015. The total negative impact of 

foreign currency translation due to a stronger U.S. dollar in the 

United Kingdom and China, partially offset by a weaker U.S. 

dollar in Japan on consolidated net sales was $2.8 million.

The Company’s results were impacted by acquisition related 

costs, a slowing global economy and the negative impact of a 

strong U.S. dollar. The Company continued to increase share-

holder value through its common stock dividend program and 

its open market share repurchase program through April 2016.

Results of Operations
2016 Versus 2015
Net sales for the Activated Carbon and Service segment 

decreased $32.0 million or 6.6% from 2015. Included in this 

change was the negative impact of foreign currency translation 

which totaled $1.8 million.

Overview
On November 2, 2016, the Company completed the acquisition 

of the wood-based activated carbon, reactivation and mineral-

based filtration media business of CECA, a subsidiary of Arkema 

Group (New Business). Due to the complementary nature of 

the New Business’ products and market applications to those 

of the Company, and its significant exposure to less regulated, 

more traditional end markets, the addition of the New Business 

to the Company creates a more balanced global platform from 

which the Company can continue to grow by leveraging its 

now expanded capabilities in the global activated carbon and 

adjacent filtration media market areas. 

The Company reported net income of $13.8 million or $0.27 

per diluted share for 2016, as compared to net income of $43.5 

million or $0.82 per diluted share for 2015. Net sales decreased 

$20.8 million or 3.9% in 2016 as compared to 2015. Without the 

$12.1 million net sales of the New Business for the two month 

Increase (Decrease) in Net Sales

(Dollars in millions) As Reported
Foreign

Currency Impact
Net of Foreign

Currency Impact

Environmental Air market $(10.8) $(0.6) $(11.4)
Environmental Water market (14.2) (0.6) (14.8)
Food and Beverage market (3.1) — (3.1)
Industrial market (5.1) — (5.1)
Potable Water market (3.7) 1.9 (1.8)
Specialty Carbon market 6.4 1.0 7.4
Other (1.5) 0.1 (1.4)

Total Activated Carbon and Service $(32.0) $ 1.8 $(30.2)

Contributing to the year over year decline was lower 

demand in the Environmental Air market resulting from a 

legacy customer that was using standard product and switched 

suppliers in 2016 as well as a number of coal-fired electric 

generation units permanently changing over to gas fired units 

due to very low natural gas prices. In addition, the unseasonably 

warmer winter weather conditions in the early part of the year 

coupled with the low natural gas prices reduced the operational 

requirements of certain customers’ coal-fired electric generating 

units in 2016. This decline was partially offset by an increase 

in demand for activated carbon pellets for treating sulfur and 

nitrogen oxide emissions. The Environmental Water market was 

negatively impacted by a customer plant closure in Asia, along 

with a decline in industrial environmental activity due to a slow 

economy and large orders in 2015 that did not repeat in 2016. 

Lower demand in the Industrial and the Food and Beverage 

markets was largely due to soft economic conditions, customers 

optimizing their processes resulting in a rationalization of 

carbon usage, and a general slowness in project related activity. 

An increase in the Specialty Carbon market for metal recovery 

carbon products in the Americas and for respirator carbon 

products in Asia partially offset the decline in the other markets.

Net sales for the Equipment segment declined slightly as 

compared to 2015. Foreign currency translation effects in the 

Equipment segment were not significant. 

(Dollars in millions)
Increase (Decrease)

in Net Sales

Carbon adsorption equipment $ 5.9
Ballast water treatment systems (4.9)
Traditional ultraviolet light systems (0.3)
Ion exchange systems (1.1)

Total Equipment $(0.4)
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Net sales for ballast water treatment systems were lower due 

to continued regulatory delays and a decline in sales of equip-

ment to offshore service vessels, the demand from which has 

been impacted by ongoing low oil prices. In addition, sales of 

ion exchange equipment were lower due to several large projects 

in 2015 that did not repeat in 2016. These declines were offset 

by several large projects for carbon adsorption equipment, 

including $3.3 million related to treatment of perfluorinated 

compounds in drinking water, in 2016 as compared to the 

prior year.

Net sales for the Consumer segment decreased $0.5 million 

or 5.1% from 2015 as higher demand for defense application 

products was more than offset by the negative impact of foreign 

currency translation which totaled $0.9 million due to the 

weaker British Pound Sterling.

Net sales of $12.1 million related to the New Business subse-

quent to the acquisition in November 2016 were reported in 

Other. Refer to additional discussion of the acquisition in Notes 

18 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of 

this Annual Report.

Net sales less cost of products sold (excluding depreciation 

and amortization), as a percentage of net sales, was 32.6% for 

2016 compared to 35.8% for the comparable 2015 period, a 3.2 

percentage point or $16.5 million decrease. Approximately $11.3 

million of this decrease resulted from a decline in the volume 

of higher margin products, including FLUEPAC® products for 

mercury removal coupled with an increase in volume of lower 

margin products compared to the prior year. The Company 

incurred higher post retirement costs of approximately $0.9 

million for the U.S. plans in 2016 as compared to 2015. In 2015, 

the Company benefited from refunds for import duties paid of 

$1.3 million which did not repeat in the 2016 period. A business 

interruption insurance settlement of $0.9 million received in 

2016 provided a partial offset to the aforementioned items, 

all of which primarily impacted the Activated Carbon and 

Service segment. In addition, the Equipment segment incurred 

higher warranty costs of approximately $1.2 million in 2016 as 

compared to the prior year. Also contributing to the decline was 

$1.5 million of additional costs related to the inventory fair value 

step up, and $1.0 million in costs related to scheduled plant 

maintenance outages at certain of the New Business’ production 

facilities reported in Other. The Company’s cost of products sold 

excludes depreciation and amortization; therefore it may not be 

comparable to that of other companies.

Depreciation and amortization increased $2.6 million in 

2016 as compared to 2015. The increase was primarily due to 

higher depreciation expense related to the completion of several 

large projects such as the improvement and upgrades to the 

Company’s manufacturing facilities, the new headquarters 

facility, and the SAP re-implementation project and $1.4 million 

incurred by the New Business reported in Other for the two 

month period ended December 31, 2016.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $15.0 

million or 17.7% in 2016 as compared to 2015. During 2016, $13.4 

million of additional transaction costs related to the acquisition 

of the New Business have been incurred with approximately 

half in the Activated Carbon and Service segment and half 

in Other. The Company experienced higher employee related 

costs of $0.8 million, of which $0.7 million was a result of higher 

pension settlement costs in 2016 versus the comparable period 

in 2015, primarily impacting the Activated Carbon and Services 

segment. These increases were partially offset by outside 

consulting services incurred in 2015, largely related to the 

SAP re-implementation project, which did not repeat, but were 

partially offset by other project costs in 2016. In addition, 2016 

expenses included $1.7 million incurred by the New Business 

for the two month period ended December 31, 2016 reported 

in Other.

Research and development expenses decreased $1.0 million 

in 2016 versus the comparable 2015 period. This decrease was 

largely due to expenses related to the Company’s new research 

and development innovation center that were incurred in 2015 

but did not repeat in 2016.

Interest income in 2016 was comparable to 2015.

Interest expense increased $1.6 million in 2016 as compared 

to 2015 due to an increase in the average outstanding borrow-

ings under the Company’s debt agreements resulting from the 

Company’s purchase of the New Business, coupled with slightly 

higher interest rates in 2016.

The additional expense of $1.5 million in other income 

(expense) – for 2016 as compared to 2015 was largely related to 

foreign exchange and income reported in 2015 for a decline in 

the earn-out liability related to a 2010 acquisition that did not 

repeat in 2016.

The income tax provision for 2016 was $6.3 million as 

compared to $19.9 million in 2015. The income tax provision 

decreased $13.6 million in 2016 as compared to 2015 predomi-

nately due to a decline in pre-tax earnings. 

The effective tax rate for 2016 was 31.3% compared to 31.4% 

for the similar 2015 period. The 2016 effective rate was lower 

than the U.S. statutory rate mainly due to the mix of income 

throughout foreign jurisdictions, the majority of which was 

related to China, the UK and Singapore, which reduced the rate 

by 6.5%. The decrease of the 2016 rate was partially offset by 

state income taxes which increased the overall 2016 tax rate 

by 2.9%. In addition, the 2016 rate was increased by 3.2% for 

permanent items including non-deductible transaction costs in 

the U.S. This increase was partially offset by the benefit realized 
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from the enactment of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code Section 

987 Treasury Regulations, which were finalized and issued on 

December 7, 2016. The benefit realized from the issuance of the 

final regulations reduced the 2016 rate by 2.7%.

2015 Versus 2014
Net sales for the Activated Carbon and Service segment 

decreased $11.7 million or 2.3% from 2014. Included in this 

change was the negative impact of foreign currency translation 

which totaled $21.9 million.

Increase (Decrease) in Net Sales

(Dollars in millions) As Reported
Foreign

Currency Impact
Net of Foreign

Currency Impact

Environmental Air market $ 27.0 $ 2.6 $29.6
Environmental Water market (4.4) 4.3 (0.1)
Food and Beverage market (10.8) 4.0 (6.8)
Industrial market (6.1) 3.8 (2.3)
Potable Water market (14.9) 5.7 (9.2)
Specialty Carbon market (4.4) 1.2 (3.2)
Other 1.9 0.3 2.2

Total Activated Carbon and Service $(11.7) $21.9 $10.2

The decrease in net sales for the Activated Carbon and Service 

segment is principally due to the negative impact of foreign 

currency translation. Absent the negative impact of foreign 

currency, sales for the Activated Carbon and Service Segment 

increased in 2015 as compared to 2014. The increase was 

principally due to higher sales in the Americas Environmental 

Air market of approximately $29.5 million due to additional 

sales volume as a result of customers complying with mercury 

removal regulations promulgated by 19 states and certain 

Canadian provinces, as well as the Mercury and Air Toxics 

Standards. This increase was partially offset by the decline in the 

Americas Food and Beverage market due to certain non-repeat 

orders and Americas Specialty market due to continued lower 

demand for respirators from the U.S. government. In addition, 

the Asian Potable Water market declined approximately $8.2 

million primarily due to certain large orders in 2014 that did not 

repeat in 2015, along with a softer growth rate.

Net sales for the Equipment segment decreased $6.0 million 

or 13.3% from 2014. Foreign currency translation effect in the 

Equipment segment was $0.3 million.

(Dollars in millions)
Increase (Decrease)

in Net Sales

Carbon adsorption equipment $(3.6)
Ballast water treatment systems (3.4)
Traditional ultraviolet light systems —
Ion exchange systems 1.3

Total Equipment $(6.0)

The decline in sales was due to lower demand for carbon 

adsorption equipment resulting from the completion of projects 

for installations for certain customers related to the initial 

Disinfectants and Disinfection Byproducts Rule and a decline 

in project related discretionary spending as well as lower sales 

for ballast water treatment systems due to continued regulatory 

delays and a decline in sales of our equipment to offshore service 

vessels, the demand from which has been impacted by ongoing 

low oil prices. This decline was partially offset by the higher sales 

for ion exchange systems.

Net sales in the Consumer segment decreased $2.4 million or 

20.8% from 2014 due to higher demand from a single customer 

in 2014 that did not repeat in 2015, as well as the negative 

impact of foreign currency translation which totaled $0.6 million 

for the Consumer segment.

Net sales less cost of products sold (excluding depreciation 

and amortization), as a percentage of net sales, was 35.8% 

for 2015 compared to 34.6% in 2014, a 1.2 percentage point 

or $6.4 million increase which was primarily in the Activated 

Carbon and Service segment. Approximately $3.0 million of 

this improvement resulted from higher margin products sold, 

including FLUEPAC® products for mercury removal, coupled 

with a decline in volume of lower margin products. The 

Company’s cost improvement programs, including lower coal 

costs of approximately $2.2 million, primarily from two long-

term coal contracts, contributed to margin improvement in all 

geographic regions. In addition, the Company benefited from 
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refunds for import duties paid of approximately $1.3 million 

under the Trade Preferences Extension Act of 2015 pertaining 

to purchases of coconut carbons. In the Equipment segment, 

improved margins on projects in progress contributed approxi-

mately $0.5 million to the improvement as compared to the prior 

year. The Company’s cost of products sold excludes depreciation 

and amortization; therefore it may not be comparable to that of 

other companies.

Depreciation and amortization increased by $5.0 million or 

16.4% in 2015 as compared to 2014. The increases were primarily 

due to higher depreciation expense related to improvements 

to the Company’s Catlettsburg, Kentucky virgin carbon 

manufacturing facility and the July 2015 completion of the SAP 

re-implementation project. Also contributing to the increase 

was accelerated depreciation expense of approximately $3.0 

million in 2015 related to certain assets that have been or will be 

replaced as the result of new projects, including the Company’s 

SAP re-implementation project.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by 

$4.0 million or 4.9% in 2015 as compared to 2014. The increase 

was due to costs related to an SAP re-implementation project 

which commenced in January 2014 aimed at improving func-

tionality of the Company’s enterprise resource planning system 

of approximately $1.0 million. The Company re-implemented 

SAP as of July 1, 2015. In addition, outside consulting services 

increased by $4.4 million. The Company experienced higher 

employee related costs of $2.0 million, of which $0.7 million 

was a result of higher pension costs. Partially offsetting these 

increases, which were primarily in the Activated Carbon and 

Service segment, was the positive impact of foreign currency 

translation of $3.1 million due to the stronger U.S. dollar which 

was also primarily within the Activated Carbon and Service 

segment. Selling, general and administrative expenses declined 

in the Equipment segment by $0.4 million in 2015 as compared 

to 2014, as a result of successful cost improvements, including a 

reduction in headcount.

Research and development expenses were comparable in 2015 

as compared to 2014.

The Company recorded $0.3 million of restructuring income 

in 2014 which represents reductions in the estimated accrual 

and a pre-tax gain for the sale of a warehouse in Belgium.

Interest income was comparable in 2015 versus 2014.

Interest expense increased $0.5 million in 2015 as compared 

to 2014 due to an increase in the outstanding borrowings under 

the Company’s debt agreements.

The additional income in other expense — net of $1.2 

million for 2015 as compared to 2014 was largely related to 

foreign exchange.

The income tax provision for 2015 was $19.9 million as 

compared to $23.1 million in 2014. For 2015, tax expense 

decreased approximately $3.2 million compared to 2014 

predominately due to a decrease in pre-tax earnings of $9.1 

million. In the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company completed 

a U.S. research and development tax credit study for the prior 

years 2012 — 2014. The Company recognized a benefit of 

$1.1 million related to the research and development credit. 

Compared to 2014, the Company’s state income taxes decreased 

by $0.5 million related to state apportionment changes. The 

2014 tax expense includes a net $1.4 million benefit related to a 

completed Internal Revenue Service (IRS) examination and the 

effective settlement and release of uncertain tax positions.

The effective tax rate for 2015 was 31.4% compared to 31.9% 

for the similar 2014 period. The 2015 effective rate was lower 

than the U.S. statutory rate mainly due to the mix of income 

throughout foreign jurisdictions, the majority of which was 

related to the UK and Singapore, which reduced the rate 3.1%. 

The aforementioned research and development credit reduced 

the 2015 effective tax rate by 1.7%. The decrease of the 2015 rate 

was partially offset by state income taxes which increased the 

overall 2015 tax rate by 1.8%.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company has had sufficient financial resources to meet its 

operating requirements and to fund capital spending, the acqui-

sition, dividend payments, share repurchases and pension plans.

Cash flows provided by operating activities were $69.0 million 

in 2016, as compared to $69.9 million in 2015. Net cash flow was 

comparable between the two periods as a net favorable working 

capital change offset the lower operating results in 2016. Cash 

flows provided by operating activities declined in 2015 as 

compared to $84.3 million in 2014 primarily due to unfavorable 

working capital changes from higher inventories. The Company 

made contributions to its pension plans, which included $0.6 

million and $1.2 million of discretionary contributions to the 

U.S. pension plans during 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

The Company received $0.6 million and $1.8 million in 2016 

and 2014, respectively, of proceeds related to government grants 

in Asia and Europe. Grants related to income were reported 

within operating activities, while grants related to assets were 

reported as cash flows from investing activities. Refer to Note 

19 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this 

Annual Report.

Cash flows used in investing activities increased significantly 

in 2016 as compared to 2015 and 2014 as a result of the acquisi-

tion of the New Business for $153.6 million, net of cash acquired. 

Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 

8 of this Annual Report for further information.
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Capital expenditures were $31.9 million, $62.3 million, and 

$63.5 million, in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Expenditures 

for 2016 were primarily for improvements to manufacturing 

facilities. Expenditures for 2015 included $19.3 million for 

improvements to the Company’s Catlettsburg, Kentucky manu-

facturing facility, $5.8 million of upgrades to the Tipton plant in 

the UK, expenditures of $11.3 million related to the Company’s 

new headquarters facility, which includes the research and 

development innovation center; and $4.1 million for a SAP 

re-implementation project. Expenditures for 2014 included $48.9 

million for improvements to manufacturing facilities including 

approximately $38.6 million for the Company’s Catlettsburg, 

Kentucky and Pearlington, Mississippi facilities, along with 

expenditures for a SAP re-implementation project of approxi-

mately $6.2 million. Capital expenditures for 2017, which includes 

expected spending for the upgrade of the Company’s Pittsburgh, 

Pennsylvania reactivation plant and the New Business, are 

currently projected to be approximately $70 million to $80 

million. The aforementioned expenditures are expected to be 

funded by operating cash flows, cash on hand, and borrowings.

Proceeds for sales of property, plant and equipment were $1.2 

million in 2016 and not significant in 2015 or 2014.

Cash flows provided by financing activities increased signifi-

cantly in 2016 as compared to 2015 and 2014 as a result of the 

incremental borrowings required under the Company's debt 

arrangements to fund the acquisition of the New Business. 

On October 4, 2016, the Company entered into the First 

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (Amended Credit 

Agreement) which amended the Company’s existing U.S. Credit 

Agreement (Credit Agreement). The Amended Credit Agreement 

increases the Company’s total borrowing capacity to $400 

million, comprised of a $300 million revolving credit facility 

(Amended Revolver) and a $100 million term loan facility (Term 

Loan). The Amended Credit Agreement extends the term of the 

Amended Revolver to October 4, 2021 and the maturity date of 

the Term Loan to October 4, 2023. 

The full amount of the Term Loan was borrowed on the 

closing date, with the proceeds used to repay all outstanding 

term loan and revolving credit facility borrowings under the 

Credit Agreement. The Amended Revolver was used to fund the 

acquisition of the New Business, and is available for working 

capital requirements and general corporate purposes. The 

total debt outstanding increased $113.6 million in 2016 as a 

result of the acquisition of the New Business. Total availability 

under the Amended Credit Agreement was $172.5 million as of 

December 31, 2016.

Beginning January 1, 2017, the Company will be required 

to make quarterly repayments under the Term Loan equal to 

1.25% of the outstanding balance until January 1, 2019, at which 

time the quarterly repayments will increase to 2.0% until the 

remaining balance is due on the October 4, 2023 maturity date.

Certain domestic subsidiaries of the Company uncondi-

tionally guarantee all indebtedness and obligations related 

to borrowings under the Amended Credit Agreement. The 

Company’s obligations under the Amended Credit Agreement 

are unsecured. The Amended Credit Agreement contains 

customary affirmative and negative covenants for credit 

facilities of this type. The Company has to comply with certain 

financial covenants including minimum interest coverage ratio 

and a maximum leverage ratio as defined within the Amended 

Credit Agreement. The Company was in compliance with all such 

covenants as of December 31, 2016.

In February 2017, an amendment was signed to the Amended 

Credit Agreement, which, among other things, removes the 

quarterly leverage ratio requirement for the Company to pay 

dividends to its stockholders and replaces it with an annual 

dividend dollar restriction of $14.0 million.

On March 24, 2016, Calgon Carbon Japan (CCJ) entered into 

a 2.0 billion Japanese Yen unsecured revolving loan facility 

agreement (Japanese Credit Agreement) which expires on March 

24, 2019. The Company is jointly and severally liable as the guar-

antor of CCJ’s obligations under the Japanese Credit Agreement. 

Total availability under the Japanese Credit Agreement was 2.0 

billion Japanese Yen as of December 31, 2016.

Refer to Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements in 

Item 8 of this Annual Report, which is incorporated herein 

by reference, for further details on the Company’s borrowing 

arrangements.

In December 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors 

approved a share repurchase program with a total of $150 

million of purchases authorized. As of December 31, 2016, the 

Company had repurchased a total of 4,598,661 shares at an 

average price of $18.67 per share under this program. All of 

the above mentioned repurchases were funded from operating 

cash flows, cash on hand, and borrowings and the shares are 

held as treasury stock. Subsequent to these repurchases, the 

Company’s remaining authorization to repurchase its common 

stock is approximately $64.1 million. In April 2016, the Company 

suspended the activities of the share repurchase program. 

On February 18, 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors 

reinstated its common stock dividend program. Quarterly 

dividends of $0.05 per share were declared and paid in each of 

the four quarters for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 

2015. No common stock dividends were declared or paid in 2014. 

In addition, in February 2017, a common stock dividend of $0.05 
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per share was declared. Dividend declaration and payout are at 

the discretion of the Board of Directors. Future dividends will 

depend on the Company’s earnings, cash flows, capital invest-

ment plans to pursue long-term growth opportunities, and share 

repurchases, if any. 

The Company currently expects that cash from operating 

activities plus cash balances and available external financing will 

be sufficient to meet its cash requirements for the next twelve 

months. The cash needs of each of the Company’s reporting 

segments are principally covered by the segment’s operating 

cash flow on a standalone basis. Any additional needs will be 

funded by cash on hand or borrowings under the Company’s 

credit facilities. The Equipment and Consumer segments 

historically have not required extensive capital expenditures. 

The Company believes that operating cash flows, cash on hand 

and borrowings will adequately support each of the segments 

cash needs.

Payments due by period

(Dollars in thousands) Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years More than 5 years

Long-term debt, including current portion $225,000 $ 5,000 $13,000 $141,000 $66,000
Interest (1)  28,700  5,693  10,953  9,369  2,685
Operating leases  41,320  8,174  9,958  4,651  18,537
Unconditional purchase obligations (2)  47,792  21,375  24,790  1,627  —

Total contractual cash obligations $342,812 $40,242 $58,701 $156,647 $87,222

(1) As of December 31, 2016, the weighted average effective interest rate was approximately 2.56% on the Company’s total borrowings of $225.0 million. The 
Company’s debt carries variable interest rates. The interest amounts have been estimated based on the applicable interest rate per annum as of December 
31, 2016, and the outstanding debt balances as of December 31, 2016, adjusted for the future required repayments shown above.

(2) Primarily for the purchase of raw materials and information systems and services.

The long-term tax payable of $0.9 million, pertaining to the 

tax liability related to the accounting for uncertainty in income 

taxes, has been excluded from the above table due to the fact 

that the Company is unable to determine the period in which 

the liability will be resolved.

The Company does not have any special-purpose entities.

The Company maintains qualified defined benefit pension 

plans, which cover certain non-union and union employees in 

the U.S. and Europe. The fair value of the Company’s pension 

plan assets has decreased slightly to $116.2 million as of 

December 31, 2016 from $118.7 million as of December 31, 2015. 

During 2016 and 2015, the Company made lump sum payments 

of $5.2 million and $3.8 million, respectively, to certain eligible 

terminated vested participants. The Pension Protection Act, 

passed into law in August 2006, prescribes a new methodology 

for determining the minimum amount that must be 

contributed to U.S. defined benefit pension plans which began 

in 2008. During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, 

respectively, the Company funded its pension plans with $2.4 

million and $3.1 million in contributions. The Company expects 

that it will be required, in accordance with its funding policy, to 

fund the plans with approximately $4.6 million in contributions 

for the year ending December 31, 2017. The Company may 

make additional contributions to the plans in 2017 beyond the 

required funding. Additional voluntary contributions would be 

dependent upon, among other things, the Company’s ongoing 

operating results and liquidity.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company’s off-balance sheet arrangements include the oper-

ating leases and unconditional purchase obligations disclosed 

above as well as letters of credit and guarantees as discussed in 

Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this 

Annual Report.

Contingencies
The Company is involved in various legal proceedings, lawsuits 

and claims, including employment, product warranty and envi-

ronmental matters of a nature considered normal to its business. 

It is the Company’s policy to accrue for amounts related to 

these legal matters when it is probable that a liability has been 

incurred and the loss amount is reasonably estimable. Refer to 

Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this 

Annual Report, which is incorporated herein by reference, for 

further details.

Cash and cash equivalents include $27.4 million and $45.1 

million held by the Company’s foreign subsidiaries as of 

December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Generally, cash and 

cash equivalents held by foreign subsidiaries are not readily 

available for use in the U.S. without adverse tax consequences. 

The Company’s principal sources of liquidity are its cash flows 

from its operating activities or borrowings directly from its 

credit facilities. The Company does not believe the level of its 

non-U.S. cash position will have an adverse effect on working 

capital needs, planned growth, repayment of maturing debt, or 

benefit plan funding.

Contractual Obligations
The Company is obligated to make future payments under 

various contracts such as debt agreements, lease agreements, 

and unconditional purchase obligations. The following 

table represents the significant contractual cash obligations 

and other commercial commitments of the Company as of 

December 31, 2016:
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Critical Accounting Policies
Management of the Company has evaluated the accounting 

policies used in the preparation of the financial statements 

and related footnotes and believes the policies to be reasonable 

and appropriate. The preparation of the financial statements in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 

U.S. requires management to make judgments, estimates, and 

assumptions regarding uncertainties that affect the reported 

amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent 

assets and liabilities, and the reported amounts of revenues 

and expenses. Management uses historical experience and all 

available information to make these judgments and estimates, 

and actual results will inevitably differ from those estimates 

and assumptions that are used to prepare the Company’s 

financial statements at any given time. Despite these inherent 

limitations, management believes that Management’s Discussion 

and Analysis (MD&A) and the financial statements and 

related footnotes provide a meaningful and fair perspective of 

the Company.

The following are the Company’s critical accounting policies 

impacted by management’s judgments, assumptions, and 

estimates. Management believes that the application of these 

policies on a consistent basis enables the Company to provide 

the users of the financial statements with useful and reliable 

information about the Company’s operating results and 

financial condition.

Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue and related costs when goods 

are shipped or services are rendered to customers provided 

that ownership, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists 

and risk of loss have passed to the customer, the price to the 

customer is fixed or determinable, and collection is reasonably 

assured. Revenue for major equipment projects is recognized 

under the percentage of completion method. The Company’s 

major equipment projects generally have a long project life cycle 

from bid solicitation to project completion. The nature of the 

contracts are generally fixed price with milestone billings. The 

Company recognizes revenue for these projects based on the 

fixed sales prices multiplied by the percentage of completion. 

In applying the percentage of completion method, a project’s 

percent complete as of any balance sheet date is computed as 

the ratio of total costs incurred to date divided by the total esti-

mated costs at completion. As changes in the estimates of total 

costs at completion and/or estimated total losses on projects 

are identified, appropriate earnings adjustments are recorded 

during the period that the change is identified. The Company 

has a history of making reasonably dependable estimates of 

costs at completion on contracts that follow the percentage of 

completion method; however, due to uncertainties inherent in 

the estimation process, it is possible that actual project costs 

at completion could vary from their estimates. The principal 

components of costs include material, direct labor, subcontracts, 

and allocated indirect costs. Indirect costs primarily consist of 

administrative labor and associated operating expenses, which 

are allocated to the respective projects on actual hours charged 

to the project utilizing a standard hourly rate.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquired 

business over the fair value of the identifiable tangible and 

intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business 

combination. Identifiable intangible assets acquired in business 

combinations are recorded based on their fair values at the date 

of acquisition. In accordance with guidance within ASC 350 

“Intangibles — Goodwill and Other” goodwill and identifiable 

intangible assets with indefinite lives are not subject to amorti-

zation but must be evaluated for impairment. 

On November 2, 2016, the Company completed the acquisition 

of the New Business. The transaction was accounted for under 

the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC 

805 “Business Combinations.” Under the acquisition method 

of accounting, the tangible and identifiable intangible assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded based on their 

fair value at the acquisition date, with excess consideration paid 

over the net assets acquired recorded as goodwill. The fair value 

was determined based on the preliminary acquisition valuation 

which included the use of estimates based on information 

available to the Company. As a result of the acquisition, the 

Company has recorded various intangible assets, including trade 

names and trademarks, unpatented technology, and customer 

relationships. The trade names and trademarks acquired 

have indefinite lives, while all remaining acquired identifiable 

intangible assets have finite lives. The goodwill associated with 

the acquisition of the New Business is reported as Other for 

segment reporting purposes and has not been allocated below 

this level as of December 31, 2016.

The Company evaluates goodwill and indefinite-lived 

intangible assets for impairment annually, or when events 

occur or circumstances change that may reduce the fair value 

of the asset below its carrying amount. The Company has 

elected to perform the annual impairment test of its goodwill 

and indefinite-lived intangible assets, as required, on December 

31 of each year by initially comparing the fair value of each of 

the Company’s reporting units to their related carrying values. 

The Company will also perform an impairment test between 

annual tests whenever events or circumstances indicate that 

the carrying value of a reporting unit may exceed its fair value. 
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If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying 

value, the Company performs an additional step to determine 

the implied fair value of the goodwill. The implied fair value 

of goodwill is determined by first allocating the fair value of 

the reporting unit to all of the assets and liabilities of the unit 

and then computing the excess of the unit’s fair value over the 

amounts assigned to the assets and liabilities. If the carrying 

value of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of goodwill, such 

excess represents the amount of goodwill impairment, and the 

Company recognizes such impairment accordingly. Fair values 

are estimated using discounted cash flows and other valuation 

methodologies, such as the guideline public company method, 

that are based on projections of the amounts and timing of 

future revenues and cash flows, assumed discount rates and 

other assumptions as deemed appropriate. The Company also 

considers such factors as historical performance, anticipated 

market conditions, operating expense trends and capital 

expenditure requirements. Each reporting unit periodically 

prepares discrete operating forecasts and uses these forecasts 

as the basis for assumptions used in the discounted cash flow 

analysis and guideline public company method. The Company 

has consistently used a discount rate commensurate with 

its cost of capital which ranges 10.0% to 14.0%, adjusted for 

inherent business risks within its respective reporting units 

and has consistently used a terminal growth factor of 3.0%. 

The Company also reconciles the estimated aggregate fair 

value of its reporting units as derived from the discounted 

cash flow analysis and guideline public company method to 

the Company’s overall market capitalization. The Company has 

historically had six reporting units for purposes of goodwill 

evaluation. These reporting units consist of (1) the Activated 

Carbon and Service segment which is segregated into two 

regional reporting units, the Americas/Asia and Europe, (2) 

the Equipment segment which is segregated by technology (a) 

carbon adsorption, (b) ultraviolet light, and (c) ion exchange, 

and (3) the Consumer segment which includes the charcoal cloth 

reporting unit. The Company continually monitors its reporting 

units for impairment indicators and updates assumptions used 

in the most recent calculation of the fair value of a reporting 

unit as appropriate. The fair value of the Company’s reporting 

units substantially exceeds the carrying value of its goodwill as 

of December 31, 2016.

Given the preliminary nature of the purchase price allocation 

and the relatively short time period between the acquisition 

date and December 31, 2016, the Company did not perform a 

full evaluation of the acquired goodwill and indefinite-lived 

intangible assets, but rather performed a qualitative assessment 

that did not result in an indication of impairment for the New 

Business as of December 31, 2016. For further information, refer 

to Notes 18 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements in 

Item 8 of this Annual Report.

The Company’s identifiable intangible assets other than 

goodwill and trade names and trademarks have finite 

lives. Certain of these intangible assets, such as customer 

relationships, are amortized using an accelerated methodology 

while others, such as patents, are amortized on a straight-line 

basis over their estimated useful lives. In addition, intangible 

assets with finite lives are evaluated for impairment whenever 

events or circumstances indicate that their carrying amount 

may not be recoverable, as prescribed by guidance within ASC 

360 “Property, Plant, and Equipment.”

Pensions
The Company maintains defined benefit pension plans covering 

certain union and non-union employees in the U.S. and Europe. 

As of December 31, 2016, all of the U.S. plans are closed to 

new hires. In addition, future benefit accruals are frozen for a 

number of the plans. During 2016, the Company offered certain 

eligible terminated vested participants in the U.S. pension plans 

the opportunity to elect a lump sum payment of their respective 

pension benefits. As a result of these elections, and significant 

lump sum payouts in the European plans, the Company paid 

benefits of $5.2 million, and incurred a settlement charge of 

$1.5 million in 2016. In 2015, the Company incurred settlement 

charges in both the U.S. and European plans that totaled $0.8 

million as a result of employee retirements, and paid $3.8 million 

from plan assets. In 2014, the Company offered certain eligible 

terminated vested participants in the U.S. pension plans the 

opportunity to elect a lump sum payment of their respective 

pension benefits, and as a result, incurred a settlement charge of 

$1.0 million and paid benefits of $4.4 million. As a result of the 

acquisition of the New Business, the projected benefit obligation 

of the European plans increased $3.9 million in 2016.

Net periodic pension cost, which totaled $4.4 million, $2.0 

million, and $0.8 million in 2016, 2015,and 2014, respectively, is 

calculated based upon a number of actuarial assumptions. These 

assumptions include the long-term rate of return on the defined 

benefit plans’ assets, funding levels, discount rates, and various 

other factors related to employees and retirees participating 

in the defined benefit plans, including retirement age, salary 

increases, and mortality assumptions.
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In 2016 and 2015, the Company assumed an expected 

weighted average long-term rate of return on the Company’s 

defined benefit plans’ assets ranging from 5.28% to 7.00% 

and 5.54% to 7.50%, respectively. For 2017, the expected 

weighted average rate of return on assets will range from 

4.46% to 6.87%. In developing the expected long-term rate 

of return assumption, the Company evaluated input from its 

investment advisors, including their review of asset class return 

expectations as well as long-term inflation assumptions. The 

Company also considered historical returns on asset classes 

and the investment mix. The expected long-term return on 

the U.S. defined benefit plans’ assets is based on a targeted 

asset allocation assumption of approximately 40%-50% with 

equity securities, 45%-55% with fixed-income securities, and 5% 

with other investments. The European defined benefit plans’ 

assets are based on a targeted asset allocation assumption of 

approximately 20%-30% with equity securities, 55%-65% with 

fixed-income securities, and 10%-20% with other investments. 

The Company regularly reviews its asset allocation and 

periodically rebalances its investments to the targeted allocation 

when considered appropriate.

During 2016, the Company funded its defined benefit plans 

with $2.4 million in contributions. The Company expects that it 

will be required, in accordance with its funding policy, to fund 

its defined benefit plans with approximately $4.6 million in 

contributions in 2017.

The discount rate that the Company utilizes for its defined 

benefit plans to determine pension obligations is based on a 

review of long-term bonds that receive one of the two highest 

ratings given by a recognized rating agency. The weighted 

average discount rate determined on this basis has decreased 

from a range of 3.15% to 4.38% as of December 31, 2015 to a 

range of 2.11% to 4.09% as of December 31, 2016.

During 2014, the Society of Actuaries released a new 

mortality table — RP-2014, and a new projection scale 

— MP-2014. As a result of these new tables, the Company 

changed its mortality assumptions for its U.S. plans in 2014. 

The Company adopted the new RP-2014 mortality table and a 

modified version of the new MP-2014 projection scale for the U.S. 

defined benefit plans. The Company has continued to use the 

same mortality tables and the modified version of the projection 

scale in 2015 and 2016. For the European defined benefit plans, 

the Company utilizes country-specific mortality tables and has 

used the same tables for the majority of its European plans since 

2014. In 2016, the Company updated the mortality tables used 

for the UK plans which did not cause a significant increase to the 

projected benefit obligations for those plans.

Amortization of the actuarial net gain or loss as a result of 

experience differing from that assumed and from changes in 

assumptions is included as a component of net periodic pension 

cost for the year. The Company uses a 10% corridor such that if, 

as of the beginning of the year, the net gain or loss exceeds 10% 

of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the market-

related value of plan assets, the amortization is that excess 

divided by the average future working lifetime of participating 

employees expected to receive benefits under the plan or the 

average remaining life expectancy of the plan’s participants if 

the percentage of actives is less than 10% of the total population. 

As only the excess actuarial gain or loss is amortized, this 

approach will not fully amortize the net actuarial gain or loss. 

The Company considers participants whose benefits are frozen 

to be active participants, and considers the plan population 

to be “all or almost all” inactive when at least 90% of the 

population is inactive. Under this methodology, the accumulated 

net actuarial gain/loss amounts recognized in accumulated 

other comprehensive income (loss) are not expected to be 

fully recognized in net periodic pension cost until the plan 

is terminated (or an earlier event, like a settlement, triggers 

recognition) because the average expected remaining service 

of active participants expected to benefit under the plan or the 

average expected remaining lifetime of inactive participants 

over which the amounts are amortized is re-determined each 

year and actuarial gains or losses that fall within the corridor 

described above are not amortized.

The Company estimates that it will record net periodic 

pension cost for the defined benefit pension plans that will 

approximate $3.1 million in 2017. The Company recorded net 

periodic pension cost of $4.4 million in 2016, which included 

a $1.5 million settlement charge. Thus, the 2017 expected net 

periodic pension cost is consistent with the 2016 expense, absent 

the 2016 settlement charge. Future actual net periodic pension 

cost will depend on future investment performance, funding 

levels, changes in discount rates and various other factors 

related to the populations participating in its defined benefit 

plans, including lump sum payouts, which could result in the 

recognition of additional settlement charges. The Company will 

continue to evaluate its actuarial assumptions at least annually, 

and will adjust as necessary.
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A sensitivity analysis of the projected incremental effect 

of a hypothetical one percent change in the significant 

assumptions used in the pension calculations is provided in the 

following table:

Hypothetical Rate Increase (Decrease)

U.S. Plans European Plans

(Dollars in thousands) (1%) 1% (1%) 1%

Discount rate
Pension liabilities as of December 31, 2016 $14,784 $(12,981) $ 8,643 $(6,664)
Pension costs for the year ended December 31, 2016 $ 1,260 $ (1,081) $    310 $   (109)

Indexation(1)

Pension liabilities as of December 31, 2016 $     — $      — $(1,890) $ 2,078
Pension costs for the year ended December 31, 2016 $     — $      — $   (148) $    162

Expected return on plan assets
Pension costs for the year ended December 31, 2016 $    861 $    (862) $    270 $   (270)

Compensation
Pension liabilities as of December 31, 2016 $     (994) $   1,011 $(1,152) $ 1,671
Pension costs for the year ended December 31, 2016 $     (175) $     199 $   (158) $    233

(1) Pension indexation related to the Company’s German Qualified Plan is regulated by German pension law. The law dictates that a pension that is already 
in payment must be adjusted for inflation every 3 years which is measured by the published German price index for the same time interval. Pension 
indexation related to the Company’s UK Chemviron Plan is based on the Consumer Price Index (CPI) in the UK. For this plan, the index is capped at 5% 
per annum for pensions accrued prior to January 1, 2008 and is capped at 2.5% per annum for pensions accrued after December 31, 2007. For purposes 
of the Company’s UK Sutcliffe Speakman plan, the indexation is fixed at 3% per annum for pensions accrued prior to April 6, 1997. For those pensions 
accrued from April 6, 1997 to July 31, 2005, the index is subject to a minimum of 3% per annum and a maximum of 5% per annum. For those pensions 
accrued after July 31, 2005, the index is capped at 2.5% per annum.

Income Taxes
During the ordinary course of business, there are many 

transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 

determination is uncertain. Significant judgment is required 

in determining the Company’s annual effective tax rate and 

in evaluating tax positions. The Company utilizes guidance 

within ASC 740 “Income Taxes” regarding the accounting for 

uncertainty in income taxes. This guidance contains a two-step 

approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions 

taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The first step is 

to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if 

the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely 

than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including 

resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The 

second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount 

that is more than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement.

Although the Company believes it has adequately reserved 

for its uncertain tax positions, no assurance can be given that 

the final tax outcome of these matters will not be different. The 

Company adjusts these reserves in light of changing facts and 

circumstances, such as the closing of a tax audit, the refinement 

of an estimate, or a lapse of a tax statute. To the extent that 

the final tax outcome of these matters is different than the 

amounts recorded, such differences will impact the provision 

for income taxes in the period in which such determination is 

made. The provision for income taxes includes the impact of 

reserve provisions and changes to reserves that are considered 

appropriate, as well as the related penalties and net interest.

The Company is subject to varying statutory tax rates in the 

countries where it conducts business. Fluctuations in the mix of 

the Company’s income between countries will result in changes 

to the Company’s overall effective tax rate.

The Company recognizes benefits associated with foreign 

and domestic net operating loss and credit carryforwards when 

the Company believes that it is more likely than not that its 

future taxable income in the relevant tax jurisdictions will be 

sufficient to enable the realization of the tax benefits. As of 

December 31, 2016, the Company had recorded total deferred 

tax assets of $44.4 million, of which $7.8 million represents tax 

benefits resulting from $0.2 million of unused U.S. foreign tax 

credits, $4.9 million of net operating losses, $1.4 million of state 

tax credits, and a capital loss carryover of $0.8 million. State 

operating loss carryforwards of $0.5 million, net, expire from 

2018 to 2036, of which approximately 92% will begin to expire 

after 2021, if not utilized.

The Company periodically reviews the need for a valuation 

allowance against deferred tax assets and recognizes these 

deferred tax assets to the extent that realization is more 

likely than not. Based upon a review of earnings history 

and trends, forecasted earnings and the relevant expiration 

of carryforwards, the Company believes that the valuation 

allowances provided are appropriate. As of December 31, 
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2016, the Company has recorded a valuation allowance of 

approximately $2.5 million related to foreign net operating 

losses, domestic capital loss carryovers, U.S. passive foreign tax 

credits and state tax credits.

Approximately 88% of the Company’s deferred tax assets, 

or $39.2 million, represent temporary differences associated 

with pensions, accruals, and inventories. Approximately 73% 

of the Company’s deferred tax liabilities of $62.1 million as of 

December 31, 2016 relate to temporary differences associated 

with property, plant and equipment. These temporary 

differences will reverse in the future due to the realization of 

temporary differences between annual book and tax reporting. 

The Company believes that the deferred tax liabilities generally 

will impact taxable income of the same character (ordinary 

income), timing, and jurisdiction as the deferred tax assets.

Contingencies
The Company is involved in various asserted and unasserted 

legal claims. An estimate is made to accrue for a loss 

contingency relating to any of these legal claims if it is 

probable that a liability was incurred at the date of the financial 

statements and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. 

Because of the subjective nature inherent in assessing the 

outcome of legal claims and because the potential that an 

adverse outcome in a legal claim could have a material impact 

on the Company’s legal position or results of operations, such 

estimates are considered to be critical accounting estimates. 

Legal fees associated with defending these various lawsuits and 

claims are expensed when incurred. The Company will continue 

to evaluate all legal matters as additional information becomes 

available. Reference is made to Note 16 of the consolidated 

financial statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report for a 

discussion of litigation and contingencies.

Long-Lived Assets
The Company evaluates long-lived assets under the provisions 

of ASC 360 “Property, Plant, and Equipment” which addresses 

financial accounting and reporting for the impairment of long-

lived assets, and for disposal of long-lived assets. For assets to be 

held and used, the Company groups a long-lived asset or assets 

with other assets and liabilities at the lowest level for which 

identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows 

of other assets and liabilities. An impairment loss for an asset 

group reduces only the carrying amounts of a long-lived asset 

or assets of the group being evaluated. The loss is allocated to 

the long-lived assets of the group on a pro-rata basis using the 

relative carrying amounts of those assets, except that the loss 

allocated to an individual long-lived asset of the group does 

not reduce the carrying amount of that asset below its fair 

value whenever that fair value is determinable without undue 

cost and effort. Estimates of future cash flows used to test the 

recoverability of a long-lived asset group include only the future 

cash flows that are directly associated with and that are expected 

to arise as a direct result of the use and eventual disposition of 

the asset group.

New Accounting Pronouncements
Refer to Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in 

Item 8 of this Annual Report, which is incorporated herein by 

reference, for details on recently issued accounting guidance.

Outlook

Activated Carbon and Service
According to the Company and independent market research 

estimates, demand for activated carbon is forecasted to 

increase at a 3% - 6% compound annual growth rate from 2016 

through 2021. This estimated growth is expected to be driven 

by increasing global demand for clean air and drinking water 

as a result of expected economic growth generally, heightened 

public and consumer awareness of the harmful impacts to 

human health of contaminants in air and water supplies, and 

new and continuing government regulations. In addition, 

expected long-term growth of the economies of both mature and 

developing countries around the world are expected to increase 

the demand for activated carbon for use in industrial and food 

and beverage production processes and related wastewater 

treatment applications.

The ultimate pace of future demand growth for activated 

carbon will be dependent upon many factors, including: the 

ultimate pace of global economic growth, including potential 

negative impacts of short or prolonged economic slowdowns in 

any one or several geographic regions. Future demand growth 

is also dependent on the impact and timing of potential new air 

and water regulations as well as potential changes to existing 

regulations, including the potential impact of environmental 

policies of the new Presidential administration installed in the 

U.S. in January of 2017. Changes in corporate income tax and 

cross-border tax policies in the U.S. and other countries, and, as 

it relates more specifically to the Company, potential negative 

impacts of a stronger U.S. dollar versus other global currencies 

could also impact future demand growth.

As a result of the Company’s significant participation 

in providing high performing virgin activated carbon 

and reactivated carbon and services to meet the market 

requirements, the Company expects demand for its activated 
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carbon products and services to increase over the longer term. 

Globally, the Company derives approximately one-third of 

its sales from industrial sector customers through providing 

activated carbon and services for their industrial process, 

environmental water and environmental air end market 

application needs. During 2016, the Company experienced a 

decline in sales of its products due to soft global industrial 

sector market conditions. As 2016 came to a close, the Company 

believes that market conditions impacting industrial sector 

customers were stabilizing and that it was beginning to see early 

indications that the industrial sector economic environment 

may be improving. While this provides the Company with 

cautious optimism about the potential for an industrial 

sector recovery and a related increase in revenues from these 

customers in 2017, the Company currently expects 2017 sales in 

this sector to be approximately level with 2016.

The Company currently expects growth in sales over 2016 

for certain municipal drinking water applications and for 

mercury removal from flue gas emissions of coal-fired power 

plants. Increased public awareness of the presence and human 

health impacts of man-made chemicals and naturally occurring 

contaminants in drinking water is expected to contribute to 

growth of the Company’s municipal drinking water business in 

2017 and into the future. Chemicals from industrial processes 

and other activities can contaminate groundwater wells and 

surface water sources. Many of these chemicals are currently 

unregulated and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 

(EPA) and other state-level agencies may or may not regulate 

these contaminants in the future. The Company has seen 

recent activity at the consumer level demonstrating that 

communities are demanding drinking water that is free from 

contaminants regardless of the current regulatory status of 

those contaminants. Chemical releases that impact sources 

of drinking water highlight the need for utilities to provide 

barrier defenses against such events in both groundwater 

and surface water. Granular activated carbon (GAC) is an ideal 

technology for this purpose and the Company expects utilities 

to look to install GAC to provide protection against spills and 

contamination. Most recently, concern regarding the presence of 

perfluorinated compounds (PFCs) in drinking water sources has 

led to an increase in both inquiries and orders from numerous 

utilities as well as remediation projects across the U.S. In May 

2016, after a large number of community water systems found 

PFC contamination in drinking water sources, the U.S. EPA 

issued a health advisory limit for PFOA and PFOS, the two 

most common PFCs. A health advisory limit is non-enforceable 

and non-regulatory and is meant to inform state agencies and 

public health officials about the subject contaminants. Many 

utilities have measured PFC levels above the EPA health advisory 

limit, resulting in “do not drink” alerts in many communities. 

In addition, several states are currently considering issuing 

maximum contaminant levels that are considerably lower than 

the health advisory limits established by the EPA. As a result, 

the Company has won a number of projects across the country 

related to PFC removal and is continuing to pursue additional 

active projects in this area. A substantial portion of the sales 

of an initial PFC removal project tends to be related to the 

procurement of carbon adsorption equipment that is provided 

by the Company’s Equipment segment. In a similar vein, 

1,2,3-Trichloropropane (1,2,3-TCP) in groundwater has become a 

major issue in California, and to a lesser extent in New York and 

New Jersey, and the Company has received equipment orders in 

California and New Jersey and is presently handling inquiries for 

several more. Harmful algal blooms can also present a human 

health risk to community drinking water supplies; both GAC and 

powdered activated carbon (PAC) have been used successfully to 

protect against the intrusion of algal toxins in drinking water 

systems. Use of GAC can protect water treatment plants from the 

harmful effects of algal bloom toxicity, while increased dosing of 

PAC can also help when algal blooms are detected.

In addition, the Company expects to see ongoing business 

as municipalities continue to adopt the usage of GAC to 

comply with the U.S. EPA’s Stage 2 Disinfection Byproducts 

(DBP) Rule, for which the compliance requirements became 

effective between 2013 and 2015. While the Company has been 

successful in attracting municipalities to utilize GAC for Stage 

2 DBP compliance, many utilities currently use alternative 

disinfectants, such as chloramines, as their primary means 

to comply with the DBP Stage 2 Rule. Disinfection with 

chloramines, however, can result in the formation of emerging 

classes of harmful DBP’s, many of which are not currently 

regulated under the DBP Stage 2 rule. In this regard, the 

EPA is completing its Six Year Review of the DBP Rule, which 

could in turn lead to a new Stage 3 DBP Rule, which might 

include a number of these emerging classes of DBPs and could 

drive additional municipalities to adopt GAC. Although the 

Company does not expect a DBP Stage 3 rule limiting the use of 

chloramines or the DBPs formed by chloramine disinfection to 

go into effect for a number of years, the volume of GAC required 

to meet these needs could be significant. The Company estimates 

that the municipal water systems in nine of the largest cities in 

the U.S. that currently use chloramines to meet their DBP Stage 

2 compliance requirements would need initial installations, in 

the aggregate, of approximately 330 million pounds of GAC. 
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Some of these utilities are already involved in studies or pilot 

test programs to evaluate the use of GAC to meet their DBP 

treatment needs. It is possible that some of these, or other 

municipalities that are treating for DBPs using chloramines, will 

choose to switch to GAC prior to the issuance of a DBP Stage 3 

regulation. As more municipalities move to install GAC for the 

various reasons mentioned, the Company expects to see more 

municipalities adopt the use of its custom municipal reactivation 

(CMR) services.

In Europe, the Company expects sales growth in 2017 

primarily from higher demand for drinking water applications, 

excluding potential negative impacts of currency translation. 

In this regard the Company has a multi-year contract with a 

large water provider in the United Kingdom (UK) and will supply 

virgin carbon and reactivation services for up to the remaining 

seven year period from its upgraded Tipton plant in the UK.

China had also announced that it will commit billions of 

dollars to water and wastewater improvements. Investments are 

underway, but have been slower than anticipated. The Company 

continues to monitor this situation closely. China has also 

tightened the regulations for VOC emissions, which is resulting 

in new reactivation opportunities.

In the environmental air market, the Company has 

established itself as a market leading supplier of PAC in North 

America for the removal of mercury from the flue gas of 

coal-fired power plants, a significant market that completed its 

formation in April 2016 in compliance with the Mercury and Air 

Toxics Standards (MATS) regulation, as well as regulations that 

had previously been in effect in 19 states and Canada. Based 

on standard PAC products, the Company estimates the annual 

demand for mercury removal in North America is between 250 

million to 350 million pounds. This annual estimated demand 

can be impacted by the price of natural gas relative to coal (as 

electric generating units that are fueled with natural gas do not 

require PAC to remove mercury emissions as do coal-fired units) 

and abnormal weather conditions that could lead to higher or 

lower levels of required electricity generation. The Company’s 

advanced PAC mercury removal products, which can have 

carbon usage rates of 50% to 90% less than alternative products, 

are important to its ongoing success in this market. The 

Company’s expectation is that its ongoing share of the value of 

this market will be at least 30%. Based on 2017 representing the 

first complete year of compliance with MATS, and the Company’s 

success at capturing net new market share in 2017 relative to 

2016, the Company expects its 2017 revenues into this market to 

experience moderate growth compared to 2016. Over the longer 

term, it is expected that the number of coal fired generating 

units utilized in North America will ultimately decline and lead 

to a decline in the annual estimated market size.

In addition to mercury regulations in North America, China 

has announced plans for mercury removal from its coal-fired 

power plants. The plans, as announced, stipulate levels of 

mercury removal that would not likely result in large activated 

carbon sales. However, trials will purportedly be conducted to 

establish removal requirements.

The Company believes that fair pricing for activated carbon 

in the U.S. is being achieved via the application of a tariff 

imposed on Chinese steam activated carbon. Under the anti-

dumping rules, importers of steam activated carbon from China 

are potentially required to pay anti-dumping duties. The U.S. 

Department of Commerce (Commerce Department) conducts 

reviews in order to determine whether changes (increases 

or decreases) should be made to the anti-dumping tariff rate 

applicable to any foreign exporter. These retrospective reviews 

occur annually while the anti-dumping duty order (the order) is 

in effect (the current order is scheduled to expire in March 2018). 

Refer to Note 16 of the consolidated financial statements in Item 

8 of this Annual Report for further details.

Through a series of initiatives that began in 2012, including 

additional capital investment; plant efficiency studies; and, 

product rationalization, the Company successfully increased its 

virgin carbon manufacturing capacity from an estimated 142 

million pounds per year to approximately 164 million pounds 

per year. In addition, over this same timeframe, the Company 

has been successfully promoting its reactivation offerings to 

U.S. drinking water customers. Increasing the utilization of 

the Company’s available reactivation capacity has also had 

the intended impact of freeing up – and effectively increasing 

– its virgin activated carbon capacity available for customers 

requiring virgin activated carbon products. No significant virgin 

bituminous coal-based activated carbon capacity expansion 

projects are planned for 2017. However, the previously planned 

project to refurbish and expand the Company’s Pittsburgh, 

Pennsylvania reactivation facility is expected to continue in 2017 

and into early 2018. 

Raw material costs for production in 2017 are expected to 

be comparable to 2016. The Company’s most significant raw 

material cost is coal. The quantity of coal consumed varies based 

on the overall production levels achieved as well as the mix of 

products manufactured during the year. As of December 31, 

2016, the Company has approximately 88% of its anticipated 

coal requirements for the remainder of 2017 under contract or 

in inventory.
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Equipment
The Company’s equipment business is somewhat cyclical in 

nature and depends on both regulations and the general health 

of the overall economy. In 2017, the Company expects moderate 

growth from 2016 due to expected higher demand for activated 

carbon adsorption equipment related to the treatment of PFC’s 

and 1,2,3 TCP discussed in the Activated Carbon and Service 

section above, as well as from expected higher demand in 2017 

for ballast water treatment systems (BWTS). The Company 

believes that global demand for its other UV equipment systems 

will continue for a variety of applications including drinking 

water, wastewater, and advanced oxidation.

BWTS are used to filter and disinfect the water carried in the 

ballast tanks of ships to prevent the transfer of organisms from 

one aquatic ecosystem to another, where such organisms could 

be potentially harmful. Driving the future demand for BWTS 

are the U.S. Coast Guard (USCG) Final Rule applicable to treating 

ballast water discharges in the U.S., and the International 

Maritime Organization’s (IMO) International Convention 

for the Control and Management of Ships’ Ballast Water and 

Sediments (IMO Convention) applicable to treating ballast water 

discharges internationally.

Each regulation requires the management of a ship’s ballast 

water, generally through the use of a Type Approved BWTS. The 

Company’s Hyde GUARDIAN® UV-based BWTS are one of more 

than 60 BWTS to have achieved Type Approval under the IMO 

Convention, and it expects to commence testing in March 2017 

to ready itself to apply for Type Approval under the USCG Final 

Rule in late 2017.

Recent positive regulatory developments in this market 

include the September 8, 2016 ratification of the IMO Convention 

– which calls for it to enter into force on September 8, 2017, 

and the USCG’s December 2016 granting of its first three 

BWTS Type Approvals, two of which were for UV light-based 

systems. Although the USCG Final Rule phased into effect on 

January 1, 2014 and January 1, 2016, the lack of availability of 

any type approved systems until just recently has led to the 

USCG issuing over 11,500 vessel compliance extensions as of 

December 16, 2016.

As a result of these developments, the Company began 

experiencing a notable increase in customer inquiries for its 

BWTS compared to activity earlier in 2016. It expects the pace 

of activity to remain robust throughout 2017, and lead to higher 

BWTS equipment sales in late 2017 and continuing into 2018. 

The timing and pace of this expected increase in sales will be 

dependent upon a number of variables including the Company’s 

level of success in completing its USCG testing in 2017 as well 

as the IMO enforcing compliance with its regulation on the 

September 8, 2017 effective date. 

The Company currently estimates the size of the future 

market for BWTS to be in the range of $18 billion to $28 billion 

and be applicable to approximately 64,000 vessels (both retrofit 

and new build vessels), with a majority of these vessels expected 

to be outfitted with BWTS equipment over the next 5 to 7 years. 

Factors influencing the size of the market include pricing, the 

ultimate number of vessels to be retrofit, the future economic 

health of the shipping industry, the number of manufacturers 

who are ultimately able to effectively serve this market, and 

ongoing uncertainty surrounding USCG regulation compliance 

enforcement, and the ultimate vessel implementation schedule 

to be enforced for IMO Convention compliance.

Backlog for the Equipment segment as of December 31, 2016 

was $10.9 million.

Consumer
The Company’s Consumer segment supplies activated carbon 

cloth for use in medical, military and specialty applications. 

The Company anticipates future growth in medical applications 

for wound care as its cloth aids in the healing process while 

providing odor control. The Company continues to focus 

additional marketing and sales resources to this area of its 

business, and expects to see modest annual growth in 2017.

Other
The activities included in Other are exclusively comprised of the 

New Business acquired by the Company in November 2016, and 

primarily consists of the manufacture and sale of wood-based 

activated carbon and diatomaceous earth (DE) filtration media 

in Europe and Asia.

The New Business’ wood-based activated carbon activities 

– with annual production capacity located in France of 

approximately 22 million pounds – are a component of 

the global activated carbon market described above in the 

discussion of the Activated Carbon and Service segment. 

However, its current activities are not dependent upon 

environmental regulations, and are primarily leveraged to 

industrial (including fine chemicals and pharmaceutical 

production) and food and beverage market applications. The 

Company estimates these markets will grow in line with the 

general health of the overall economy.

Similarly, the New Business’ DE filtration media capabilities 

are primarily leveraged to food and beverage and industrial 

end markets. With annual capacity located in France of 

approximately 160 million pounds, the Company expects to see 

a continuation of solid and steady demand for its DE products, 

particularly in Europe where only approximately 60% of that 

region’s annual demand is satisfied by the capacity of the 

Company and other regional manufacturers. 

The Company currently expects the New Business to 

contribute approximately $100 million to the Company’s 

sales in 2017.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk:

Commodity Price Risk
In the normal course of its business, the Company is exposed 

to market risk or price fluctuations related to the production 

of activated carbon products. Coal and natural gas, which are 

significant to the manufacturing of activated carbon, have 

market prices that fluctuate regularly. Based on the estimated 

2017 usage and price of coal and natural gas not under contract 

as of January 1, 2017, a hypothetical 10% increase (or decrease) 

in the price of coal and natural gas, would result in the pre-tax 

loss (or gain) of $0.5 million and $2.5 million, respectively.

To mitigate the risk of fluctuating prices, the Company has 

entered into long-term contracts or derivative contracts to hedge 

the purchase of a percentage of the estimated need of coal and 

natural gas at fixed prices. The future commitments under 

the long-term contracts, which provide economic hedges, are 

disclosed within Note 15 of the consolidated financial statements 

in Item 8 of this Annual Report. The fair value of the cash-flow 

hedges for natural gas is disclosed in Note 6 of the consolidated 

financial statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Interest Rate Risk
The Company’s net exposure to interest rate risk consists 

primarily of borrowings under its U.S. and Japanese credit 

agreements described within Note 8 of the consolidated financial 

statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report. The Company’s U.S. 

Amended Credit Agreement bears interest at rates that are based 

off of the prime rate, LIBOR, or Fed Funds rate, plus a margin 

rate based on the Company’s leverage ratio. As of December 

31, 2016, the Company had $225.0 million of borrowings under 

the U.S. Amended Credit Agreement. The Company’s Japanese 

Credit Agreement also bears interest at variable rates, however 

there were no borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2016. 

A hypothetical one percentage point increase in the interest 

rates on the December 31, 2016 outstanding balances under the 

Company’s variable rate borrowing arrangements would cause 

annual interest costs to increase by approximately $2.3 million.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
The Company is subject to risk of price fluctuations related to 

anticipated revenues and operating costs, firm commitments 

for capital expenditures, and existing assets and liabilities 

denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars. The Company 

enters into foreign currency forward exchange contracts and 

purchases options to manage these exposures. A hypothetical 

10% strengthening (or weakening) of the U.S. dollar against the 

British Pound Sterling, Canadian Dollar, Mexican Peso, Brazilian 

Real, Chinese Yuan, Japanese Yen, Singapore Dollar, Danish 

Krone, Swedish Krona, and Euro as of December 31, 2016 would 

result in a pre-tax loss (or gain) of approximately $2.1 million. 

The foreign currency forward exchange contracts purchased 

during 2016 have been accounted for according to ASC 815 

“Derivatives and Hedging.”
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data:

REPORT OF MANAGEMENT

Responsibility for Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial 

statements included in this Annual Report. The Consolidated 

Financial Statements were prepared in accordance with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 

of America and include amounts that are based on the best 

estimates and judgments of management.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over 
Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining 

adequate internal controls over financial reporting as defined 

in Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control system is designed 

to provide reasonable assurance concerning the reliability of 

the financial data used in the preparation of the Company’s 

financial statements, as well as reasonable assurance 

with respect to safeguarding the Company’s assets from 

unauthorized use or disposition. However, no matter how well 

designed and operated, an internal control system can provide 

only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of 

the control system are met.

During fiscal year 2016, the Company acquired the wood-

based activated carbon, reactivation and mineral-based filtration 

media business of CECA, a subsidiary of Arkema Group (New 

Business). For purposes of Management’s evaluation of the 

Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of 

December 31, 2016, we have elected to exclude the New Business 

from the scope of management’s assessment as permitted 

by guidance provided by the U.S. Securities and Exchange 

Commission. The acquisition was completed on November 2, 

2016. The New Business represents approximately 24% of our 

consolidated assets at December 31, 2016 and contributed 

2% of total net sales for the year ended December 31, 2016. 

Management is in the process of integrating the New Business 

into the Company’s internal control framework. This acquired 

business will be included in management’s annual report on the 

effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls over financial 

reporting in fiscal year 2017.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness 

of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as 

of December 31, 2016. In making this evaluation, management 

used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring 

Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal 

Control — Integrated Framework (2013). Management’s 

evaluation included reviewing the documentation of our 

controls, evaluating the design effectiveness of controls, and 

testing their operating effectiveness.

A material weakness is defined as a significant deficiency or 

combination of significant deficiencies, in internal control over 

financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility 

that a material misstatement in the annual or interim financial 

statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely 

basis. In connection with management’s assessment of our 

internal control over financial reporting as described above, 

management concluded there was a material weakness in the 

design of our internal control over financial reporting as of 

December 31, 2016 related to the recognition of revenue for a 

subset of transactions within the U.S. potable water market. 

In these instances, certain contracts were inappropriately 

bifurcated and revenue was recognized prior to the completion 

of the revenue recognition criteria. Management determined 

the Company’s controls were not designed to properly identify 

and assess revenue recognition criteria ensuring all such criteria 

were considered and met prior to the recording of revenue. 

Given this material weakness, management concluded the 

Company did not maintain effective internal control over 

financial reporting as of December 31, 2016.

Notwithstanding such material weakness, management has 

concluded that the consolidated financial statements included 

in the Form 10-K present fairly, in all material respects, our 

financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the 

periods presented in conformity with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the U.S.

The effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting 

as of December 31, 2016, has been audited by Deloitte & Touche 

LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, who also 

audited our consolidated financial statements. Deloitte & Touche 

LLP’s attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal 

control over financial reporting appears after this Report 

of Management.
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Remediation of Material Weakness in Internal Control 
We are committed to the remediation of the material weakness 

in a timely manner. We have begun the process of developing 

a remediation plan that will address the material weakness in 

internal control over financial reporting. Specifically, we intend 

to implement the following changes:

• Revise the Company’s revenue recognition policy 

with more detailed guidance on the identification and 

application of revenue recognition criteria, specifically as it 

relates to contracts within the U.S. potable water market. 

• Implement training within the appropriate areas 

of the business regarding the Company’s revenue 

recognition policy.

• Establish a Compliance function that will work with the 

business units and corporate accounting to assess business 

processes and enhance internal controls, including 

those internal controls over the assessment of revenue 

recognition criteria as it relates to the contracts impacted 

by the material weakness described above.

On a quarterly basis, the status of the remediation 

implementation will be provided to the Company’s Audit 

Committee. The Company will monitor the effectiveness of these 

remediation actions once the plans are implemented. We believe 

the actions described above will strengthen our internal controls 

over financial reporting related to the revenue recognition 

process for this subset of transactions, and will, once completed, 

address the material weakness that we identified in our internal 

controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016.

Changes in Internal Control
There have not been any changes in the Company’s internal 

controls over financial reporting, other than the above 

mentioned acquisition, that occurred during the fourth quarter 

of 2016, which have materially affected, or are reasonably 

likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over 

financial reporting.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS — REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Calgon Carbon Corporation

Moon Township, Pennsylvania

We have audited Calgon Carbon Corporation’s and subsidiaries’ (the “Company’s”) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, 

based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 

Commission. As described in Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management excluded from its assessment the 

internal control over financial reporting at the wood-based activated carbon, reactivation and mineral-based filtration media business of CECA (the 

“New Business”), which was acquired on November 2, 2016 and whose financial statements constitute 24% of consolidated assets and 2% of total 

net sales of the consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016. Accordingly, our audit did not include 

the internal control over financial reporting at the New Business. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal 

control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, include in the accompanying 

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control 

over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was 

maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk 

that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on that risk, and performing 

such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal executive 

and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other 

personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies 

and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and disposi-

tions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in 

accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 

detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management 

override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any 

evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become 

inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable 

possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. 

The following material weakness has been identified and included in management's assessment: For a subset of transactions within the U.S. potable 

water market, certain contracts were inappropriately bifurcated and revenue was recognized prior to the completion of the revenue recognition 

criteria. The Company’s controls were not designed to properly identify and assess revenue recognition criteria ensuring all such criteria were 

considered and met prior to the recording of revenue. This material weakness was considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit 

tests applied in our audit of the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016, of the Company and this report 

does not affect our report on such financial statements. 

In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weakness identified above on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, the 

Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on the criteria established in Internal 

Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated 

financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016, of the Company and our report dated March 1, 2017 expressed an unqualified 

opinion on those financial statements.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

March 1, 2017
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Calgon Carbon Corporation

Moon Township, Pennsylvania

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Calgon Carbon Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 

2016 and 2015, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years 

in the period ended December 31, 2016. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to 

express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstate-

ment. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 

includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial state-

ment presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Calgon Carbon Corporation 

and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period 

ended December 31, 2016, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company’s 

internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013)

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 1, 2017, expressed an adverse 

opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting because of a material weakness.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

March 1, 2017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Calgon Carbon Corporation

Year Ended December 31

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2016 2015 2014

Net sales $514,246 $535,004 $555,103

Cost of products sold (excluding depreciation and amortization)  346,398  343,522  363,014
Depreciation and amortization  38,070  35,453  30,470
Selling, general and administrative expenses  99,815  84,810  80,860
Research and development expenses  5,441  6,425  6,406
Restructuring income  —  —  (252)

 489,724  470,210  480,498

Income from operations  24,522  64,794  74,605

Interest income  99  58  77
Interest expense  (2,385) (773)  (263)
Other expense — net  (2,163)  (693)  (1,911)

Income before income tax provision  20,073  63,386  72,508
Income tax provision (Note 14)  6,276  19,923  23,138

Net income  13,797  43,463  49,370

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (Note 12) 
Foreign currency translation  (10,956)  (13,013)  (14,850)
Defined benefit pension plans  (1,899)  (116)  (11,908)
Derivatives  886  (991)  388

Total other comprehensive loss  (11,969)  (14,120)  (26,370)

Total comprehensive income $   1,828 $ 29,343 $ 23,000

Net income per common share 

Basic $    0.27 $    0.84 $    0.93

Diluted $    0.27 $    0.82 $    0.92

Dividends per common share $    0.20 $    0.20 $      —

Weighted average shares outstanding, in thousands
Basic  50,259  51,902  53,042
Diluted  51,023  52,709  53,941

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
Calgon Carbon Corporation

December 31

(Dollars in thousands) 2016 2015

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $   37,984 $   53,629
Receivables (net of allowance of $1,416 and $1,675)  108,056  96,674
Revenue recognized in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts  6,998  9,156
Inventories  125,115  110,364
Deferred income taxes — current  —  22,537
Other current assets  13,437  15,365

Total current assets  291,590  307,725

Property, plant and equipment, net  366,442  311,019
Intangibles, net  40,543  5,961
Goodwill  66,316  25,777
Deferred income taxes — long-term  7,957  2,816
Other assets  2,370  3,220

Total assets $ 775,218 $ 656,518

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $   74,493 $   53,716
Billings in excess of revenue recognized on uncompleted contracts  4,063  3,581
Payroll and benefits payable  15,458  13,753
Accrued income taxes  1,641  2,091
Current portion of long-term debt  5,000  7,500

Total current liabilities  100,655  80,641

Long-term debt  220,000  103,941
Deferred income taxes — long-term  25,624  41,383
Accrued pension and other liabilities  47,796  36,562

Total liabilities  394,075  262,527

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 15 and 16)

Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 

61,531,025 and 61,300,553 shares issued (Note 11)  615  613

Additional paid-in capital  185,791  181,676
Retained earnings  402,286  398,627
Treasury stock, at cost, 10,781,001 and 10,232,612 shares (153,950) (145,295)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (53,599) (41,630)

Total stockholders’ equity  381,143  393,991

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 775,218 $ 656,518

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



54 C A L G O N C A R B O N C O R P O R AT I O N

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Calgon Carbon Corporation

Year Ended December 31

(Dollars in thousands) 2016 2015 2014

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $   13,797 $ 43,463 $ 49,370
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization  38,070  35,453  30,470
Employee benefit plan provisions  4,376  2,044  1,186
Stock-based compensation  4,058  3,761  3,748
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense  (5,392) 6,782  9,213
Changes in assets and liabilities — net of effects from foreign exchange:

Receivables  (3,665)  (4,751)  (3,137)
Inventories  3,692  (14,805)  7,907
Revenue in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts and other current assets  5,302  53  (5,503)
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities  11,247  1,112  (4,103)

Pension contributions  (2,426)  (3,056)  (3,505)
Other items — net  (87)  (175)  (1,298)

Net cash provided by operating activities  68,972  69,881  84,348

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of assets  1,234  —  451
Purchase of business - net of cash (Note 20)  (153,599)  —  —
Capital expenditures  (31,870)  (62,264)  (63,459)
Government grants received  —  —  1,209

Net cash used in investing activities (184,235)  (62,264)  (61,799)

Cash flows from financing activities
Japanese working capital loan borrowings — short-term  —  1,643  3,330
Japanese working capital loan repayments — short-term  —  (2,490)  (4,301)
Credit agreement borrowings — long-term  328,249  111,400  97,200
Credit agreement repayments — long-term  (210,650)  (70,400) (56,750)
Repayment of term loan — long-term  (4,002)  —  —
Reductions of debt obligations  —  —  (1,880)
Treasury stock purchased  (8,655)  (35,634)  (40,190)
Common stock dividends paid  (10,138)  (10,430)  —
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options  286  1,095  2,199
Other financing  5,709  —  —

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  100,799  (4,816)  (392)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (1,181)  (2,305)  (1,966)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (15,645)  496  20,191
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  53,629  53,133  32,942

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $   37,984 $ 53,629 $ 53,133

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Calgon Carbon Corporation

(Dollars in thousands)

Common
Stock

Shares
Common

Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
 Loss

Treasury
Stock

Shares
Treasury

Stock 

Total
Stockholders'

Equity

Balance, December 31, 2013 (Note 11)  60,885,920 $609 $170,283 $316,224 $ (1,140)  6,242,326 $ (69,471) $416,505

2014
Net income  —  —  —  49,370  —  —  —  49,370
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax 

(Note 12)  —  —  —  —  (26,370)  —  —  (26,370)
Employee and director stock plans  237,339  3  6,155  —  —  —  —  6,158
Share repurchase (Note 11)  —  —  —  —  —  1,930,841  (39,725)  (39,725)
Treasury stock purchased  —  —  —  —  —  23,205  (465)  (465)

Balance, December 31, 2014 (Note 11)  61,123,259 $612 $176,438 $365,594 $(27,510) 8,196,372 $(109,661) $405,473

2015
Net income  —  —  —  43,463  —  —  —  43,463
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax 

(Note 12)  —  —  —  —  (14,120)  —  —  (14,120)
Cash dividends  —  —  —  (10,430)  —  —  —  (10,430)
Employee and director stock plans  177,294  1  5,238  —  —  —  —  5,239
Share repurchase (Note 11)  —  —  —  —  —  2,002,444  (34,952)  (34,952)
Treasury stock purchased  —  —  —  —  —  33,796  (682)  (682)

Balance, December 31, 2015 (Note 11)  61,300,553 $613 $181,676 $398,627 $(41,630)  10,232,612 $(145,295) $393,991

2016
Net income  —  —  —  13,797  —  —  —  13,797
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax 

(Note 12)  —  —  —  —  (11,969)  —  —  (11,969)
Cash dividends  —  —  —  (10,138) —  —  —  (10,138)
Employee and director stock plans  230,472  2  4,115  —  —  —  —  4,117
Share repurchase (Note 11)  —  —  —  —  —  518,576  (8,201)  (8,201)
Treasury stock purchased  —  —  —  —  —  29,813  (454)  (454)

Balance, December 31, 2016 (Note 11)  61,531,025 $615 $185,791 $402,286 $(53,599)  10,781,001 $(153,950) $381,143

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Calgon Carbon Corporation 
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts or as otherwise noted)

1. Summary of Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. requires 

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 

the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure 

of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 

statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 

during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from 

those estimates.

Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform 

to the current year presentation. These reclassifications had no 

impact on the Company’s previously reported net income, cash 

flows, or stockholders’ equity.

Foreign Currency
Substantially all assets and liabilities of the Company’s inter-

national operations are translated at year-end exchange rates; 

income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates 

prevailing during the year. Translation adjustments represent 

other comprehensive income or loss and are accumulated in a 

separate component of stockholders’ equity. Transaction gains 

and losses are included in Other expense-net.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue and related costs are recognized when goods are 

shipped or services are rendered to customers provided that 

ownership and risk of loss have passed to the customer, the price 

to the customer is fixed or determinable, persuasive evidence 

of an arrangement exists and collection is reasonably assured. 

Revenue for major equipment projects is recognized under the 

percentage of completion method. The Company’s major equip-

ment projects generally have a long project life cycle from bid 

solicitation to project completion. The nature of the contracts 

are generally fixed price with milestone billings. The Company 

recognizes revenue for these projects based on the fixed sales 

prices multiplied by the percentage of completion. In applying 

the percentage of completion method, a project’s percent 

complete as of any balance sheet date is computed as the ratio 

of total costs incurred to date divided by the total estimated 

costs at completion. As changes in the estimates of total costs at 

completion and/or estimated total losses on projects are identi-

fied, appropriate earnings adjustments are recorded during the 

period that the change is identified. The Company has a history 

of making reasonably dependable estimates of costs at comple-

tion on contracts that follow the percentage of completion 

method; however, due to uncertainties inherent in the estima-

tion process, it is possible that actual project costs at completion 

Operations
Calgon Carbon Corporation (the Company) is a global leader 

in innovative solutions, high quality products and reliable 

services designed to protect human health and the environment 

from harmful contaminants in water, and air. As a leading 

manufacturer of activated carbon, with broad capabilities in 

ultraviolet light disinfection, the Company provides purification 

solutions for drinking water, wastewater, pollution abatement, 

and a variety of industrial and commercial manufacturing 

processes. The Company’s operations are principally conducted 

in four business segments: Activated Carbon and Service, 

Equipment, Consumer, and Other. Each of these segments 

includes the production, design and marketing of products and 

services specifically developed for the purification, separation 

and concentration of liquids and gases and other media. The 

Activated Carbon and Service segment relies on activated carbon 

as a base material, while the Equipment segment relies on a 

variety of methods and materials which involve other products 

in addition to activated carbon. The Consumer segment supplies 

activated carbon cloth for use in military, industrial, and 

medical applications. The Company’s largest markets are in 

the United States (U.S.), Europe, and Japan. The Company also 

has markets in Africa, Canada, China, India, Latin America, 

and in other parts of Asia. On November 2, 2016, the Company 

completed the acquisition of the wood-based activated carbon, 

reactivation, and mineral-based filtration media business of 

CECA, a subsidiary of Arkema Group (New Business). With the 

complementary New Business located in Europe, the Company 

becomes an even more global and diverse industry leader in acti-

vated carbon, reactivation, and filtration media in the form of 

diatomaceous earth and perlites. For purposes of reporting the 

results of its segments in 2016, Other is exclusively comprised of 

the New Business subsequent to its acquisition. Refer to Notes 18 

and 20 for additional information regarding the acquisition.

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of 

majority-owned and controlled subsidiaries. Investments in 

business entities in which the Company does not have control, 

but has the ability to exercise significant influence over the oper-

ating and financial policies, are accounted for under the equity 

method. All intercompany transactions and accounts have been 

eliminated in consolidation.
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could vary from estimates. The principal components of costs 

include material, direct labor, subcontracts, and allocated 

indirect costs. Indirect costs primarily consist of administrative 

labor and associated operating expenses, which are allocated to 

the respective projects on actual hours charged to the project 

utilizing a standard hourly rate.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid, short-term investments 

made with an original maturity of three months or less to be 

cash equivalents. From time to time, the Company could have 

cash deposited with financial institutions in excess of federally 

insured limits. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company 

had $4.8 million and zero, respectively, of cash deposits with U.S. 

financial institutions in excess of federally insured limits. The 

Company’s foreign subsidiaries held cash and cash equivalents 

of $27.4 million and $45.1 million as of December 31, 2016 and 

2015, respectively. Generally, cash and cash equivalents held by 

foreign subsidiaries are not readily available for use in the U.S. 

without adverse tax consequences.

Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to 

concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash 

equivalents and customer receivables. The Company places its 

cash with financial institutions and invests in low-risk, highly 

liquid instruments. With respect to customer receivables, the 

Company believes that it has no significant concentration of 

credit risk as no single customer accounted for more than 10 

percent of gross annual revenues as of December 31, 2016. The 

Company closely monitors the credit risk associated with its 

customers and to date has not experienced material losses.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The Company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts for 

estimated losses resulting from the inability of its customers 

to make required payments. The amount of allowance recorded 

is primarily based upon a periodic review of specific customer 

transactions that remain outstanding at least three months 

beyond their respective due dates.

Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or market. Inventory 

costs are primarily determined using the first-in, first-out 

(FIFO) method.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost. Repair and 

maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation for 

financial reporting purposes is computed on the straight-line 

method over the estimated service lives of the assets, which are 

from 15 to 30 years for land improvements and buildings, 5 to 

15 years for furniture, machinery and equipment, 5 to 10 years 

for customer capital, 5 years for vehicles, and 5 to 10 years for 

computer hardware and software. Expenditures for new facilities 

and improvements that substantially extend the capacity or 

useful life of an asset are capitalized.

Mineral rights were acquired as part of the acquisition of the 

New Business. Mineral rights include diatomite ore deposits, 

and are stated at cost, less accumulated depletion. Depletion 

is computed for mineral rights using the units-of-production 

method and is included in the Company’s depreciation expense.

Asset Retirement Obligations
As a result of the acquisition of the New Business, the Company 

has recognized asset retirement obligations (AROs) related to 

reclamation obligations associated with the normal operation of 

the diatomite mining facilities. These AROs consist primarily of 

costs associated with mine reclamation and landfill closures. The 

fair values of these AROs are recorded on a discounted basis at 

the time the obligation is incurred, and accreted over time for 

the change in present value. Additionally, the Company capital-

izes asset retirement costs by increasing the carrying amount of 

the related long-lived assets and depreciating these assets over 

the remaining life of the active mining facilities. The Company 

reviews, on an annual basis, unless otherwise deemed necessary, 

the reclamation obligation at each active mine site in accordance 

with accounting guidance for reclamation obligations.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquired 

business over the fair value of the identifiable tangible and 

intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business 

combination. Identifiable intangible assets acquired in business 

combinations are recorded based on their fair values at the date 

of acquisition. In accordance with guidance within Financial 

Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards 

Codification (ASC) 350 “Intangibles - Goodwill and Other” 

goodwill and identifiable intangible assets with indefinite 

lives are not subject to amortization but must be evaluated for 

impairment.

As a result of the acquisition of the New Business, the 

Company has recorded various intangible assets, including trade 

names and trademarks, unpatented technology, and customer 

relationships. The trade names and trademarks acquired have 

indefinite lives and will be tested for impairment annually. 

All remaining acquired identifiable intangible assets have 

finite lives.

The Company evaluates goodwill and indefinite-lived intan-

gible assets for impairment annually, or when events occur or 

circumstances change that may reduce the fair value of the 

asset below its carrying amount. The Company has elected 

to perform the annual impairment test of its goodwill and 

indefinite-lived intangible assets, as required, on December 31 

of each year by initially comparing the fair value of each of the 

Company’s reporting units to their related carrying values. 
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If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying 

value, the Company performs an additional step to determine 

the implied fair value of the goodwill. The implied fair value 

of goodwill is determined by first allocating the fair value of 

the reporting unit to all of the assets and liabilities of the unit 

and then computing the excess of the unit’s fair value over the 

amounts assigned to the assets and liabilities. If the carrying 

value of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of goodwill, such 

excess represents the amount of goodwill impairment, and the 

Company recognizes such impairment accordingly. Fair values 

are estimated using discounted cash flows and other valuation 

methodologies that are based on projections of the amounts 

and timing of future revenues and cash flows, assumed discount 

rates and other assumptions as deemed appropriate. The 

Company also considers such factors as historical performance, 

anticipated market conditions, operating expense trends and 

capital expenditure requirements.

The Company’s identifiable intangible assets other than 

goodwill and trade names and trademarks have finite lives. 

Certain of these intangible assets, such as customer relation-

ships, are amortized using an accelerated methodology while 

others, such as patents, are amortized on a straight-line basis 

over their estimated useful lives. In addition, intangible assets 

with finite lives are evaluated for impairment whenever events 

or circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may 

not be recoverable, as prescribed by guidance within ASC 360 

“Property, Plant, and Equipment.”

Long-Lived Assets
The Company evaluates long-lived assets under the provisions 

of ASC 360 “Property, Plant, and Equipment” which addresses 

financial accounting and reporting for the impairment of long-

lived assets and for long-lived assets to be disposed of. For assets 

to be held and used, the Company groups a long-lived asset or 

assets with other assets and liabilities at the lowest level for 

which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash 

flows of other assets and liabilities. An impairment loss for an 

asset group reduces only the carrying amounts of a long-lived 

asset or assets of the group being evaluated. The loss is allocated 

to the long-lived assets of the group on a pro-rata basis using 

the relative carrying amounts of those assets, except that the 

loss allocated to an individual long-lived asset of the group does 

not reduce the carrying amount of that asset below its fair value 

whenever that fair value is determinable without undue cost and 

effort. Estimates of future cash flows to test the recoverability 

of a long-lived asset group include only the future cash flows 

that are directly associated with and that are expected to arise 

as a direct result of the use and eventual disposition of the asset 

group. The future cash flow estimates used by the Company 

exclude interest charges.

Fair Value
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell 

an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date. The fair 

value hierarchy distinguishes between (1) market participant 

assumptions developed based on market data obtained from 

independent sources (observable inputs) and (2) an entity’s own 

assumptions about market participant assumptions developed 

based on the best information available in the circumstances 

(unobservable inputs). The fair value hierarchy consists of three 

broad levels, which gives the highest priority to unadjusted 

quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

(Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). 

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

• Level 1 — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 — Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active 

markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly; 

and

• Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that reflect the reporting 

entity’s own assumptions.

The Company’s financial instruments, excluding derivative 

instruments, consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, 

short and long-term debt as well as accounts receivable and 

accounts payable. The fair value of accounts receivable and 

accounts payable approximates their carrying value because of 

the short-term maturity of the instruments. 

Derivative Instruments
The Company applies ASC 815 “Derivatives and Hedging” 

which establishes accounting and reporting standards for 

derivative instruments, including certain derivative instru-

ments embedded in other contracts and for hedging activities. 

Derivative financial instruments are utilized by the Company to 

manage risk exposure to movements in foreign exchange rates 

or the prices of natural gas. The Company enters into derivative 

financial instruments with high credit quality counterparties 

and diversifies its positions among such counterparties. In 

addition, various master netting arrangements are in place 

with counterparties to facilitate settlement of gains and losses 

on these contracts. The Company does not net its derivative 

positions by counterparty for purposes of balance sheet presen-

tation and disclosure. Changes in the value of the derivative 

financial instruments are measured at the balance sheet date 

and recognized in current earnings or other comprehensive 

income depending on whether the derivative is designated as 

part of a hedge transaction and meets certain other criteria. 

The Company does not hold derivative financial instruments for 

trading purposes.
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Pensions
The Company accounts for its pensions in accordance with ASC 

715 “Compensation – Retirement Benefits.” Accounting for 

pensions involves estimating the cost of benefits to be provided 

well into the future and attributing that cost over the time 

period each employee works. To accomplish this, extensive use 

is made of assumptions about inflation, investment returns, 

mortality, turnover and discount rates. These assumptions are 

reviewed annually. In determining the expected return on plan 

assets, the Company evaluates long-term actual return informa-

tion, the mix of investments that comprise plan assets and 

future estimates of long-term investment returns. The Company 

uses country specific mortality tables and updates them periodi-

cally as better information becomes available. In determining 

the discount rates for pension obligations, the Company 

evaluates long-term corporate bonds that receive one of the two 

highest ratings given by a recognized rating agency.

Amortization of the actuarial net gain or loss as a result of 

experience differing from that assumed and from changes in 

assumptions is included as a component of net periodic pension 

cost for the year. The Company uses a 10% corridor such that if, 

as of the beginning of the year, the net gain or loss exceeds 10% 

of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the market-

related value of plan assets, the amortization is that excess 

divided by the average future working lifetime of participating 

employees expected to receive benefits under the plan or the 

average remaining life expectancy of the plan’s participants if 

the percentage of actives is less than 10% of the total popula-

tion. As only the excess actuarial gain or loss is amortized, this 

approach will not fully amortize the net actuarial gain or loss.

Stock-Based Compensation
The Company applies ASC 718 “Compensation — Stock 

Compensation.” In accordance with guidance within ASC 718, 

compensation expense for stock options is recorded over the 

vesting period using the fair value on the date of grant, as calcu-

lated by the Company using the Black-Scholes model. For time 

vested restricted stock awards, the nonvested restricted stock 

grant date fair value, which is the market price of the underlying 

common stock, is expensed over the vesting period. For certain 

performance based stock awards, the initial grant date fair value 

of the performance stock awards that vest subject to a market 

condition is determined using a Monte Carlo simulation model 

and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the performance 

period. For certain performance based stock awards that vest 

subject to a performance condition, the initial grant date fair 

value is the market price of the underlying common stock. 

This fair value is expensed on a straight-line basis over the 

performance period when it is probable that the performance 

condition will be achieved. The Company’s stock-based compen-

sation plans are more fully described in Note 10.

Net Income per Common Share
Basic net income per common share is computed by dividing 

net income by the weighted average number of common 

shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income 

per common share is computed by dividing net income by 

the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 

plus all potential dilutive common shares outstanding during 

the period. Potential dilutive common shares are determined 

using the treasury stock method. Under the treasury stock 

method, exercise of options is assumed at the beginning of 

the period when the average stock price during the period 

exceeds the exercise price of outstanding options and common 

shares are assumed issued. The proceeds from exercise are 

assumed to be used to purchase common stock at the average 

market price during the period. The incremental shares to 

be issued are considered to be the potential dilutive common 

shares outstanding.

Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future 

tax consequences of temporary differences between the book 

and tax basis of assets and liabilities. If it is more likely than 

not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be 

realized, a valuation allowance is recognized. The Company 

assesses its ability to realize deferred tax assets based on normal-

ized historical performance and on projections of future taxable 

income in the relevant tax jurisdictions. Normalized historical 

performance for purposes of this assessment includes adjust-

ments for those income and expense items that are unusual 

and non-recurring in nature and are not expected to affect 

results in future periods. Such unusual and non-recurring items 

include the effects of legal fees or settlements associated with 

specific litigation matters, acquisition and restructuring costs. 

The Company’s projections of future taxable income considers 

known events, such as the passage of legislation or expected 

occurrences, and do not reflect a general growth assumption. 

The Company’s estimates of future taxable income are reviewed 

annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that such projections should be modified.

The Company utilizes guidance within ASC 740 “Income 

Taxes” regarding the accounting for uncertainty in income 

taxes. This guidance prescribes recognition and measurement 

standards for a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a 

tax return. According to this guidance, the evaluation of a tax 

position is a two step process. The first step is the determination 

of whether a tax position should be recognized in the financial 

statements. The benefit of a tax position taken or expected to 

be taken in a tax return is to be recognized only if the Company 

determines that it is more likely than not that the tax position 

will be sustained upon examination by the tax authorities based 

upon the technical merits of the position. In step two, for those 
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tax positions which should be recognized, the measurement 

of a tax position is determined as being the largest amount of 

benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon 

ultimate settlement.

No provision is made for U.S. income taxes on the undistrib-

uted earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries because these earnings 

are intended to be indefinitely reinvested outside the U.S. These 

earnings would become subject to income tax if they were 

remitted as dividends, were loaned to the Company or a U.S. 

affiliate, or if the Company were to sell its ownership interest in 

the subsidiaries. 

In November 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards 

Update (ASU) 2015-17, “Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred 

Taxes” which requires that all deferred tax assets (DTAs) and 

deferred tax liabilities (DTLs), along with any related valuation 

allowance, be classified as noncurrent in a classified balance 

sheet. Netting of DTAs and DTLs by tax jurisdiction is still 

required under the new guidance. The Company adopted ASU 

2015-17 effective December 31, 2016 on a prospective basis. 

Adoption of this ASU resulted in an initial reclassification of 

$18.1 million of the Company’s net current deferred income tax 

asset to the long-term deferred income tax asset in its consoli-

dated balance sheet as of December 31, 2016. Due to required 

netting by tax jurisdiction, a large portion of this amount was 

netted against the long-term deferred income tax liability. No 

prior periods were retrospectively adjusted.

Leases
The Company leases certain facilities, equipment and vehicles. 

Certain of the Company’s leases contain renewal options, rent 

escalation clauses and landlord incentives. Renewal terms gener-

ally reflect market rates at the time of renewal. Rent expense for 

noncancelable operating leases with scheduled rent increases 

or landlord incentives is recognized on a straight-line basis over 

the lease term, including any applicable rent holidays, beginning 

with the lease commencement date. The excess of straight-line 

rent expense over scheduled payment amounts and landlord 

incentives is recorded as a deferred liability. 

Contingencies
The Company from time to time is subject to various legal 

proceedings, lawsuits and claims, including employment, 

product warranty and environmental matters of the nature 

considered normal to its business. It is the Company’s policy to 

accrue for amounts related to legal matters when it is probable 

that a liability has been incurred and the loss amount is reason-

ably estimable. Estimates are developed through consultation 

with legal counsel involved in the defense and are based upon 

an analysis of probable results, assuming a combination of 

litigation and settlement strategies. Legal fees associated with 

defending these various lawsuits and claims are expensed 

when incurred.

Government Grants
The Company’s policy for accounting for government grants, 

including non-monetary grants at fair value, is to recognize 

them only when there is reasonable assurance that (a) the 

Company will comply with the conditions attached to the grants 

and (b) the grants will be received. A grant will be recognized 

over the period necessary to match it to the related costs, for 

which it is intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. A 

grant related to assets is presented by deducting it from the 

asset’s carrying amount and is reported within cash flows from 

investing activities. A grant related to income will be deducted 

from the related expense and reported within cash flows from 

operating activities.

Labor Agreements
Collective bargaining agreements cover approximately 46% of 

the Company’s full-time labor force as of December 31, 2016 

that expire at various dates through 2019. Approximately 6% 

of the Company’s labor force is operating under contracts 

that expired on December 31, 2016, which are in the process of 

being renegotiated.

New Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revenue (Topic 

606): Revenue from Contracts with Customers” which outlines a 

single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for 

revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes 

most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-

specific guidance. The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is that an 

entity should recognize revenue when it transfers promised 

goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 

consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 

exchange for those goods or services by applying five steps 

listed in the guidance. ASU 2014-09 also requires disclosure 

of both quantitative and qualitative information that enables 

users of financial statements to understand the nature, amount, 

timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising 

from customers. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, 

which defers the effective date of ASU 2014-09 by one year. 

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-08, “Revenue from 

Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Principal versus Agent 

Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net)” which 

amends the principal-versus agent implementation guidance 

and illustrations in FASB’s new revenue standard ASU 2014-09. 

The new guidance includes indicators to assist an entity in deter-

mining whether it controls a specified good or service before it is 

transferred to the customers. In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU 

2016-10, “Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing” 

which amends certain aspects of the guidance in ASU 2014-09. 

For identifying performance obligations, the amendments 

include: immaterial promised goods and services, shipping and 

handling activities, and identifying when promises represent 
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performance obligations. In May 2016, the FASB issued ASU 

2016-12, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): 

Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients.” This 

clarifies the collectability assessment, sales tax presentation and 

the treatment of contract modifications and completed contracts 

at transition. In May 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-11, 

“Rescission of SEC Guidance Because of Accounting Standards 

Update 2014-09” which rescinds certain SEC guidance upon 

adoption including those related to freight services in process 

and shipping and handling fees. All of the new guidance is 

effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, 

beginning after December 15, 2017. The Company is currently 

determining the potential impacts of the new standard on its 

contract portfolio. The approach includes performing a detailed 

review of key contracts representative of its different businesses 

and comparing historical accounting policies and practices to 

the new standard. The Company will continue to evaluate the 

provisions of this ASU to assess the impact it may have on its 

consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. The 

Company is planning to adopt the provisions of the ASU and 

its subsequent amendments using the modified retrospective 

transition method for existing transactions that may result in a 

cumulative effect adjustment as of January 1, 2018.

In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, “Simplifying the 

Measurement of Inventory” which requires entities to measure 

most inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

This simplifies the current guidance under which an entity 

measures inventory at the lower of cost or market. Market 

in this context is defined as one of three different measures, 

one of which is net realizable value. Net realizable value is the 

estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business, 

less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and 

transportation. The new guidance will be applied prospectively, 

and is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those 

years, beginning after December 15, 2016. The adoption of this 

ASU is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s 

consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases 

(Topic 842)” which introduces a lessee model that brings most 

leases on the balance sheet, requiring lessees to recognize the 

right to use assets and lease obligations that arise from lease 

arrangements exceeding a twelve month term. Lessees will 

also need to disclose qualitative and quantitative information 

about lease transactions, such as information about variable 

lease payments and options to renew and terminate leases. For 

income statement purposes, the FASB retained a dual model, 

requiring leases to be classified as either operating or finance. 

Classification will be based on criteria that are largely similar to 

those applied in current lease accounting, but without explicit 

bright lines. Lessor accounting is similar to the current model, 

but updated to align with certain changes to the lessee model 

and the new revenue recognition standard. The new guidance 

is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those 

years, beginning after December 15, 2018. Entities are required 

to use a modified retrospective transition for existing leases. The 

Company is evaluating the provisions of this ASU and assessing 

the impact it may have on the Company’s consolidated financial 

statements and related disclosures. At a minimum, total assets 

and total liabilities will increase in the period the ASU is 

adopted. As of December 31, 2016, the Company’s undiscounted 

future minimum payments outstanding for lease obligations 

were approximately $41 million.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, “Compensation 

– Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee 

Share-Based Payment Accounting” which simplifies several 

aspects of the accounting for employee share-based payment 

transactions, including the accounting for income taxes, 

forfeitures, and statutory tax withholding requirements, as 

well as classification in the statement of cash flows. The new 

guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning 

after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within those 

annual reporting periods. The Company is planning to adopt 

the provisions of this ASU using the modified retrospective 

transition method for existing share-based payment 

transactions, effective January 1, 2017. The adoption of this 

ASU is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s 

consolidated financial statements.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “Financial 

Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of 

Credit Losses on Financial Instruments” which adds a Current 

Expected Credit Loss (CECL) model that is based on expected 

losses rather than incurred losses, which is applicable to trade 

receivables. The new guidance is effective for annual reporting 

periods beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim 

periods within those annual reporting periods. Entities are 

required to use the modified retrospective approach. The 

Company is evaluating the provisions of this ASU and assessing 

the impact it may have on the Company’s consolidated financial 

statements and related disclosures.

In August and November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, 

“Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain 

Cash Receipts and Cash Payments” and ASU 2016-18, “Statement 

of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash” to add or clarify 

guidance on the classification of certain cash receipts and 

payments and restricted cash in the statement of cash flows. 

The new guidance is effective for annual reporting period 

beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods 

within those annual reporting periods. Entities must apply the 

guidance retrospectively to all periods presented, but may apply 

it prospectively from the earliest date practicable if retrospective 

application would be impracticable. The adoption of this ASU 

is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s 

consolidated financial statements.
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2. Inventories

December 31

2016 2015

Raw materials $ 24,831 $ 23,327
Finished goods  100,284  87,037

Total $125,115 $110,364

Inventories are recorded net of reserves of $2.6 million 

and $2.4 million for obsolete and slow-moving items as of 

December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

3. Property, Plant and Equipment

December 31

2016 2015

Land and improvements $   37,479 $   32,522
Mineral rights  11,240  —
Buildings  90,385  67,841
Machinery, equipment and customer capital  494,722  458,975
Computer hardware and software  43,631  41,850
Furniture and vehicles  10,893  10,534
Construction-in-progress  30,525  32,141

 718,875  643,863
Less accumulated depreciation (352,433) (332,844)

Property, plant and equipment, net $ 366,442 $ 311,019

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2016, 

2015, and 2014 totaled $36.3 million, $33.7 million, and $28.2 

million, respectively.

The Company's AROs related to the acquisition of the New 

Business are for legal obligations associated with the normal 

operations of the diatomite mining facilities up to the end of 

the quarries’ exploration. These AROs consist primarily of costs 

associated with mine reclamation and landfill closures related 

to the mineral rights. As of December 31, 2016, the $1.8 million 

liability was recorded as a component of accrued pension and 

other liabilities.

4. Goodwill and Other Identifiable Intangible Assets

The Company has elected to perform the annual impairment 

test of its goodwill, as required, on December 31 of each year. 

For purposes of the test, the Company had historically identi-

fied six reporting units as defined within ASC 350 “Intangibles 

– Goodwill and Other” at a regional level for the Activated 

Carbon and Service segment and at the technology level for 

the Equipment segment and has allocated goodwill to these 

reporting units accordingly. These reporting units consist of the 

Activated Carbon and Service segment which is segregated into 

two regional reporting units, the Americas/Asia and Europe, 

the Equipment segment which is segregated by technology (a) 

carbon adsorption, (b) ultraviolet light, and (c) ion exchange, 

and the Consumer segment which includes the charcoal cloth 

reporting unit. The goodwill associated with the Consumer 

segment is not material and has not been allocated below the 

segment level.

The goodwill associated with the acquisition of the New 

Business is reported as Other and has not been allocated below 

this level as of December 31, 2016. Refer to Notes 18 and 20 for 

further information. The changes in the carrying amount of 

goodwill by segment for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 

2015 are as follows:

Activated
Carbon and

Service Segment
Equipment

Segment
Consumer

Segment
Other

Segment Total

Balance as of January 1, 2015 $19,753 $6,384 $60 $     — $26,197
Foreign currency translation  (149)  (271)  —  —  (420)

Balance as of December 31, 2015  19,604  6,113  60  —  25,777
Acquisition  —  —  —  42,844  42,844
Foreign currency translation  (551)  47  —  (1,801) (2,305)

Balance as of December 31, 2016 $19,053 $6,160 $60 $41,043 $66,316
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The following is a summary of the Company’s identifiable 

intangible assets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively:

December 31, 2016

Weighted
Average

Amortization
Period

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Foreign
Exchange

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Amortized intangible assets:
Customer relationships  18.9 Years $25,035 $   (873) $ (8,900) $15,262
Product certification  7.4 Years  8,649  (90)  (4,320)  4,239
Unpatented technology  20.0 Years  14,174  (586)  (114)  13,474
Licenses  20.0 Years  964  (99)  (354)  511

 17.3 Years  48,822  (1,648)  (13,688)  33,486

Indefinite lived intangible assets:
Trade names and trademarks  7,362  (305) —  7,057

Total $56,184 $(1,953) $(13,688) $40,543

December 31, 2015

Weighted
Average

Amortization
Period

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Foreign
Exchange

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Amortized intangible assets:
Patents  20.0 Years $    676 $   — $    (656) $    20
Customer relationships  15.9 Years  10,450  (303)  (9,526)  621
Product certification  7.2 Years  10,954  (95)  (6,259)  4,600
Unpatented technology  20.0 Years  3,183  —  (2,996)  187
Licenses  20.0 Years  964  (119)  (312)  533

Total  13.8 Years $26,227 $(517) $(19,749) $5,961

For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the 

Company recognized $1.8 million, $1.7 million, and $2.2 million, 

respectively, of amortization expense related to intangible 

assets. The Company estimates amortization expense to be 

recognized during the next five years as follows:

For the year ending December 31:

2017 $2,243
2018  2,250
2019  2,041
2020  1,953
2021  1,910

5. Fair Value Measurements

The following financial instrument assets (liabilities) 

are presented below at carrying amount, fair value, and 

classification within the fair value hierarchy (refer to Notes 6 and 

8 for details relating to derivative instruments and borrowing 

arrangements). The only financial instruments measured at fair 

value on a recurring basis are derivative instruments and the 

acquisition earn-out liability:

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Fair Value
Hierarchy Level

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

Cash and cash equivalents  1 $   37,984 $   37,984 $   53,629 $   53,629
Derivative assets  2  1,168  1,168  468  468
Derivative liabilities  2  (1,452)  (1,452)  (783)  (783)
Acquisition earn-out liability  2  (125)  (125)  (163)  (163)
Long-term debt, including current portion  2 (225,000)  (225,000)  (111,441) (111,441)

Accounts receivable and accounts payable included in the 

consolidated balance sheets approximate fair value and are 

excluded from the table above. The fair value of cash and 

cash equivalents are based on quoted prices. The fair value 

of derivative assets and liabilities are measured based on 

inputs from market sources that aggregate data based upon 

market transactions. Fair value for the acquisition earn-out 

liability is based upon Level 2 inputs which are periodically 

re-evaluated for changes in future projections and the discount 

rate. This liability is recorded in accrued pension and other 

liabilities within the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. 

The Company’s debt bears interest based on market rates and, 

accordingly, the carrying value of this obligation approximates 

fair value.
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6. Derivative Instruments

The Company uses foreign currency forward exchange contracts 

and foreign exchange option contracts to limit the exposure of 

exchange rate fluctuations on certain foreign currency receiv-

ables, payables, and other known and forecasted transactional 

exposures for periods consistent with the expected cash flow of 

the underlying transactions. Management’s policy for managing 

foreign currency risk is to use derivatives to hedge up to 75% 

of the value of the forecasted exposure. The foreign currency 

forward exchange and foreign exchange option contracts gener-

ally mature within eighteen months and are designed to limit 

exposure to exchange rate fluctuations. 

The Company also uses natural gas forward contracts to limit 

the exposure to changes in natural gas prices. Management’s 

policy for managing natural gas exposure is to use derivatives 

to hedge up to 75% of the forecasted natural gas requirements 

that are not fixed. The natural gas forward contracts generally 

mature within twenty-four months. 

The Company accounts for its derivative instruments under 

ASC 815 “Derivatives and Hedging.” Hedge effectiveness is 

measured on a quarterly basis and any portion of ineffectiveness 

as well as hedge components excluded from the assessment of 

effectiveness are recorded directly to current earnings, in other 

expense – net. 

The fair value of outstanding derivative contracts in the 

consolidated balance sheets was as follows:

December 31

Asset Derivatives Balance Sheet Locations 2016 2015

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign exchange contracts Other current assets $   670 $411
Natural gas contracts Other current assets  255  —
Foreign exchange contracts Other assets  179  6
Natural gas contracts Other assets  43  —

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign exchange contracts Other current assets  21  51

Total asset derivatives $1,168 $468

December 31

Liability Derivatives Balance Sheet Locations 2016 2015

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign exchange contracts Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $    30 $ 13
Natural gas contracts Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  —  586
Foreign exchange contracts Accrued pension and other liabilities  1  3
Natural gas contracts Accrued pension and other liabilities  —  89

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign exchange contracts Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  1,421  92

Total liability derivatives $1,452 $783

The Company had the following outstanding 

derivative contracts that were entered into to hedge 

forecasted transactions:

December 31

(in thousands except for mmbtu) 2016 2015 2014

Natural gas contracts (mmbtu) 540,000 955,000 810,000
Foreign exchange contracts $199,420 $ 37,016 $ 41,237

The Company’s hedging associated with foreign exchange 

contracts increased significantly as of December 31, 2016 as a 

result of an intercompany loan relating to the acquisition of 

the New Business. Related to these non-designated contracts, 

there was a net $4.4 million gain recognized for the year ended 

December 31, 2016, of which $5.7 million was realized. The net 

gain was offset by a foreign exchange unrealized transaction loss 

of $5.0 million. The amounts are recorded in earnings, in other 

expense – net.

The use of derivatives exposes the Company to the risk 

that a counterparty may default on a derivative contract. The 

Company enters into derivative financial instruments with 

high credit quality counterparties and diversifies its positions 

among such counterparties. The aggregate fair value of the 

Company’s derivative instruments in asset positions represents 
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the maximum loss that the Company would recognize at that 

date if all counterparties failed to perform as contracted. The 

Company has entered into various master netting arrangements 

with counterparties to facilitate settlement of gains and losses 

on these contracts. These arrangements may allow for netting of 

exposures in the event of default or termination of the counter-

party agreement due to breach of contract. The Company does 

not net its derivative positions by counterparty for purposes of 

balance sheet presentation and disclosure.

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Fair Value
of Assets

Fair Value
of Liabilities

Fair Value
of Assets

Fair Value
of Liabilities

Gross derivative amounts recognized in the balance sheet $1,168 $1,452 $468 $783
Gross derivative amounts not offset in the balance sheet

that are eligible for offsetting  (52)  (52)  (67)  (67)

Net amount $1,116 $1,400 $401 $716

Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships
For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as 

cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the 

derivative is reported as a component of other comprehensive 

income (loss) (OCI) and reclassified into earnings in the same 

period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects 

earnings. The location of the gain or (loss) reclassified into 

earnings (effective portion) for derivatives in cash flow hedging 

relationships is cost of products sold (excluding depreciation 

and amortization). 

Amount of Gain or (Loss) Recognized 
in OCI on Derivatives (Effective Portion)

Year Ended December 31

2016 2015 2014

Foreign exchange contracts $   399 $ 647 $2,095
Natural gas contracts  835  (984)  (782)

Total $1,234 $(337) $1,313

Amount of Gain or (Loss) Recognized 
from Accumulated OCI into Earnings 

(Effective Portion) (1)

Year Ended December 31

2016 2015 2014

Foreign exchange contracts $ 206 $2,077 $484
Natural gas contracts  (339)  (941)  221

Total $(133) $1,136 $705

(1) Assuming market rates remain constant with the rates as of December 31, 2016, a gain of $0.1 million is expected to be recognized in earnings over the 
next 12 months.

During the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, 

there was no gain or (loss) recognized in earnings on derivatives 

related to the ineffective portion and the amount excluded from 

effectiveness testing, which would have been recorded in other 

expense – net.

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments
The Company has also entered into certain derivatives to 

minimize its exposure of exchange rate fluctuations on certain 

foreign currency receivables, payables, and other known and 

forecasted transactional exposures. The Company has not 

qualified these contracts for hedge accounting treatment and 

therefore, the fair value gains and losses on these contracts are 

recorded in earnings, in other expense – net as follows:

Amount of Gain or (Loss) Recognized 
in Earnings on Derivatives 
Year Ended December 31

2016 2015 2014

Foreign exchange contracts $4,425 $(1,042) $(511)

Total $4,425 $(1,042) $(511)
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7. Product Warranties

The Company establishes a warranty reserve for equipment 

project sales and estimates the warranty accrual based on the 

history of warranty claims to total sales, adjusted for significant 

known claims in excess of established reserves.

Warranty terms are based on the negotiated equipment 

project contract and typically are either 18 months from 

shipment date or 12 months from project startup date. The 

change in the warranty reserve, which is included in accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance 

sheets, is as follows:

December 31

2016 2015

Balance as of January 1 $ 1,252 $1,449
Payments and replacement product (1,495)  (677)
Additions to warranty reserve for warranties issued during the period  1,647  485
Change in the warranty reserve for pre-existing warranties  (2) (5)

Balance as of December 31 $ 1,402 $1,252

8. Borrowing Arrangements

December 31

2016 2015

U.S. credit agreement borrowings $225,000 $107,700
Japanese term loan borrowings  —  3,741

Total long-term debt $225,000 $111,441
Less current portion of long-term debt  (5,000)  (7,500)

Net long-term debt $220,000 $103,941

U.S. Amended Credit Agreement
On October 4, 2016, the Company entered into the First 

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (Amended Credit

Agreement) which amended the Company’s existing U.S. Credit 

Agreement (Credit Agreement) described below. The Amended 

Credit Agreement increases the Company’s total borrowing 

capacity to $400 million, comprised of a $300 million revolving 

credit facility (Amended Revolver) and a $100 million term loan 

facility (Term Loan). The Amended Credit Agreement extends 

the term of the Amended Revolver to October 4, 2021 and the 

maturity date of the Term Loan to October 4, 2023. 

The Amended Revolver contains a $75 million sublimit for 

the issuance of letters of credit, and a $15 million sublimit for 

swing loans. The Company also has the option to increase the 

Amended Revolver by a maximum of $100 million with the 

consent of the Lenders. Availability under the Amended Credit 

Agreement is conditioned upon various customary conditions. 

Upon entering into the Amended Credit Agreement, the 

Company incurred issuance costs of $0.8 million of which 

approximately $0.1 million were expensed and the remainder 

were deferred and are being amortized over the term of the 

Amended Revolver and Term Loan facilities. A quarterly nonre-

fundable commitment fee is payable by the Company based on 

the unused availability under the Amended Revolver and was 

equal to 0.23% as of December 31, 2016.

The interest rate on amounts owed under the Amended 

Revolver and Term Loan will be, at the Company’s option, either 

(i) a fluctuating Base Rate or (ii) an adjusted LIBOR rate plus 

in each case, an applicable margin based on the Company’s 

leverage ratio as set forth in the Amended Credit Agreement. 

The interest rate charged on amounts owed under swing loans 

will be either (i) a fluctuating Base Rate or (ii) such other interest 

rates as the lender and the Company may agree to from time to 

time. The interest rate per annum on outstanding borrowings 

ranged from 2.51% to 2.62% as of December 31, 2016.

The Company borrowed the full $100 million under the Term 

Loan on October 4, 2016 and repaid all amounts owed under 

the Credit Agreement. During the fourth quarter of 2016, the 

Company borrowed $160 million under the Amended Revolver to 

finance the acquisition of the New Business. Beginning January 

1, 2017, the Company will be required to make quarterly repay-

ments under the Term Loan equal to 1.25% of the outstanding 
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balance until January 1, 2019, at which time the quarterly 

repayments will increase to 2.0% until the remaining balance 

is due on the October 4, 2023 maturity date. As a result, $5.0 

million is shown as current portion of long-term debt within the 

consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2016.

Total outstanding borrowings and availability under the 

Amended Revolver as of December 31, 2016 were $125.0 million 

and $172.5 million respectively, after considering borrow-

ings and outstanding letters of credit of $2.5 million. Total 

outstanding borrowings under the Term Loan were $100 million 

and there was no remaining availability as of December 31, 

2016. Borrowings and repayments are presented on a gross basis 

within the Company’s consolidated statement of cash flows.

Certain domestic subsidiaries of the Company uncondi-

tionally guarantee all indebtedness and obligations related 

to borrowings under the Amended Credit Agreement. The 

Company’s obligations under the Amended Credit Agreement 

are unsecured.

The Amended Credit Agreement contains customary 

affirmative and negative covenants for credit facilities of this 

type. The Company is permitted to pay dividends so long as 

the sum of availability under the Amended Credit Agreement 

and the amount of U.S. cash on hand is at least $50.0 million, 

and debt is less than or equal to 2.75x earnings before interest, 

taxes, depreciation and amortization. In addition, the Amended 

Credit Agreement includes limitations on the Company and its 

subsidiaries with respect to indebtedness, additional liens, dispo-

sition of assets or subsidiaries, and transactions with affiliates. 

The Company must comply with certain financial covenants 

including a minimum interest coverage ratio and a maximum 

leverage ratio as defined within the Credit Agreement. The 

Company was in compliance with all such covenants as of 

December 31, 2016. The Credit Agreement also provides for 

customary events of default, including failure to pay principal 

or interest when due, breach of representations and warranties, 

certain insolvency or receivership events affecting the Company 

and its subsidiaries and a change in control of the Company. 

If an event of default occurs, the lenders would be under no 

further obligation to make loans or issue letters of credit. Upon 

the occurrence of certain events of default, all outstanding 

obligations of the Company automatically would become imme-

diately due and payable, and other events of default would allow 

the agent to declare all or any portion of the outstanding obliga-

tions of the Company to be immediately due and payable.

In February 2017, an amendment was signed to the Amended 

Credit Agreement, which, among other things, removes the 

quarterly leverage ratio requirement for the Company to pay 

dividends to its stockholders and replaces it with an annual 

dividend dollar restriction of $14.0 million.

U.S. Credit Agreement
On November 6, 2013, the Company entered into the Credit 

Agreement which provided for a senior unsecured revolving 

credit facility (Revolver) in an amount up to $225.0 million. As 

a result of amendments, the expiration date of the Revolver was 

November 6, 2020. In April 2016, an amendment was signed 

to the Credit Agreement that increased the threshold for a 

“Permitted Acquisition.” Refer to Note 20 for further informa-

tion. The Credit Agreement also provided for senior unsecured 

delayed draw term loans (Delayed Draw Term Loans) in an aggre-

gate amount up to $75.0 million which were scheduled to expire 

on November 6, 2020. Beginning January 1, 2016, the Company 

began making quarterly repayments. As a result, as of December 

31, 2015, $7.5 million was shown as current portion of long-term 

debt within the consolidated balance sheet.

Upon entering into the Credit Agreement, the Company 

incurred issuance costs of $0.8 million, which were deferred 

and were being amortized over the term of the Revolver and 

Delayed Draw Term Loan facilities. Upon termination of the 

Credit Agreement, approximately $0.2 million of these previously 

deferred issuance costs were written off, while the remainder 

continued to be deferred and amortized over the life of the 

Amended Revolver. A quarterly nonrefundable commitment fee 

was payable by the Company based on the unused availability 

under the Revolver and was equal to 0.15% as of December 31, 

2015. The interest rate options under the Credit Agreement 

were the same as those under the Amended Credit Agreement 

described above. The interest rate per annum on outstanding 

borrowings ranged from 1.25% to 1.40% as of December 31, 2015.

Total outstanding borrowings and availability under the 

Revolver were $32.7 million and $189.9 million, respectively, 

as of December 31, 2015, after considering borrowings and 

outstanding letters of credit of $2.4 million. Total outstanding 

borrowings under the Delayed Draw Term Loans were 

$75.0 million as of December 31, 2015 and there was no 

remaining availability.

Certain domestic subsidiaries of the Company uncondition-

ally guaranteed all indebtedness and obligations related to 

borrowings under the Credit Agreement. The Company’s 

obligations under the Credit Agreement were unsecured. The 

Credit Agreement contained customary affirmative and negative 

covenants for credit facilities of this type which were similar 

to the covenants currently in effect for the Amended Credit 

Agreement. The Company was in compliance with all such 

covenants as of December 31, 2015. 
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Japanese Credit Agreement
On March 24, 2016, Calgon Carbon Japan (CCJ) entered into a 

2.0 billion Japanese Yen unsecured revolving loan facility agree-

ment (Japanese Credit Agreement) which expires on March 24, 

2019. The Japanese Credit Agreement replaced the Term Loan 

Agreement (Japanese Term Loan) and Working Capital Loan 

(Japanese Working Capital Loan) agreement that CCJ previously 

had in place which are described below. As of December 31, 

2016, CCJ had no amounts outstanding under the Japanese 

Credit Agreement. Any outstanding borrowings would be shown 

as long-term debt within the consolidated balance sheets, and 

borrowings and repayments are presented on a gross basis 

within the Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows.

A quarterly nonrefundable commitment fee is payable by 

CCJ based on the unused availability under the Japanese Credit 

Agreement and is equal to 0.18%. Total availability under the 

Japanese Credit Agreement was 2.0 billion Japanese Yen, or 

$17.1 million as of December 31, 2016. The Japanese Credit 

Agreement bears interest based on the Tokyo Interbank Offered 

Rate of interest (TIBOR), plus an applicable margin based on 

the Company’s leverage ratio as defined in the U.S. Credit 

Agreement, which averaged 1.31% per annum as of December 

31, 2016. The Company is jointly and severally liable as the guar-

antor of CCJ’s obligations under the Japanese Credit Agreement. 

CCJ may make voluntary prepayments of principal and interest 

after providing prior written notice and before the full amount 

then outstanding is due and payable on the March 24, 2019 

expiration date.

Prior Japanese Loans
Prior to March 31, 2016, CCJ maintained a Japanese Term Loan 

and Japanese Working Capital Loan. These agreements were 

terminated on March 31, 2016, and replaced by the Japanese 

Credit Agreement described above. The Company was jointly 

and severally liable as the guarantor of CCJ’s obligations and 

the Company permitted CCJ to grant a security interest and 

continuing lien in certain of its assets, including inventory 

and accounts receivable, to secure its obligations under both 

loan agreements. The amount of the assets available to be 

pledged was in excess of the outstanding obligation as of 

December 31, 2015.

The Japanese Term Loan provided for a principal amount 

of 1.0 billion Japanese Yen and bore interest based on the 

Uncollateralized Overnight Call Rate plus an applicable margin 

which averaged 0.7% per annum as of December 31, 2015. As 

of December 31, 2015, CCJ had 450 million Japanese Yen or $3.7 

million outstanding. The outstanding borrowings were shown 

as long-term debt within the consolidated balance sheets. 

Borrowings and repayments were presented on a gross basis 

within the Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows.

The Japanese Working Capital Loan provided for borrowings 

up to 1.5 billion Japanese Yen, and bore interest based on the 

Short-term Prime Rate. As of December 31, 2015, CCJ had no 

outstanding borrowings under this facility.

Chinese Credit Facility
The Company maintained an Uncommitted Revolving Loan 

Facility Letter (Facility Letter) which provided for an uncom-

mitted line of credit totaling 5.0 million Renminbi (RMB) or $0.8 

million. This Facility Letter was scheduled to expire on July 19, 

2016, but was cancelled in April 2016. The Company was jointly 

and severally liable as the guarantor under the Facility Letter. 

There were no outstanding borrowings under this facility as of 

December 31, 2015. 

Belgian Credit Facility
The Company maintains an unsecured Belgian credit facility 

totaling 2.0 million Euros. Bank guarantees of 1.2 million Euros 

and 0.9 million Euros were issued as of December 31, 2016 and 

2015, respectively.

United Kingdom Credit Facility
The Company maintains a United Kingdom credit facility 

totaling 0.6 million British Pounds Sterling. Bank guarantees of 

0.4 million British Pounds Sterling were issued as of December 

31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Italian Credit Facility
The Company maintains an Italian credit facility totaling 2.9 

million Euros. Bank guarantees of 1.7 million Euros were issued 

as of December 31, 2016. In addition, surety bonds totaling 1.0 

million Euros were outstanding as of December 31, 2016. 

Maturities of Debt
The Company intends to make principal payments on debt 

outstanding as of December 31, 2016 of $5.0 million in 2017, $5.0 

million in 2018, $8.0 million in 2019, $8.0 million in 2020, and 

$133.0 million in 2021.

Interest Expense
The Company’s interest expense for the years ended December 

31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 totaled $2.4 million, $0.8 million, and 

$0.3 million, respectively. These amounts are net of interest costs 

capitalized of $0.3 million, $0.4 million, and $0.6 million for the 

years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively.
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9. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors defined benefit pension plans covering 

certain union and non-union employees in the U.S. and Europe. 

As of December 31, 2016, all of the U.S. plans are closed to 

new hires. In addition, future benefit accruals are frozen for a 

number of the plans. The Company uses a measurement date of 

December 31 for all of its pension plans.

During 2016, the Company offered certain eligible terminated 

vested participants in the U.S. pension plans the opportunity to 

elect a lump sum payment of their respective pension benefits. 

As a result of these elections, and significant lump sum payouts 

in the European plans, the Company paid benefits of $5.2 

million, and incurred a settlement charge of $1.5 million in 2016. 

In 2015, the Company incurred settlement charges in both the 

U.S. and European plans that totaled $0.8 million as a result of 

employee retirements, and paid $3.8 million from plan assets. 

In 2014, the Company offered certain eligible terminated vested 

participants in the U.S. pension plans the opportunity to elect a 

lump sum payment of their respective pension benefits, and as 

a result, incurred a settlement charge of $1.0 million and paid 

benefits of $4.4 million. As a result of the acquisition of the New 

Business, the projected benefit obligation of the European plans 

increased $3.9 million in 2016. 

In 2014, the Society of Actuaries released a new mortality 

table – RP-2014, and a new projection scale – MP-2014. The 

Company adopted the new RP-2014 mortality table and a 

modified version of the new MP-2014 projection scale for the 

U.S. plans as of December 31, 2014. The Company has continued 

to use the same mortality tables and the modified version of 

the projection scale in 2015 and 2016. For the European defined 

benefit plans, the Company utilizes country-specific mortality 

tables and has used the same tables for the majority of its 

European plans since 2014. In 2016, the Company updated the 

mortality tables used for the United Kingdom plans which did 

not cause a significant increase to the projected benefit obliga-

tions for those plans.

The following table provides a reconciliation of changes in 

the plans’ benefit obligations and fair value of assets over the 

two-year period ended December 31, 2016 and the funded status 

as of December 31 for both years:

U.S. Plans European Plans

2016 2015 2016 2015

Change in projected benefit obligations
Projected benefit obligations as of January 1 $108,938 $117,319 $ 39,201 $ 42,886
Service cost  957  1,136  395  288
Interest cost  4,589  4,499  1,142  1,250
Employee contributions  —  —  73  71
Actuarial loss (gain)  4,293  (7,551)  7,018  (64)
Benefits paid  (4,094)  (4,022)  (1,527)  (1,091)
Acquisition  —  —  3,899  —
Plan amendments  —  —  (91)  —
Settlement  (3,951)  (2,443)  (1,224)  (1,383)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes  —  —  (5,391)  (2,756)

Projected benefit obligations as of December 31 $110,732 $108,938 $ 43,495 $ 39,201

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets as of January 1 $ 89,382 $ 98,395 $ 29,351 $ 31,025
Actual return on plan assets  6,221  (3,830)  4,212  646
Employer contributions  682  1,282  1,744  1,774
Employee contributions  —  —  73  71
Benefits paid  (4,094)  (4,022)  (1,527)  (1,091)
Settlement  (3,951)  (2,443)  (1,224)  (1,383)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes  —  —  (4,693)  (1,691)

Fair value of plan assets as of December 31 $ 88,240 $ 89,382 $ 27,936 $ 29,351

Funded status as of December 31 $ (22,492) $ (19,556) $(15,559) $ (9,850)

Amounts recognized in the balance sheets consist of:
Noncurrent asset — Other assets $      — $     273 $     141 $   1,258
Current liability — Payroll and benefits payable  (82)  (82)  (493)  (450)
Noncurrent liability — Accrued pension and other liabilities  (22,410)  (19,747)  (15,207)  (10,658)

Net amount recognized $ (22,492) $ (19,556) $(15,559) $ (9,850)

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income consist of:
Accumulated prior service cost $      — $      — $     (91) $      —
Accumulated net actuarial loss  38,694  38,741  10,549  8,039

Net amount recognized, before tax effect $ 38,694 $ 38,741 $ 10,458 $   8,039
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The assumptions used to determine benefit obligations are 

shown in the following table:

U.S. Plans European Plans

2016 2015 2016 2015

Weighted average actuarial assumptions as of December 31:
Discount rate  4.09%  4.38%  2.11%  3.15%
Rate of increase in compensation levels  3.00%  3.00%  2.87%  3.37%

The following tables set forth the fair values of the Company’s 

pension plans assets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015:

U.S. Plans

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2016 Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2015

Asset Category Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,414 $     — $— $ 4,414 $    262 $ 4,038 $— $ 4,300
Equity securities

Large cap  16,528  —  —  16,528  19,329  —  —  19,329
Small/mid cap  9,584  —  —  9,584  9,598  —  —  9,598
Equities blend (a)  —  —  —  —  257  —  —  257
International equity (b)  6,377  —  —  6,377  5,607  —  —  5,607
Emerging markets (c)  5,333  —  —  5,333  5,056  —  —  5,056

Fixed income securities
Corporate bonds (d)  —  23,034  —  23,034  —  23,777  —  23,777
Government bonds (e)  561  13,785  —  14,346  1,487  12,458  —  13,945
International bonds (f)  —  3,966  —  3,966  —  3,531  —  3,531

Commodities (g)  2,051  —  —  2,051  1,768  —  —  1,768
Real estate (h)  2,607  —  —  2,607  2,214  —  —  2,214

Total $47,455 $40,785 $— $88,240 $45,578 $43,804 $— $89,382

(a) This category invests in the common stock of primarily U.S. companies across the capitalization spectrum.
(b) This category consists of international equity securities from Europe, Australia and Southeast Asia. 
(c) This category invests in global emerging markets outside the U.S. The strategy targets broad diversification across various economic sectors in 

emerging economies. 
(d) This category invests primarily in investment grade corporate securities. 
(e) This category includes securities and mutual funds which invest in a diversified portfolio of longer duration bonds. The funds typically invest primarily in 

U.S. investment grade securities. 
( f ) This includes securities and mutual funds which invest in a diversified portfolio of longer duration foreign bonds. 
(g) This fund invests in assets of commodity linked derivative instruments and fixed income securities. 
(h) This fund primarily invests in equity related securities of real estate companies and other real estate securities. A significant portion of the total assets are 

typically in foreign securities.
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European Plans

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2016 Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2015

Asset Category Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,005 $— $    — $ 2,005 $ 1,997 $— $    — $ 1,997
Equity securities

M&G PP UK equity passive fund (a)  950  —  —  950  —  —  —  —
M&G PP overseas equity 
passive fund (b)  4,291  —  —  4,291  —  —  —  —
LGIM dynamic diversified fund (c)  3,758  —  —  3,758  —  —  —  —
W. Blair dynamic diversified 
allocation fund (d)  1,160  —  —  1,160  —  —  —  —
M&G PP discretionary fund (e)  —  —  —  —  4,673  —  —  4,673
Global equity 60-40 index (f)  —  —  —  —  5,412  —  —  5,412

Fixed income securities
Delta Lloyd fixed income (g)  —  —  1,158  1,158  —  —  1,864  1,864
Corporate bonds (h)  428  —  —  428  5,022  —  —  5,022
Government bonds (i)  10,582  —  —  10,582  6,913  —  —  6,913

Real estate (j)  2,796  —  —  2,796  2,211  —  —  2,211
Insurance reserves (k)  —  —  808  808  —  —  1,259  1,259

Total $25,970 $— $1,966 $27,936 $26,228 $— $3,123 $29,351

(a) This fund invests in the shares of UK companies.
(b) This fund invests in overseas companies with fixed proportions representing each region’s economic importance.
(c) This fund invests in a range of different asset classes, including equities, bonds, properties, commodities, listed infrastructure, private equity, and global 

real estate companies.
(d) This fund utilizes a combination of traditional assets (equities, bonds, currencies, etc.), and investment strategies based on advanced derivative techniques.
(e) This fund invests in a mix of UK and overseas equity shares, bonds, property and cash. 
( f ) This index fund invests primarily in the UK Equity Index Fund and secondarily in overseas index funds. 
(g) This category invests in fixed income investments with Delta Lloyd.
(h) This category invests primarily in investment grade corporate bonds, and other debt instruments, including higher yielding corporate bonds, government 

debt, convertible and preferred stocks, money market instruments and equities.
(i) This category invests mainly in long-term gilts.
(j) This category invests in commercial properties in the UK and is well diversified in the retail, office, and industrial sectors.
(k) This category invests in individual insurance policies in the name of the individual plan members.

The European plans’ Level 3 investments were valued using 

significant unobservable inputs. Inputs to these valuations 

include characteristics and quantitative data relating to the 

assets and reserves, investment and insurance policy cost, 

position size, liquidity, current financial condition of the 

company/insurer and other relevant market data. The following 

table sets forth changes in the fair value measurements for the 

years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015:

Delta Lloyd
Fixed Income

Insurance 
Reserves

Balance as of January 1, 2015 $ 3,481 $1,299
Purchases  —  139
Sales/Maturities  (1,394)  (50)
Foreign currency translation  (223)  (129)

Balance as of December 31, 2015 $ 1,864 $1,259

Purchases  —  101

Sales/Maturities  (668)  (525)

Foreign currency translation  (38)  (27)

Balance as of December 31, 2016 $ 1,158 $   808
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The following table provides information on the plans’ 

projected benefit obligations, accumulated benefit obligations, 

and the fair value of plan assets:

U.S. Plans European Plans

December 31 December 31

2016 2015 2016 2015

The projected benefit obligation and accumulated benefit obligation for all defined 

benefit plans was as follows:
Projected benefit obligation $110,732 $108,938 $43,495 $39,201
Accumulated benefit obligation  107,037  105,550  40,886  37,133
Fair value of plan assets  88,240  89,382  27,936  29,351

The aggregate projected benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for plans 

with projected benefit obligations in excess of plan assets was as follows:
Projected benefit obligation $110,732 $ 99,920 $31,570 $28,150
Fair value of plan assets  88,240  80,091  15,872  17,042

The aggregate accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for 

plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets was as follows:
Accumulated benefit obligation $107,037 $ 96,532 $28,962 $26,083
Fair value of plan assets  88,240  80,091  15,872  17,042

Information about the expected cash flows by year for the 

pension plans follows:

U.S. Plans European Plans

Employer contributions
2017 $2,885 $1,689

Benefit payments
2017 $6,358 $1,251
2018  6,144  1,495
2019  6,451  1,159
2020  6,841  1,294
2021  6,703  1,249
2022 - 2026  36,536  8,817

For the European plans, the total benefit payments 

include both the Company’s share of the benefit cost and the 

participants’ share of the cost, which is funded by participant 

contributions to the plans.
U.S. Plans European Plans

Year Ended December 31 Year Ended December 31

2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014

Net periodic pension cost
Service cost $    957 $ 1,136 $    895 $    395 $    288 $    342
Interest cost  4,589  4,499  4,815  1,142  1,250  1,653
Expected return on assets (6,040) (7,070) (7,541) (1,416) (1,705) (1,549)
Amortization of prior service cost  —  15  74  —  —  —
Net actuarial loss amortization  3,010  2,606  877  229  219  245
Settlement  1,149  607  1,025  361  199  —

Net periodic pension cost $ 3,665 $ 1,793 $    145 $    711 $    251 $    691
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U.S. Plans European Plans
Year Ended December 31 Year Ended December 31

2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive 
income (loss)

Current year actuarial loss $(4,112) $(3,348) $(19,756) $(4,222) $(984) $(2,117)
Amortization of actuarial loss  3,010  2,606  877  229  219  245
Current year prior service credit  —  —  —  91  —  —
Amortization of prior service cost  —  15  74  —  —  —
Settlement  1,149  607  1,025  361  199  —
Foreign currency exchange  —  —  —  1,122  603  818

Total recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) $     47 $   (120) $(17,780) $(2,419) $   37 $(1,054)

Total recognized in net periodic pension cost and 

other comprehensive income (loss) $(3,618) $(1,913) $(17,925) $(3,130) $(214) $(1,745)

U.S. Plans 2017 European Plans 2017

Amounts expected to be recognized in net periodic pension cost
Prior service credit $    — $    (9)
Net actuarial loss  2,984  424

Total as of December 31 $2,984 $415

The assumptions used in the measurement of net periodic 

pension cost are shown in the following table:

U.S. Plans European Plans
December 31 December 31

2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014

Weighted average actuarial assumptions
Discount rate  4.38%  4.01%  4.88%  2.97%  3.00%  3.92%
Expected annual return on plan assets  7.00%  7.50%  7.75%  5.28%  5.54%  5.23%
Rate of increase in compensation levels  3.00%  3.00%  3.50%  3.07%  3.38%  3.50%

The discount rates that the Company utilizes to determine 

pension obligations for its U.S. plans are based on a review of 

long-term corporate bonds that receive one of the two highest 

ratings given by a recognized rating agency. 

The expected rate of return on plan assets was determined 

by the Company based on a review of asset class return expecta-

tions, as well as long-term inflation assumptions. Projected 

returns are based on broad equity and bond indices that the 

Company uses to benchmark its actual asset portfolio perfor-

mance. The Company also considered historical returns on asset 

classes and investment mix. The expected long-term return on 

the U.S. plans’ assets is based on an asset allocation assumption 

of approximately 40%-50% equity securities, 45%-55% fixed 

income securities, and 5% with other investments. The expected 

long-term return on the European plans’ assets is based on 

its targeted portfolio mix of approximately 20%-30% equity 

securities, 55%-65% fixed income securities and 10%-20% other 

investments. The Company also takes into account the effect 

on its projected returns from any reasonably likely changes in 

its asset portfolio when applicable. The Company’s investment 

strategy is to earn the highest possible long-term total rate 

of return while minimizing the associated risk to ensure the 

preservation of the plan assets for the provision of benefits to 

participants and their beneficiaries. This is accomplished by 

managing a diversified portfolio of fund styles, asset types, risk 

characteristics and investment holdings.

Multi-Employer Pension Plan
In addition to the aforementioned European plans, the Company 

participates in a multi-employer pension plan in Europe. This 

multi-employer plan almost entirely relates to former employees 

of operations it has divested. Benefits are distributed by the 

multi-employer plan. As of both December 31, 2016 and 2015, the 

Company had a $0.9 million liability recorded as a component 

of payroll and benefits payable within its consolidated balance 

sheets. Refer to Note 16 for further information related to this 

multi-employer plan.

Defined Contribution Plans
The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan for certain 

U.S. employees. The plan allows for employee contributions, 

and the Company can make fixed, matching and discretionary 

contributions to the plan on behalf of its employees. The 

Company also makes contributions to the USW 401(k) Plan 

for certain eligible employees. Total expenses related to the 

defined contribution plans were $3.8 million, $3.1 million, and 

$2.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 

2014, respectively.
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10. Stock Compensation Plans

In 2008, the Company adopted an equity incentive plan for 

eligible employees, service providers, and non-employee direc-

tors of the Company and its subsidiaries. In 2014, the Company 

amended and restated the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan to 

increase the aggregate number of shares available for issuance 

from 2,000,000 to 5,000,000, and to extend the term for a period 

of ten years. The plan includes a 1,500,000 share fixed sub-limit 

for the granting of incentive stock options. The awards may 

be stock options, restricted stock units, performance units or 

other stock-based awards. Stock options may be non-statutory or 

incentive. The exercise price for options and stock appreciation 

rights shall not be less than the fair market value on the date of 

grant, except if an incentive stock option is granted to a “10% 

employee,” as defined by the plan, then the option price may 

not be less than 110% of such fair market value. Options and 

stock appreciation rights may be exercisable commencing with 

the grant date, and are no longer exercisable after the expiration 

of seven or ten years from the grant date.

The former Employee Stock Option Plan and the 

Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan (Prior Plans) were 

terminated and superseded by the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan. 

The Prior Plans both had stock-based awards outstanding as 

of December 31, 2016 and 2015. The Prior Plans granted stock 

options and restricted stock to officers, directors and other key 

employees of the Company. The stock options were granted at 

the fair market value on the grant date, became exercisable no 

less than six months after granted, and, in general, expire ten 

years after the date of grant.

Stock Options
The following tables show a summary of the status and activity 

of stock options for the year ended December 31, 2016:

Employee stock options: Shares

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price
(per share)

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual 

Term (in years)
Aggregate

Intrinsic Value

Outstanding as of January 1, 2016  1,252,136 $19.08  5.01 $   645
Granted  508,999  14.06
Exercised  (13,574)  9.10
Forfeited  (17,907)  17.91
Expired  (62,852)  18.33

Outstanding as of December 31, 2016  1,666,802 $17.67  4.69 $1,993

Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2016  1,666,802 $17.67  4.69 $1,993

Exercisable as of December 31, 2016  974,977 $18.87  3.85 $   476

Non-employee director stock options: Shares

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price
(per share)

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual 

Term (in years)
Aggregate

Intrinsic Value

Outstanding as of January 1, 2016  39,885 $6.99  0.81 $379
Granted  —  —
Exercised  (22,320)  5.90
Forfeited  —  —
Expired  —  —

Outstanding as of December 31, 2016  17,565 $8.37  0.42 $154

Vested as of December 31, 2016  17,565 $8.37  0.42 $154

Exercisable as of December 31, 2016  17,565 $8.37  0.42 $154

The following assumptions were used to calculate the fair 

values of employee stock option grants in each year:

Year Ended December 31

2016 2015 2014

Weighted-average grant date fair value per stock option $3.11 $3.30 $4.48
Expected dividend yield 1.10% 0.96% 0.00%
Expected volatility 29% 19% 21 - 22%
Risk-free interest rates 1.04% 1.48% 1.51 - 1.73%
Expected lives of options 4 Years 4 Years 4 Years
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The expected dividend yield is based on the latest annualized 

dividend rate and the current market price of the underlying 

common stock at the date of grant. The expected volatility is 

based on the historical volatility of the Company’s stock and 

the implied volatility calculated from traded options on the 

Company’s stock. The risk-free interest rates are based on the 

U.S. Treasury strip rate for the expected life of the option. For 

the 2011 through 2016 grants of stock options, the Company 

used the simplified method for determining the expected 

life. This method was used since the Company granted stock 

options to a different population of its employees, and decreased 

the term from 10 to 7 years. As a result of these changes, the 

Company does not believe that the historical stock option 

exercise data provides a reasonable basis upon which to estimate 

the expected life for the 2011 through 2016 grants.

The total grant date fair value of options vested during the 

years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 was $3.75 per 

share, $4.49 per share, and $4.80 per share, or $1.5 million, $1.5 

million, and $1.3 million, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, 

the total intrinsic value of stock options exercised (i.e., the 

difference between the market price at exercise and the price 

paid by the employee or non-employee directors to exercise 

the option) was $0.2 million, $0.4 million, and $1.0 million, 

respectively. The total amount of cash received from the exercise 

of options was $0.3 million, $1.1 million, and $2.2 million, for the 

years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively.

Restricted and Performance Based Stock Awards
The grant date fair value of time vested restricted stock awards 

is the market price of the underlying common stock and is 

expensed over the vesting period of three years.

Performance stock awards, based on Return on Capital (ROC), 

vest subject to the satisfaction of this performance condition, 

at the end of a three-year performance period. The Company’s 

actual ROC for the performance period is compared to the 

target set, and the actual award payout is interpolated. The ROC 

award can vest at between zero and 200 percent of the target 

award. The grant date fair value of the ROC performance stock 

is the market price of the underlying common stock. The fair 

value is expensed on a straight-line basis over the performance 

period when it is probable that the performance condition will 

be achieved. No expense was recognized for these awards in 

2016, 2015, or 2014 as it was not considered probable that the 

performance condition would be achieved.

Performance stock awards, based on Total Stockholder Return 

(TSR), vest subject to the satisfaction of this market condition, 

at the end of a three-year performance period. The Company’s 

actual TSR for the performance period is compared to the results 

of its peer companies for the same period with the Company’s 

relative position in the group determined by percentile rank. 

The actual award payout is determined by multiplying the target 

award by the performance factor percentage based upon the 

Company’s percentile ranking and can vest at between zero and 

200 percent of the target award. The initial grant date fair value 

of the TSR performance stock is determined using a Monte Carlo 

simulation model. The grant date fair value is expensed on a 

straight-line basis over the three-year performance period.

The following table shows a summary of the status and 

activity of employee and non-employee directors’ non-vested 

stock awards for the year ended December 31, 2016:

Restricted
Stock Awards

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

(per share)

ROC
Performance
Stock Awards

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

(a)  (per share)

TSR
Performance
Stock Awards

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

(a) (per share)

Nonvested as of January 1, 2016  204,689 $20.28  76,942 $19.33  68,505 $21.74
Granted  159,938  14.65  35,719  13.76  50,880  9.66
Vested  (103,152)  19.56  —  —  (22,248)  21.92
Forfeited  (10,935)  19.43  (32,713)  17.56  (4,093)  21.79

Nonvested as of December 31, 2016  250,540 $17.02  79,948 $17.56  93,044 $15.09

(a) The number of shares shown for the performance stock awards is based on the target number of share awards.

The weighted-average grant date fair value of restricted stock 

awards granted during the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, 

and 2014 was $14.65 per share, $21.06 per share, and $20.83 per 

share or $2.3 million, $2.4 million, and $2.1 million, respectively. 

The total fair value of restricted stock awards vested during the 

years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 was $2.0 million, 

$2.0 million, and $1.5 million, respectively.

The weighted-average grant date fair value of ROC perfor-

mance stock awards granted during the years ended December 

31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 was $13.76 per share, $20.74 per share, 

and $20.54 per share or $0.5 million, $0.5 million and $0.6 

million, respectively. There were no ROC performance stock 

awards that vested during the years ended December 31, 2016, 

2015, and 2014.
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The weighted-average grant date fair value of TSR perfor-

mance stock awards granted during the years ended December 

31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, was $9.66 per share, $21.96 per share, 

and $21.39 per share, or $0.5 million, $0.5 million, and $0.6 

million, respectively. The total fair value of TSR performance 

stock awards vested during the years ended December 31, 

2016, 2015, and 2014 was $0.5 million, $0.2 million and 

$0.1 million, respectively. 

The following significant assumptions were used for the TSR 

performance stock awards:

Year Ended December 31

2016 2015 2014

Dividend yield 1.10% 0.96% 0.00%
Expected volatility  26.8%  25.9%  31.5%
Risk-free interest rates  0.83%  0.93%  0.68%
Performance period  3 Years  3 Years  3 Years

Total Stock-Based Compensation
Compensation expense related to all stock-based compensation 

totaled $4.1 million, $3.8 million, and $3.7 million for the years 

ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively, and was 

recognized as a component of selling, general and administra-

tive expense. The related income tax benefit was $1.3 million, 

$1.2 million, and $1.2 million for the years ended December 31, 

2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively.

As of December 31, 2016, there was $4.1 million of total future 

compensation cost related to non-vested share-based compensa-

tion arrangements and the weighted-average period over which 

this cost is expected to be recognized is approximately 1.6 years.

11. Stockholders’ Equity

In February, 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors reinstated 

its common stock dividend program. Quarterly dividends of 

$0.05 per share were declared in each of the four quarters for 

the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. In addition, in 

February, 2017, a common stock dividend of $0.05 per share was 

declared. No common stock dividends were declared during the 

year ended December 31, 2014.

In December 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors 

approved a share repurchase program with a total of $150 

million of purchases authorized. During 2014, the Company 

repurchased 1,930,841 shares at an average price of $20.57 

per share. During 2015, the Company repurchased 2,002,444 

shares at an average price of $17.45 per share. During 2016, 

the Company repurchased an additional 518,576 shares at an 

average price of $15.81 per share. As of December 2016, the 

Company had repurchased a total of 4,598,661 shares at an 

average price of $18.67 per share under the program. All of 

the above mentioned repurchases were funded from operating 

cash flows, cash on hand, and borrowings and the shares are 

held as treasury stock. Subsequent to these repurchases, the 

Company’s remaining authorization to repurchase its common 

stock is approximately $64.1 million. In April 2016, the Company 

suspended the activities of the share repurchase program.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had repurchased 

approximately 2.9 million common stock shares under an accel-

erated share repurchase program. These repurchases and some 

employee stock plan activity were inadvertently reflected as a 

reduction of the total common stock shares issued at that time. 

The number of common stock shares issued as of December 

31, 2013 has been increased to adjust for this. This has also 

resulted in an increase in the common stock balance reported 

on the Company’s financial statements as of December 31, 2013 

of approximately $37 thousand, with a corresponding decrease 

to additional paid in capital. There is no impact to historically 

reported net income or earnings per share.
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12. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The changes in the components of accumulated other 

comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, are as follows:

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Adjustments

Defined
Benefit

Pension Plan
Adjustments Derivatives

Total
Accumulated

Other
Comprehensive

Income (Loss)

Balance as of December 31, 2013, net of tax $ 16,793 $(18,450) $ 517 $ (1,140)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications  (14,850)  (12,669)  789  (26,730)
Amounts reclassified from other comprehensive income (loss)  —  761 (401)  360

Net current period other comprehensive income (loss)  (14,850)  (11,908)  388  (26,370)

Balance as of December 31, 2014, net of tax  1,943  (30,358)  905  (27,510)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications  (13,013)  (2,446)  (199)  (15,658)
Amounts reclassified from other comprehensive income (loss)  —  2,330  (792)  1,538

Net current period other comprehensive loss  (13,013)  (116)  (991)  (14,120)

Balance as of December 31, 2015, net of tax  (11,070)  (30,474)  (86)  (41,630)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications  (10,956)  (4,879)  809  (15,026)
Amounts reclassified from other comprehensive income (loss)  —  2,980  77  3,057

Net current period other comprehensive income (loss)  (10,956)  (1,899)  886  (11,969)

Balance as of December 31, 2016, net of tax $(22,026) $(32,373) $ 800 $(53,599)

Details about Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive Income (Loss) Components

Amount Reclassified from Accumulated 
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) (1)

Year Ended December 31 Affected Line Item in the Statement 
where Net Income is Presented2016 2015 2014

Defined Benefit Pension Plan Adjustments: 
Prior-service costs $     — $    (15) $    (74) (2)

Actuarial losses  (4,749) (3,631) (1,122) (2)

(4,749)  (3,646)  (1,196) Total before tax
 1,769  1,316  435 Tax benefit

 (2,980)  (2,330)  (761) Net of tax

Derivatives:

Foreign exchange contracts  206  2,077  484
Cost of products sold 
(excluding depreciation and amortization)

Natural gas contracts  (339)  (941)  221
Cost of products sold 
(excluding depreciation and amortization)

 (133)  1,136  705 Total before tax
 56  (344)  (304) Tax benefit (expense)

 (77)  792  401 Net of tax

Total reclassifications for the period $(3,057) $(1,538) $   (360) Net of tax

(1) Amounts in parentheses indicate debits to income/loss.
(2) These accumulated other comprehensive (loss) components are included in the computation of net periodic pension cost.

Foreign currency translation adjustments exclude income 

tax for the earnings of the Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries as 

management believes these earnings will be reinvested for an 

indefinite period of time. Determination of the amount of unrec-

ognized deferred U.S. income tax liability on these unremitted 

earnings is not practicable.

The income tax benefit associated with ASC 715 

“Compensation — Retirement Benefits” included in 

accumulated other comprehensive loss was $17.7 million, 

$17.1 million and $17.4 million as of December 31, 2016, 2015, and 

2014, respectively. The income tax expense (benefit) associated 

with the Company’s derivatives included in accumulated 

other comprehensive income (loss) was $0.4 million, $(0.1) 

million, and $0.5 million as of December 31, 2016, 2015, and 

2014, respectively.
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The following table contains the components of income 

tax expense (benefit) included in other comprehensive 

income (loss):
Year Ended December 31

2016 2015 2014

Defined benefit pension plan $(647) $ 183 $(7,202)
Derivatives  519 (521)  184

13. Basic and Diluted Net Income Per Common Share

Computation of basic and diluted net income per common share 

is performed as follows:

Year Ended December 31

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2016 2015 2014

Net income available to common stockholders $13,797 $43,463 $49,370
Weighted average shares outstanding

Basic  50,259  51,902  53,042
Effect of dilutive securities  764  807  899

Diluted  51,023  52,709  53,941

Basic net income per common share $   0.27 $   0.84 $   0.93
Diluted net income per common share $   0.27 $   0.82 $   0.92

For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, 

there were 1.2 million, 0.8 million, and 0.3 million stock based 

compensation awards, respectively, that were excluded from the 

dilutive calculations as the effect would have been antidilutive.

14. Income Taxes

The components of the provision for income taxes were as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2016 2015 2014

Current
Federal $ 6,481 $ 5,967 $ 6,200
State and local  523  577  1,587
Foreign  4,664  6,597  6,138

11,668  13,141  13,925

Deferred
Federal  (1,795)  5,471  7,506
State and local  435  563  488
Foreign  (4,032)  748  1,219

 (5,392)  6,782  9,213

Provision for income taxes $ 6,276 $19,923 $23,138

In the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company completed a U.S. 

research and development tax credit study for the prior years 

2012 – 2014, and the Company recognized a benefit of $1.1 

million related to the research and development credit. During 

2014, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) completed its joint 

committee review of the Company’s 2008 amended income tax 

return and the Company released net uncertain tax positions 

including related accrued interest and penalties of $1.4 million, 

all of which impacted the Company’s effective tax rate in 2014.

Income before income tax provision includes income gener-

ated by operations outside the U.S. of $9.6 million, $28.1 million, 

and $29.0 million for 2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively. No provi-

sion has been made for U.S. Federal, state, or additional foreign 

taxes related to approximately $77.8 million of undistributed 
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earnings of foreign subsidiaries, which have been indefinitely 

reinvested. Determination of the amount of any such unrecog-

nized deferred income tax liability on this temporary difference 

is not practicable as such determination involves material 

uncertainties about the potential extent and timing of any 

distributions, the availability and complexity of calculating 

foreign tax credits, and the potential extent and timing of any 

such distributions, including withholding taxes.

The differences between the U.S. federal statutory tax rate and 

the Company’s effective income tax rate are as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2016 2015 2014

U.S. federal statutory rate  35.0%  35.0%  35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit  2.9  1.8  2.2
Tax rate differential on foreign income  (6.5)  (3.1)  (2.9)
Permanent tax differences  3.2  (1.6)  0.3
Valuation allowance  0.8  0.3  —
Settlement of uncertain tax positions  —  —  (1.9)
Tax statute expiration  (0.3)  (0.6)  (0.6)
Change in uncertain tax positions  0.4  0.1  0.1
Deferred tax benefit for Section 987  (2.7)  —  —
Other — net  (1.5)  (0.5)  (0.3)

Effective income tax rate  31.3%  31.4%  31.9%

The Company has the following gross operating loss carryfor-

wards and tax credit carryforwards as of December 31, 2016:

Type Amount Expiration Date

Foreign tax credits $    183 2017
Capital loss carryforwards  2,009 2018
State tax credits (1)  2,184 2023 - 2027; unlimited
Operating loss carryforwards — federal  485 2029
Operating loss carryforwards — state (2)  10,560 2018 - 2036
Operating loss carryforwards — foreign (3) 16,768 2023 - unlimited

(1) Of the total state tax credit carryforwards, approximately 50% begin to expire in 2023.
(2) Of the total state operating loss-carryforwards, approximately 92% expire in 2021 or later. 
(3) Of the total foreign tax operating loss carryforwards, approximately 99% have no expiration. The increase from the prior year is primarily due to the 

New Business.

The components of deferred taxes consist of the following:

December 31

2016 2015

Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss and credit carryforwards (1) (2) $   7,763 $   4,875
Accruals and other timing items  15,824  11,159
Inventories  11,181  15,403
Pensions  12,186  11,303
Valuation allowance  (2,510)  (2,682)

Total deferred tax assets  44,444  40,058

Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment $ 45,300 $ 49,272
Goodwill and other intangible assets  15,716  6,108
U.S. liability on foreign deferred taxes  1,095  708

Total deferred tax liabilities  62,111  56,088

Net deferred tax liability $(17,667) $(16,030)

(1) Uncertain tax liabilities of approximately $0.2 million partially offset the net operating losses and credit carryforwards in both 2016 and 2015.
(2) Net indirect benefits on uncertain tax liabilities of approximately $72 thousand and $61 thousand are included in the U.S. net operating loss and credit 

carryforwards in 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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A valuation allowance is established when it is more likely than 

not that a portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. 

The valuation allowance is adjusted based on the changing 

facts and circumstances, such as the expected expiration of an 

operating loss carryforward. The Company’s valuation allow-

ance as of December 31, 2016 of $2.5 million pertained to an 

uncertainty related to the realization of foreign net operating loss 

carryforwards, domestic capital loss carryforwards, U.S. passive 

foreign tax credits, and state tax credits. The Company’s valuation 

allowance as of December 31, 2015 of $2.7 million pertained to 

an uncertainty related to the realization of foreign net operating 

loss carryforwards, U.S. foreign tax credits, domestic capital loss 

carryforwards, and state tax credits. 

The Company has classified uncertain tax positions as non-

current income tax liabilities unless the amount is expected to 

be paid within one year. The following is a reconciliation of the 

unrecognized income tax benefits:

Year Ended December 31

2016 2015 2014

Balance as of January 1 $ 778 $1,187 $ 3,435
Gross increases for tax positions of current year  108  78  75
Lapse of statute of limitations (101)  (417)  (500)
Settlement of uncertain tax positions  —  (70) (1,823)

Balance as of December 31 $ 785 $   778 $ 1,187

The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties 

related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. In 

2016, the Company accrued interest and penalties of approxi-

mately $23 thousand on prior year uncertain tax positions and 

reversed approximately $3 thousand of interest and penalties 

due to the expiration of the statute of limitations. In 2015, the 

Company accrued interest and penalties of approximately $33 

thousand on current and prior year uncertain tax positions 

and reversed approximately $0.1 million of interest and penal-

ties due to the expiration of the statute of limitations. As of 

both December 31, 2016 and 2015, the amount accrued for the 

payment of interest and penalties is approximately $0.3 million.

Total uncertain tax positions recorded as a component of 

accrued pension and other liabilities within its consolidated 

balance sheets were approximately $0.9 million as of December 

31, 2016 and 2015. As of both December 31, 2016, and 2015, 

approximately $0.6 million of unrecognized tax benefits would 

reduce the Company’s effective tax rate if recognized. At this 

time, the Company believes that it is reasonably possible that 

approximately $0.2 million of the estimated unrecognized tax 

benefits as of December 31, 2016 will be recognized within the 

next twelve months based on the expiration of statutory review 

periods all of which will impact the effective tax rate.

As of December 31, 2016, the following tax years remain 

subject to examination for the major jurisdictions where the 

Company conducts business:

Jurisdiction Years

United States 2012–2016
Kentucky 2012–2016
Pennsylvania 2013–2016
Belgium 2013–2016
China 2013–2016
Germany 2013–2016
United Kingdom 2012–2016
Japan 2011, 2012, 2016
Singapore 2012–2016
France 2016
Italy 2012–2016
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15. Commitments

The Company has entered into leases covering principally office, 

research and warehouse space, office equipment and vehicles. 

Future minimum rental payments required under all operating 

leases that have remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess 

of one year are $8.2 million in 2017, $6.0 million in 2018, $4.0 

million in 2019, $2.4 million in 2020, $2.2 million in 2021, and 

$18.5 million thereafter. Total rental expense on all operating 

leases was $8.0 million, $8.9 million, and $7.9 million for the 

years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively.

The Company has unconditional purchase obligations for raw 

materials and information systems and services under long-

term supply contracts.

Future minimum purchase requirements under the terms of 

the aforementioned contracts are as follows:

Due in

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Thereafter

Raw and other materials $19,190 $21,049 $   781 $781 $781 $—
Information systems and services  2,185  2,250  710  65  —  —

Total contractual cash obligations $21,375 $23,299 $1,491 $846 $781 $—

Total payments made for purchases under these supply 

contracts were as follows:

December 31

2016 2015 2014

Raw and other materials $21,178 $27,832 $38,096
Information systems and services  1,384  1,871  2,163

Total payments $22,562 $29,703 $40,259

16. Contingencies

Waterlink
In conjunction with the February 2004 purchase of substantially 

all of Waterlink Inc.’s (Waterlink) operating assets and the 

stock of Waterlink’s UK subsidiary, environmental studies were 

performed on Waterlink’s Columbus, Ohio property by environ-

mental consulting firms that provided an identification and 

characterization of certain areas of contamination. In addition, 

these firms identified alternative methods of remediating the 

property and prepared cost evaluations of the various alterna-

tives. The Company concluded from the information in the 

studies that a loss at this property was probable and recorded 

the liability. As of both December 31, 2016 and 2015, the balance 

recorded was $0.3 million as a component of accrued pension 

and other liabilities, respectively. The Company has determined 

that additional site characterization work is needed to establish 

the next steps. No estimates regarding the timing or potential 

cost of these activities can be made until the additional site 

characterization work is finished. Planning for the additional 

characterization work has begun. Implementation timing will 

depend on acceptance by the Ohio Voluntary Action Program 

administrators. Liability estimates are based on an evaluation 

of, among other factors, currently available facts, existing 

technology, presently enacted laws and regulations, and the 

experience of experts in groundwater remediation. It is possible 

that a further change in the estimate of this obligation will 

occur as remediation progresses. 

Carbon Imports
General Anti-Dumping Background: In March 2006, the 

Company and another U.S. producer of activated carbon (collec-

tively, the “Petitioners”) requested that the U.S. Department of 

Commerce (Commerce Department) investigate unfair pricing of 

certain thermally activated carbon imported from the People’s 

Republic of China (China). In 2007, the Commerce Department 

found that imports of the subject merchandise from China were 

being unfairly priced (or “dumped”). Following a finding by the 

U.S. International Trade Commission (ITC) that the domestic 

industry was injured by unfairly traded imports of activated 
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carbon from China, the Commerce Department issued an anti-

dumping order imposing tariffs on Chinese imports to offset 

the amount of the unfair pricing. The Commerce Department 

published the antidumping order in the Federal Register in 

April 2007, and all imports from China remain subject to it. 

Importers of subject activated carbon from China are required 

to make cash deposits of estimated anti-dumping duties at 

the time the goods are entered into the U.S. customs territory. 

Final assessment of duties and duty deposits are subject to 

revision based on annual retrospective reviews conducted by the 

Commerce Department.

The Company is a domestic producer, exporter from China 

(through its wholly-owned subsidiary Calgon Carbon (Tianjin) 

Co., Ltd. (Calgon Carbon Tianjin)), and a U.S. importer of 

the activated carbon that is subject to the anti-dumping 

order. As such, the Company’s involvement in the Commerce 

Department’s proceedings is both as a domestic producer (a 

“petitioner”) and as a foreign exporter (a “respondent”).

The Company’s role as an importer, which has in the past 

(and may in the future) required it to pay anti-dumping duties, 

results in a contingent liability related to the final amount of 

tariffs that are ultimately assessed on the imported product 

following the Commerce Department’s annual review of relevant 

shipments and calculation of the anti-dumping duties due. As 

a result of proceedings before the Commerce Department that 

concluded in September 2016, the Company is currently required 

to post a duty of $0.616 per pound when importing activated 

carbon from Calgon Carbon Tianjin into the U.S. The impact of 

the tariffs to the Company’s financial results was not material 

for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014. However, 

the Company’s ultimate assessment rate and future cash deposit 

rate on such imports could change in the future, as a result of 

on-going proceedings before the Commerce Department.

In February 2013, the ITC determined that the anti-dumping 

order on certain thermally activated carbon from China should 

remain in effect for an additional five years. As a result, the 

Commerce Department has conducted annual reviews of sales 

made to the first unaffiliated U.S. customer, typically over the 

prior 12-month period. These annual reviews will continue 

through at least February 2018. In addition, the Commerce 

Department will continue to perform reviews from February 

2018 to February 2019, dependent upon an affirmative outcome 

of the Second Sunset Review, which will be initiated in February 

2018. These reviews can result in changes to the anti-dumping 

tariff rate (either increasing or reducing the rate) applicable to 

any foreign exporter. Revision of tariff rates has two effects. 

First, it will alter the actual amount of tariffs that U.S. Customs 

and Border Protection (Customs) will collect for the period 

reviewed, by either collecting additional duties, plus interest 

above those deposited with Customs by the U.S. importer at the 

time of entry or refunding a portion of the duties, plus interest 

deposited at the time of importation to reflect a decline in the 

margin of dumping. Second, the revised rate becomes the cash 

deposit rate applied to future entries, and can either increase 

or decrease the amount of duty deposits an importer will be 

required to post at the time of importation. 

Periods of Review (POR) I, II, IV and V, related to the periods 

that ended on March 31, 2008, 2009, 2011 and 2012, respectively, 

are final and not subject to further review or appeal. A summary 

of the proceedings in the remaining PORs follows below.

Period of Review III: In October, 2011, the Commerce 

Department published the final results of its third annual 

administrative review, which covers imports that entered the 

U.S. between April 1, 2009 and March 31, 2010 (POR III). The 

Company’s ongoing duty deposit rate was adjusted to zero, and 

the Company recorded a receivable of $1.1 million reflecting 

expected refunds for duty deposits made during POR III. The 

Commerce Department continued to assign cooperative respon-

dents involved in POR III a deposit rate of $0.127 per pound. The 

Commerce Department’s final results of POR III were appealed. 

In January 2014, the Commerce Department filed its remand 

redetermination with the Court of International Trade (Court), 

continuing to calculate a zero duty for the Company during POR 

III. In addition, the Commerce Department revised its earlier 

determination and assigned a zero margin as a separate rate to 

several Chinese producers/exporters of steam activated carbon 

to the U.S. that were not subjected to an individual investiga-

tion. The Company contested this aspect of the Commerce 

Department’s redetermination. In November 2014, the Court 

affirmed the Commerce Department’s remand determination. 

Various parties appealed the decision to the U.S. Court of 

Appeals for the Federal Circuit (Court of Appeals), which later 

affirmed the Court’s decision with respect to several Chinese 

parties, finding that they should be assigned a zero margin. 

The Court of Appeals remanded the action to the Court, and a 

decision from the Court is expected in the first quarter of 2017.

Period of Review VI: In November 2014, the Commerce 

Department announced the final margins for its sixth adminis-

trative review (POR VI), which covers imports that entered the 

U.S. between April 1, 2012 and March 31, 2013. The Commerce 
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Department calculated a margin of $0.018 per pound for both 

mandatory and separate rate respondents, including Calgon 

Carbon Tianjin, and $1.10 per pound for the China-wide rate. 

In December 2014, an appeal was commenced. The Commerce 

Department filed its redetermination with the Court in May 

2016, and calculated revised margins. In November 2016, the 

Court sustained in part and remanded in part the Commerce 

Department’s redetermination. The Commerce Department 

filed its second redetermination with the Court in January 2017, 

calculating margins for mandatory respondents ranging from 

$0.082 per pound to $0.127 per pound and $0.100 per pound for 

separate rate respondents, including Calgon Carbon Tianjin. The 

Court’s decision should conclude all litigation regarding POR VI. 

The impact of the tariffs during this period is not expected to be 

material to the Company’s financial results.

Period of Review VII: The Commerce Department announced 

the final results for its seventh administrative review (POR VII) 

in October 2015, covering imports that entered the U.S. between 

April 1, 2013 and March 31, 2014. The Commerce Department 

calculated anti-dumping margins for the mandatory respon-

dents it examined ranging from $0.00 per pound to $0.476 per 

pound, and it calculated an anti-dumping margin of $0.476 

per pound for the separate rate respondents, including Calgon 

Carbon Tianjin. The impact of the tariffs to the Company’s 

financial results is not material. In October 2015, appeals were 

commenced challenging the final results. A decision from the 

Court is possible in the first quarter of 2017.

Period of Review VIII: In September 2016, the Commerce 

Department announce the final margins for its eighth admin-

istrative review (POR VIII), which covers imports that entered 

the U.S. between April 1, 2014 and March 31, 2015. The final anti-

dumping margins for the mandatory respondents ranged from 

$0.009 per pound to $0.797 per pound, while the separate rate 

respondents, including Calgon Carbon Tianjin, were assigned 

$0.616 per pound. In October 2016, appeals were commenced 

challenging the final results. A decision from the Court is 

possible in late 2017 or early 2018.

Period of Review IX: In April 2016, the Commerce Department 

published a notice allowing parties to request a ninth annual 

administrative review (POR IX) of the anti-dumping duty order 

covering the period April 1, 2015 through March 31, 2016. The 

Commerce Department has selected mandatory respondents for 

review and a decision is likely in the fourth quarter of 2017.

Big Sandy Plant
In 2007, the Company received from the EPA Region 4 a report of 

a hazardous waste facility inspection performed by the EPA and 

the Kentucky Department of Environmental Protection (KYDEP) 

of the Company’s Big Sandy plant in Kentucky. Accompanying 

the report was a Notice of Violation (NOV) alleging multiple 

violations of the Federal Resource Conservation and Recovery 

Act (RCRA) and corresponding EPA and KYDEP hazardous waste 

regulations as well as the Clean Water Act (CWA).

The Company was required to conduct testing of the portion 

of stockpiled material dredged from onsite wastewater treatment 

lagoons that had not previously been tested in accordance 

with a pre-approved work plan and installed two ground water 

monitoring wells at the Company’s permitted solid waste landfill 

where some lagoon solids had previously been disposed. The 

landfill is considered a non-hazardous facility and regulated by 

the KYDEP. The testing of the stockpile material was completed 

and the results have been reviewed by the EPA. The Company 

received comments from the EPA including a request for a 

health and safety risk assessment similar to that which the 

Company performed on other materials from the lagoons. 

The Company has prepared this assessment and it has been 

submitted to the EPA. The stockpiled material was removed in 

2015 and the Company will not be required to close or retrofit 

any of the wastewater treatment lagoons as RCRA hazardous 

waste management units and may continue to use them in their 

current manner. The Company is subject to daily stipulated 

penalties for any failure to sample the landfill wells in accor-

dance with the EPA-approved protocols and schedules. As of 

December 31, 2016 and 2015, there is no liability recorded related 

to this issue.

Multi-Employer Pension Plan
The Company participates in a multi-employer plan in Europe 

which almost entirely relates to former employees of operations 

it has divested. Benefits are distributed by the multi-employer 

plan. In 2012 the Company learned that the multi-employer plan 

had previously elected to reduce benefits to entitled parties, 

and the local Labor Court had concluded that an employer 

was required to compensate its pensioners for the shortfall if 

benefits had been reduced by the plan. As a result, the Company 

accrued a liability for the past shortfall to its former employees, 

and the Company has had several claims from pensioners 

seeking compensation for the shortfall. In 2014 the Company 

also learned that certain pensioners are claiming that the 

employers should also pay a cost of living adjustment on the 
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amounts paid by the multi-employer plan. In February 2015, 

the Court published an opinion ruling that employers may be 

required to pay a cost of living adjustment. As a result, the 

Company recorded an additional accrual of $0.4 million for the 

year ended December 31, 2014. As of both December 31, 2016 

and 2015, the Company had a $0.9 million liability recorded as 

a component of payroll and benefits payable within its consoli-

dated balance sheets for the past shortfall adjustments to its 

former employees. The Company cannot predict if future benefit 

payments to entitled parties to be made by the multi-employer 

plan will continue to be reduced.

Other
On February 21, 2017, the Japan Fair Trade Commission (the 

JFTC) informed the Company’s subsidiary, Calgon Carbon 

Japan (CCJ) that it is investigating CCJ along with several other 

manufacturers and distributors that participate in the activated 

carbon market in Japan over concerns of anti-competitive 

conduct. The JFTC is investigating whether manufacturers and 

sellers of activated carbon used in water purification plants, 

garbage incineration plants and other similar facilities in Japan 

have acted in concert with each other in violation of the Japan 

Anti-Monopoly Act. JFTC agents searched the offices of CCJ, 

reviewing and collecting contracts and other business records 

and interviewed certain CCJ employees. At this early stage of the 

investigation, it is difficult to predict the outcome of this matter 

or what remedies, if any, may be imposed by the JFTC. CCJ is 

cooperating with the JFTC as it conducts its investigation.

In addition to the matters described above, the Company is 

involved in various other legal proceedings, lawsuits and claims, 

including employment, product warranty and environmental 

matters of a nature considered normal to its business. It is the 

Company’s policy to accrue for amounts related to these legal 

matters when it is probable that a liability has been incurred 

and the loss amount is reasonably estimable. Management is 

currently unable to estimate the amount or range of reasonably 

possible losses, if any, resulting from such lawsuits and claims.

17. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Cash paid for interest for the years ended December 31, 2016, 

2015, and 2014 was $2.6 million, $1.1 million, and $0.7 million, 

respectively. Capitalized interest for the years ended December 

31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 was $0.3 million, $0.4 million, and $0.6 

million, respectively. Income taxes paid, net of refunds for the 

years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 were $9.5 million, 

$13.9 million, and $17.7 million, respectively.

The Company has reflected $1.9 million, $(0.1) million, and 

$1.7 million of its capital expenditures as a non-cash increase 

(decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities for the 

years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively.

18. Segment Information

The Company’s management has identified four reportable 

segments based on the product line and associated services. 

Those segments include Activated Carbon and Service, 

Equipment, Consumer, and Other. The Company’s chief oper-

ating decision maker (CODM), its chief executive officer, receives 

and reviews financial information in this format. The Activated 

Carbon and Service segment manufactures granular activated 

carbon for use in applications to remove organic compounds 

from liquids, gases, water, and air. This segment also consists 

of services related to activated carbon including reactivation 

of spent carbon and the leasing, monitoring, and maintenance 

of carbon fills at customer sites. The service portion of this 

segment also includes services related to the Company’s ion 

exchange technologies for treatment of groundwater and 

process streams. The Equipment segment provides solutions to 

customers’ air and water process problems through the design, 

fabrication, and operation of systems that utilize the Company’s 

enabling technologies: ballast water, ultraviolet light, advanced 

ion exchange separation, and carbon adsorption. The Consumer 

segment supplies activated carbon cloth for use in military, 

industrial, and medical applications. Other is exclusively 

comprised of the New Business for the two-month period subse-

quent to the 2016 acquisition. The New Business manufactures 

and markets granular and powdered wood-based activated 

carbon, coal-based activated carbon reactivation, diatomaceous 

earth and perlite filtration media for use in applications for 

decolorization, purification, decontamination, and filtration 

of liquids in various applications including food and beverage, 

industrial, fine chemicals and pharmaceuticals. Intersegment 

net sales are not material.

In conjunction with the acquisition of the New Business, 

management has been undertaking a planning process which 

includes reviewing how the Company will compile and report 

financial information for review by the Company’s CODM 
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beginning January 1, 2017 to assess performance and allocate 

resources. Beginning in the first quarter of 2017, the Company 

is realigning its internal management reporting structure 

to incorporate the New Business into the existing business, 

and evaluating the need to reorganize its current reportable 

segments. The Company anticipates the realigned internal 

management reporting structure will result in three new report-

able segments for review by the CODM. In subsequent periods, 

the Company will report using the new reportable segment 

structure and restate prior periods to conform with the change 

in reportable segments. As this process was not completed as of 

December 31, 2016, the results of operations of the New Business 

have been reported as Other.

The following segment information represents the results 

of operations:

Year Ended December 31

2016 2015 2014

Net sales
Activated Carbon and Service $454,565 $486,548 $498,212
Equipment  38,864  39,293  45,319
Consumer  8,695  9,163  11,572
Other  12,122  —  —

Consolidated net sales $514,246 $535,004 $555,103

Income (loss) from operations before restructuring
Activated Carbon and Service $ 36,893 $ 67,583 $ 78,114
Equipment  (4,633)  (4,210)  (5,657)
Consumer  1,051  1,421  1,896
Other  (8,789)  —  —

 24,522  64,794  74,353
Reconciling items:

Restructuring income  —  —  252
Interest income  99  58  77
Interest expense  (2,385)  (773)  (263)
Other expense — net  (2,163)  (693)  (1,911)

Income before income tax provision $ 20,073 $ 63,386 $ 72,508

Year Ended December 31

2016 2015 2014

Depreciation and amortization
Activated Carbon and Service $34,445 $32,443 $26,820
Equipment  1,631  2,400  3,049
Consumer  559  610  601
Other  1,435  —  —

Depreciation and amortization $38,070 $35,453 $30,470

Expenditures for long-lived assets
Activated Carbon and Service $30,641 $57,559 $60,470
Equipment  2,317  4,266  2,947
Consumer  156  403  495
Other  680  —  —

Total expenditures (1) $33,794 $62,228 $63,912

(1) Includes $4.0 million, $2.1 million and $2.2 million which are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
at December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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December 31

2016 2015 2014

Total assets
Activated Carbon and Service $538,533 $597,274 $564,734
Equipment  45,251  52,894  50,610
Consumer  5,144  6,350  6,317
Other  186,290  —  —

Total assets $775,218 $656,518 $621,661

Year Ended December 31

2016 2015 2014

Net sales by product
Carbon products $426,305 $460,251 $474,222
Capital equipment  34,349  35,114  41,238
Equipment leasing  14,041  15,235  16,598
Carbon cloth products  8,695  9,163  11,564
Spare parts  4,515  4,179  4,081
Other services  14,219  11,062  7,400
Other products (1)  12,122  —  —

Total net sales $514,246 $535,004 $555,103

(1) Includes wood-based activated carbon, reactivation, and mineral-based filtration media products of the New Business.

Geographic Information Year Ended December 31

2016 2015 2014

Net sales
United States $271,076 $288,645 $261,849
United Kingdom  36,552  43,217  46,049
Japan  35,243  35,753  45,261
France  23,646  20,875  28,575
Germany  21,416  17,804  20,656
China  18,559  17,943  17,166
Canada  13,858  17,065  21,910
South Korea  10,231  12,218  18,692
Belgium  9,373  10,383  11,166
Netherlands  5,696  5,184  5,466
Italy  5,206  2,432  2,215
Singapore  4,126  9,923  6,418
Spain  3,812  3,302  4,049
Mexico  3,705  2,662  3,751
Denmark  3,588  4,252  3,978
Other  48,159  43,346  57,902

Total net sales (1) $514,246 $535,004 $555,103

(1) Net sales are attributable to countries based on location of customer.

December 31

2016 2015 2014

Property, plant and equipment, net
United States $225,105 $228,057 $205,429
France  52,650  —  —
Belgium  46,648  47,921  52,943
United Kingdom  12,586  15,849  11,100
China  12,482  13,779  15,583
Italy  11,624  —  —
Japan  5,207  5,255  5,309
Singapore  74  65  86
Denmark  41  53  59
Canada  11  24  49
Brazil  14  14  22
Germany  —  2  6

Total property, plant and equipment, net $366,442 $311,019 $290,586
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19. Government Grants

In 2007, the Company was awarded grants in Belgium related 

to its investment in the expansion of the Feluy facility and 

creation of employment opportunities. The Company received 

0.9 million Euros or $1.2 million for the year ended December 

31, 2014, which represented the final payment under the grants. 

The Company has recognized the grants as a deduction from the 

carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment on its 

consolidated balance sheets in the period received.

On December 19, 2014, the Company received an incentive of 

3.86 million RMB or approximately $0.6 million from the Suzhou 

Wuzhong Economic Development Zone (WEDZ), where the 

Company’s Suzhou, China facility is located. This incentive was 

provided based on the Company’s commitment to the construc-

tion of carbon reactivation lines in two phases. Under phase 

one, the construction of two reactivation lines and under phase 

two, the construction of another two reactivation lines on the 

same site. For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company 

recognized 1.93 million RMB or approximately $0.3 million less 

related expenses as a reduction to other expense - net on its 

consolidated statements of comprehensive income as phase 

one of the agreed upon commitment had been completed and 

all required documentation had been submitted to WEDZ. On 

May 17, 2016, the Company received an incentive of 3.86 million 

RMB or approximately $0.6 million from the JiangSu Provincial 

Bureau based on the same Company commitment. For the 

year ended December 31, 2016, the Company did not recognize 

income for the second incentive as all required documentation 

has not yet been completed. As of December 31, 2016 and 

2015, the Company had a $0.8 million and $0.3 million liability 

recorded as a component of accrued pension and other liabilities 

within its consolidated balance sheets for the unearned portion 

of the incentives.

In September 2016, the Company entered into a technology 

investment agreement with a U.S. government agency to 

improve the production, infrastructure and manufacturing 

efficiencies related to the activated carbon capacity expansion 

project. As part of this agreement, the Company will be reim-

bursed for approved capital improvements made in conjunction 

with the federal award. As of December 31, 2016, there had been 

minimal activity associated with the award, and as such, the 

Company has not yet requested or received any funds. 
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20. Acquisition of the New Business

On April 14, 2016, the Company entered into an agreement 

where it made an irrevocable offer to purchase the New 

Business. The parties executed a definitive Asset and Share 

Purchase Agreement on July 25, 2016, with the completion of 

the transaction subject to various customary conditions and 

regulatory clearances. The New Business which primarily serves 

food and beverage, industrial and pharmaceutical customers 

in Europe and Asia has approximately 300 employees. The 

Company completed this acquisition for $157.4 million on 

November 2, 2016 (acquisition date) and financed the transac-

tion through borrowings under the Amended Revolver. Refer 

to Note 8 for further information related to the U.S. Amended 

Credit Agreement. The Company’s consolidated financial state-

ments include the New Business’ results of operations from the 

acquisition date through December 31, 2016. Net sales and loss 

from operations during this period were $12.1 million and $(8.8) 

million, respectively.

The transaction was accounted for under the acquisition 

method of accounting in accordance with ASC 805 “Business 

Combinations.” Under the acquisition method of accounting, 

the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed are recorded based on their fair value at the 

acquisition date, with excess consideration paid over the net 

assets acquired recorded as goodwill. 

The Company has completed the preliminary detailed valua-

tion analyses necessary to assess the fair values of the tangible 

and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed and the 

amount of goodwill to be recognized as of the acquisition date. 

The amounts shown below for certain assets and liabilities 

are preliminary in nature and are subject to adjustment 

as additional information is obtained about the facts and 

circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. The final 

determination of the fair values will be completed within the 

measurement period of up to one year from the acquisition date 

as permitted, and any adjustments to provisional amounts that 

are identified during the measurement period will be recorded 

in the reporting period in which the adjustment is determined. 

Fair value estimates are based on a series of judgments about 

future events and uncertainties and rely heavily on estimates 

and assumptions. The judgments used to determine the esti-

mated fair value assigned to each class of assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed can materially impact the results of opera-

tions. In addition, the preliminary purchase price is subject to 

customary post closing adjustments.

The following table summarizes the allocation of the 

preliminary purchase price as of the acquisition date:

November 2, 2016

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $   3,826
Receivables  10,077
Inventories  20,895
Other current assets  1,171
Property, plant, and equipment  67,697
Intangibles  37,248
Goodwill  42,844
Other assets  179

Total assets $183,937

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $   6,151
Payroll and benefits payable  4,360
Accrued income taxes  581
Deferred income taxes - long term  7,406
Accrued pension and other liabilities  8,014

Total liabilities $ 26,512

Net assets $157,425
Cash paid for acquisition $157,425

The estimated fair values of certain assets and liabilities, 

including but not limited to, property, plant and equipment, 

intangibles, goodwill, deferred income taxes, and accrued 

pension and other liabilities are provisional amounts based, 

in part, on third party valuations. Given the relatively short 

time period between the acquisition date and December 31, 

2016, these third party valuations are still under review and 

as such, the estimated fair values continue to be subject to 

final adjustments.

The Company determined the fair value of the majority of 

the current assets and current liabilities approximated their 

carrying value given the highly liquid and short-term nature 

of these assets and liabilities. The fair value of finished goods 

inventory was determined based on the estimated selling price 

of the inventory less the costs of disposal and a reasonable profit 

allowance for the selling effort. The estimated step-up in fair 

value of inventory of $2.1 million increased cost of products sold 

by $1.5 million from the acquisition date to December 31, 2016. 

The preliminary fair value of property, plant and equipment was 

determined by using certain estimates and assumptions that are 

not observable in the market and thus represent a Level 3 fair 

value measurement.
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As part of the preliminary purchase price allocation, the 

Company determined that the separately identifiable intangible 

assets consisted of trade names and trademarks, unpatented 

technology and know-how, and customer relationships, in 

the amounts of $7.3 million, $14.2 million, and $15.7 million, 

respectively. Unpatented technology and know-how, as well as 

customer relationships are being amortized over a weighted-

average estimated useful life of 20 years. Trade names and 

trademarks are considered to have an indefinite life and will be 

tested for impairment annually or when events or changes in 

the business environment indicate that the carrying value of 

the intangible assets may exceed their fair value. The Company 

used the income approach valuation technique to measure 

the preliminary fair value of the intangible assets, based on 

the present value of their future economic benefits reflecting 

current market expectations. Specifically, the relief from royalty 

method was used to value the trade names and trademarks as 

well as the unpatented technology and know-how. The customer 

relationships were valued using a multi-period excess earnings 

method. The assumptions used in these fair value measure-

ments are not observable in active markets and thus represent 

Level 3 fair value measurements. Refer to Note 4 for further 

information related to intangibles. 

Goodwill is calculated as the excess of the consideration trans-

ferred over the net assets recognized and represents growth 

opportunities and expected cost synergies of the combined 

company. The combined company is expected to be an industry 

leader in the activated carbon and filtration media markets, with 

enhanced diversification, a strong presence in Europe, and an 

expanded reach into emerging markets. Goodwill recognized 

as a result of the acquisition is not deductible for tax purposes. 

Refer to Note 4 for further information related to goodwill.

Contingent liabilities assumed include $1.9 million related 

to AROs for legal obligations associated with the normal opera-

tion of the acquired silica mining facilities up to the end of the 

quarries’ exploration. The Company evaluated the ARO to deter-

mine the cost associated with mine reclamation and landfill 

closures and applied an appropriate discount rate to determine 

the fair value. The assumptions used in these fair value measure-

ments are not observable in active markets and thus represent 

Level 3 fair value measurements. Refer to Note 3 for further 

information related to AROs.

The Company incurred approximately $14.0 million of 

acquisition-related transaction costs and $0.2 million of inte-

gration costs in 2016. The transaction costs primarily relate 

to advisory, legal, and accounting fees, as well as transfer 

taxes and the integration costs related to a transition services 

agreement. These costs are included in the selling, general and 

administrative expenses line item in the consolidated statement 

of comprehensive income.

Pro Forma Information (Unaudited)
The Company’s consolidated financial statements include 

the New Business’ results of operations from the acquisition 

date through December 31, 2016. The following unaudited pro 

forma results of operations assume the New Business had been 

acquired on January 1, 2015. These unaudited pro forma results 

reflect adjustments that are directly attributable to the business 

combination, and are factually supportable. The unaudited pro 

forma results do not include any synergies or other effects of 

the planned integration that would have occurred had the New 

Business been acquired on January 1, 2015. The unaudited pro 

forma results are not necessarily indicative of the actual results 

of operations that would have been realized nor are they neces-

sarily indicative of future results of the combined operations.

Year Ended December 31

2016 2015

Net sales $601,153 $636,211
Net income  29,326  33,119
Net income per common share

Basic $    0.58 $    0.64
Diluted $    0.57 $    0.63

These unaudited pro forma amounts have been calculated 

after adjusting for the incremental depreciation and amortiza-

tion expenses of $3.2 million associated with the step-up fair 

value adjustments to property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets in each of the years ended December 31, 2016 

and 2015.

The Company financed the acquisition of the New Business 

by borrowing $160 million under the Amended Revolver. The 

unaudited pro forma amounts have been calculated after 

adjusting for the incremental interest expense of $3.3 million 

and $3.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 

2015, respectively.

The unaudited pro forma results for 2016 were adjusted to 

eliminate the $1.5 million incremental cost of products sold 

recognized from the acquisition date to December 31, 2016 as a 

result of the step-up of inventory. The 2015 unaudited pro forma 

results were adjusted to include $2.1 million of incremental cost 

of products sold to reflect the total step up of inventory.

The unaudited pro forma net income for 2016 excludes 

non-recurring transaction expenses directly attributable to 

the acquisition of $14.0 million that were incurred by the 

Company in 2016, while the 2015 results were adjusted to include 

these expenses.
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QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA — UNAUDITED

2016 2015

(Dollars in thousands, 
except per share data) 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter(1) 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Net sales $120,199 $132,597 $123,970 $137,480 $135,703 $135,452 $132,976 $130,873
Net sales less cost 

of products sold 

(excluding depreciation 

and amortization) $ 41,740 $ 44,934 $ 38,540 $ 42,634 $ 48,485 $ 50,838 $ 48,172 $ 43,987
Net income $   5,458 $   7,896 $   6,385 $    (5,942) $ 11,061 $ 12,580 $ 12,106 $   7,716

Common Stock Data:
Basic:

Net income per 

common share $    0.11 $    0.16 $    0.13 $     (0.12) $    0.21 $    0.24 $    0.23 $    0.15

Diluted:
Net income per 

common share $    0.11 $    0.15 $    0.13 $     (0.12) $    0.21 $    0.24 $    0.23 $    0.15

Average common 

shares outstanding
Basic  50,308  50,225  50,246  50,255  52,451  52,314  51,891  50,970
Diluted  51,041  50,987  50,984  51,081  53,330  53,179  52,634  51,710

(1) Results were negatively impacted by $12.2 million of costs related to the acquisition of the New Business, consisting primarily of $10.5 million of 
transaction costs. Refer to Note 20 of the consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report for further information.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure:

Not Applicable.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over 
Financial Reporting
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial 

Reporting is contained in “Item 8. Financial Statements and 

Supplementary Data — Report of Management — Responsibility 

for Financial Statements and Management’s Annual Report on 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting,” and incorporated 

herein by reference.

Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Firm
The attestation report of the Independent Registered Public 

Accounting Firm is contained in “Item 8. Financial Statements 

and Supplementary Data Report of Independent Registered 

Public Accounting Firm,” and incorporated herein by reference.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting
Disclosure of changes in internal control over financial 

reporting is contained in “Item 8. Financial Statements and 

Supplementary Data — Report of Management — Changes in 

Internal Control,” and incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9B. Other Information:

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures:

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company maintains controls and procedures designed to 

provide reasonable assurance that information required to be 

disclosed in reports that are filed with or submitted to the U.S. 

Securities and Exchange Commission is: (1) accumulated and 

communicated to management, including the Chief Executive 

Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions 

regarding required disclosures and (2) recorded, processed, 

summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in 

applicable laws and regulations. Based on this evaluation, the 

Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded 

that its disclosure controls and procedures were not effective 

as of December 31, 2016 due to a material weakness in internal 

control over financial reporting related to the recognition of 

revenue for a subset of transactions within the Company’s U.S. 

potable water market.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance of the Registrant:

Information concerning the directors and executive officers 

of the Corporation required by this item is incorporated 

by reference to the material appearing under the headings 

“Board of Directors and Committees of the Board,” “Election 

of Directors (Proposal 1),” “Executive Officers,” and “Corporate 

Governance” included in the Corporate Governance section of 

the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2017 Annual Meeting of 

its Stockholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation:

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference 

to the material appearing under the headings “Executive 

and Director Compensation” and “Corporate Governance - 

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” 

in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2017 Annual Meeting 

of its Stockholders.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters:

The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 

2016 concerning common stock issuable under the Company’s 

equity compensation plans:

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Plan category

Number of securities to be issued 
upon exercise of outstanding options, 

warrants and rights
(a) 

Weighted-average exercise 
price of outstanding options, 

warrants and rights
(b) 

Number of securities remaining 
available for future issuance 

under equity compensation plans 
(excluding securities reflected 

in column (a)) (c) 

Equity compensation plans 

approved by security holders  1,684,367 $17.57  1,617,213
Equity compensation plans not 

approved by security holders — —  43,460(1)

Total  1,684,367 $17.57  1,660,673

(1) On December 31, 2016 there were 43,460 shares available for issuance under the Company’s 1997 Directors’ Fee Plan, as last amended in 2005. The 
Plan provides non-employee directors of the Company with payment alternatives for retainer fees by being able to elect to receive common stock of 
the Company instead of cash for such fees. Under the plan, directors have the alternative to elect their retainer fees in a current payment of shares of 
common stock of the Company, or to defer payment of such fees into a common stock account. Shares which are deferred are credited to a deferred stock 
compensation other liability account maintained by the Company. On each date when director fees are otherwise payable to a director who has made a 
stock deferral election, his or her stock deferral account will be credited with a number of shares equal to the cash amount of the director’s fees payable 
divided by the fair market value of one share of the common stock on the date on which the fees are payable. Dividends or other distributions payable on 
common stock are similarly credited to the deferred stock account of a director on the date when such dividends or distributions are payable. The deferred 
stock compensation accounts are payable to the directors in accordance with their stock deferral elections and are typically paid either in a lump sum or 
in annual installments after the retirement or other termination of service of the director from the Company’s Board of Directors.

The additional information required by this item is 

incorporated by reference to the material appearing under 

the heading “Security Ownership of Management and Certain 

Beneficial Owners” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 

2017 Annual Meeting of its Stockholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships, Related Transactions, and Director Independence:

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference 

to the material appearing under the headings “Election of 

Directors (Proposal 1)” and “Corporate Governance” in the 

Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2017 Annual Meeting of 

its Stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services:

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference 

to the material appearing under the heading “Ratification of 

Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting 

Firm (Proposal 2) — Certain Fees” in the Company’s Proxy 

Statement for the 2017 Annual Meeting of its Stockholders.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statements Schedule:

A. Financial Statements and Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
(see Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K).

The following information is filed as part of this Form 10-K:

   Page

Report of Management 48

Internal Controls — Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 50

Financial Statements — Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 51

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 52

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 53

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 54

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 55

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 56

B. Financial Statements Schedule for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014

II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the Years Ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014

C. The Exhibits Listed in the Accompanying Exhibit Index are Filed, Furnished or Incorporated by Reference as Part of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Calgon Carbon Corporation

Moon Township, Pennsylvania

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Calgon Carbon Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 

2016 and 2015, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2016, and the Company’s internal control over financial 

reporting as of December 31, 2016, and have issued our reports thereon dated March 1, 2017; such consolidated financial statements and 

reports are included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. Our audits also included the consolidated financial statement schedule of the Company 

listed in Item 15. This consolidated financial statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to 

express an opinion based on our audits. In our opinion, such consolidated financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the 

basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

March 1, 2017
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The following should be read in conjunction with the previously referenced financial statements:

Schedule II

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(Dollars in thousands)

Description

Balance at
Beginning of Year

Additions
Charged to

Costs and
Expenses

Deductions
Returns and

Write-Offs
Balance at

End of Year

Year Ended December 31, 2016
Allowance for doubtful accounts $1,675 $2,926 $(3,185) $1,416

Year Ended December 31, 2015
Allowance for doubtful accounts  1,526  1,402  (1,253)  1,675

Year Ended December 31, 2014
Allowance for doubtful accounts  1,328  1,426  (1,228)  1,526

Description

Balance at
Beginning of Year

Additions
Charged to

Costs and
Expenses

Charged to
Other

Accounts

Deductions
Returns and

Write-Offs
Balance at

End of Year

Year Ended December 31, 2016
Income tax valuation allowance $2,682 $153 $(325) $— $2,510

Year Ended December 31, 2015
Income tax valuation allowance  2,576  183  —  (77)  2,682

Year Ended December 31, 2014
Income tax valuation allowance  988 —  1,616  (28)  2,576
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C. Exhibit Index

2.1 Letter Agreement (including the form Asset and Share Purchase Agreement to be entered into by and among Calgon Carbon 
Corporation, Calgon Carbon Investments, Inc., CECA, S.A., Arkema S.r.l, Arkema Shanghai Distribution Co Ltd and ARKEMA 
FRANCE), dated April 14, 2016, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed April 14, 2016 (File No. 001-10776).

2.2 Asset and Share Purchase Agreement by and among CECA, S.A., Arkema S.r.l, Arkema Shanghai Distribution Co Ltd, Arkema 
France, Chemviron France SAS and Calgon Carbon Corporation dated July 25, 2016, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 
10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 29, 2016 (File No. 001-10776).

2.3 Amendatory Agreement in respect of Asset and Share Purchase Agreement by and among CECA, S.A., Arkema S.r.l, Arkema 
Shanghai Distribution Co Ltd, Arkema France, Chemviron France SAS, Calgon Carbon Corporation, Calgon Carbon (Suzhou) Co., 
Ltd. and Chemviron SPRL, dated November 2, 2016, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed November 8, 2016 (File No. 001-10776).

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2009, filed on August 7, 2009 (File No. 001-10776).

3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed December 19, 2011 (File No. 001-10776).

4.1 Form of Senior Debt Indenture, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Automatic Shelf Registration 
Statement on Form S-3ASR filed May 7, 2013 (File No. 333-18840).

4.2 Form of Subordinated Debt Indenture, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s Automatic Shelf 
Registration Statement on Form S-3ASR filed May 7, 2013 (File No. 333-18840).

10.1* Calgon Carbon Corporation Amended and Restated 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit A to 
the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed March 25, 2014 (File No. 001-10776).

10.2* Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Non-Employee Directors, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, filed on February 26, 2016 (File No. 
001-10776).

10.3* Form of Restricted Performance Stock Unit Agreement, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 18, 2016 (File No. 001-10776).

10.4* Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, filed on February 26, 2016 (File No. 001-10776).

10.5* Form of 2008 Equity Incentive Plan Agreement for Non-Statutory Stock Options, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, filed on February 26, 2016 (File No. 
001-10776).

10.6* 1993 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan, as amended, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, filed on March 30, 2006 (File No. 001-10776).

10.7* 1997 Directors’ Fee Plan, as amended, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 
10-K filed for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, filed on March 30, 2006 (File No. 001-10776).

10.8* 1999 Non-Employee Directors’ Phantom Stock Unit Plan, as amended, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, filed on March 30, 2006 (File No. 
001-10776).

10.9* Offer Letter by and between Calgon Carbon Corporation and Randall S. Dearth dated June 26, 2012, incorporated herein by refer-
ence to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 27, 2012 (File No. 001-10776).

10.10* Director Compensation Letter by and between Calgon Carbon Corporation and Randall S. Dearth dated June 26, 2012, incorpo-
rated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 27, 2012 (File No. 001-10776).

10.11* Employment Agreement by and between Calgon Carbon Corporation and Randall S. Dearth dated December 18, 2015 and 
effective January 1, 2016, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
December 22, 2015 (File No. 001-10776).

10.12* Employment Agreement between Calgon Carbon Corporation and Robert Fortwangler dated December 18, 2015 and effective 
January 1, 2016, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 
22, 2015 (File No. 001-10776).

10.13* Employment Agreement between Calgon Carbon Corporation and Stevan R. Schott dated December 18, 2015 and effective 
January 1, 2016, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 
22, 2015 (File No. 001-10776).
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10.14* Employment Agreement between Calgon Carbon Corporation and James A. Coccagno dated December 18, 2015 and effective 
January 1, 2016, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 
22, 2015 (File No. 001-10776).

10.15* Employment Agreement between Calgon Carbon Corporation and Chad Whalen dated December 1, 2015 and effective December 
1, 2015, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 7, 2015 
(File No. 001-10776).

10.16* Agreement for Consulting Services by and between Calgon Carbon Corporation and Robert P. O’Brien executed on October 12, 
2015, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 13, 2015 (File 
No. 001-10776).

10.17 Form of Indemnification Agreement dated February 25, 2010, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 3, 2010 (File No. 001-10776).

10.18 First Amended and Restated Credit Agreement by and among Calgon Carbon Corporation, the other borrowers party thereto, 
the guarantors party thereto, the lenders party thereto, PNC Bank, National Association as Administrative Agent, Swing Loan 
Lender and Issuing Lender, Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania as Syndication Agent, Bank of America, N.A., and Branch Banking 
and Trust Company as Co-Documentation Agents, and PNC Capital Markets LLC and Citizens Bank, N.A., as Joint Lead Arrangers 
and Joint Bookrunners, together with Schedules and Exhibits thereto, dated October 4, 2016, incorporated herein by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 7, 2016 (File No. 001-10776).

10.19 First Amendment to First Amended and Restated Credit Agreement by and among Calgon Carbon Corporation, the other 
borrowers party thereto, the guarantors party thereto, the lenders party thereto, and PNC Bank, National Association as 
Administrative Agent, dated February 23, 2017, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report 
on Form 8-K filed February 24, 2017 (File No. 001-10776).

10.20 Redemption, Asset Transfer and Contribution Agreement by and among Calgon Mitsubishi Chemical Corporation, Mitsubishi 
Chemical Corporation and Calgon Carbon Corporation, dated February 12, 2010, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 
10.12 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, filed on February 26, 2010 (File 
No. 001-10776).

10.21 Facility Agreement by and between Calgon Carbon Japan KK and Bank of America, N.A., Tokyo Branch, dated March 24, 2016, 
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 30, 2016 (File No. 
001-10776).

10.22 Continuing Guaranty of Calgon Carbon Corporation in favor of Bank of America, N.A., Tokyo Branch, dated March 24, 2016, 
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 30, 2016 (File No. 
001-10776).

10.23 Facility Letter by and among The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UJF (China), Ltd., Calgon Carbon (Tianjin) Co., Ltd, Datong Carbon 
Corporation and Calgon Carbon (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. dated July 19, 2011, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 5, 2013 (File No. 001-10776).

10.24 Amended Facility Letter by and among The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UJF (China), Ltd., Calgon Carbon (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. and 
Calgon Carbon (Suzhou) Co., Ltd., incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed August 5, 2013 (File No. 001-10776).

10.25 Uncommitted Revolving Loan Facility Letter by and between The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UJF (China), Ltd., Shanghai Branch 
and Calgon Carbon (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. dated August 14, 2014, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 18, 2014 (File No. 001-10776).

10.26 Unconditional Guarantee from Calgon Carbon Corporation in favor of The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UJF (China), Ltd., Shanghai 
Branch dated August 14, 2014, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed August 18, 2014 (File No. 001-10776).

10.27 Amendment Agreement of Facility Agreement by and between Calgon Carbon (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. and The Bank of Tokyo-
Mitsubishi UFJ (China), Ltd., acting by and through its Shanghai Branch effective July 19, 2015 and dated August 7, 2015, 
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 11, 2015 (File No. 
001-10776).

10.28 Service Contract for the Supply, Placement, Removal and Thermal Reactivation of Granular Activated Carbon by and between 
Calgon Carbon Corporation and the City of Phoenix, Arizona entered into on March 9, 2012, incorporated herein by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 14, 2012 (File No. 001-10776).

14.1 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, filed on February 26, 2016 (File No. 001-10776).
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21.0 The wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company at December 31, 2016 are Chemviron Carbon GmbH, a German corporation; 
Calgon Carbon Canada, Inc., an Ontario corporation; Chemviron Carbon Ltd., a United Kingdom corporation; Calgon Carbon 
Investments, Inc., a Delaware corporation; Charcoal Cloth (International) Limited, a United Kingdom corporation; Charcoal 
Cloth Limited, a United Kingdom corporation; Waterlink (UK) Holdings Ltd., a United Kingdom corporation, Sutcliffe Croftshaw 
Limited, a United Kingdom corporation; Sutcliffe Speakman Limited, a United Kingdom corporation; Sutcliffe Speakman Carbons 
Ltd., a United Kingdom corporation; Lakeland Processing Limited, a United Kingdom corporation; Sutcliffe Speakmanco 5 Ltd., 
a United Kingdom corporation; Chemviron Carbon ApS, a Danish corporation, Chemviron Carbon AB, a Swedish corporation; 
Calgon Carbon (Tianjin) Co., Limited, a Chinese corporation; Calgon Carbon Asia PTE Limited, a Singapore corporation; BSC 
Columbus, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company; CCC Columbus, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company; Calgon Carbon 
(Suzhou) Co., Ltd., a Chinese corporation; Calgon Carbon Hong Kong Limited, a Hong Kong corporation; Calgon Carbon Japan 
KK, a Japanese corporation; Calgon Carbon Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company; Calgon Carbon Mexico S. de 
R.L. de C.V., a Mexican corporation; Calgon Carbon Payco S. de R.L. de C.V., a Mexican corporation; Calgon Carbon Sistemas 
de Filtração Importação e Exportação Ltda., a Brazilian corporation; Calgon Carbon UV Technologies LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company, Calgon Carbon UV Technologies Canada Inc., an Ontario corporation, Calgon Carbon India LLP, an Indian 
limited liability partnership, CC Koolstof, LLC, a Delaware limited liability partnership, Chemviron Sprl, a Belgian company, 
Chemviron France SAS, a French company, Chemviron Italia S.r.l., an Italian company, and 20% of Calgon Carbon (Thailand) 
Company Limited, a Thailand corporation

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
31.1 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer
31.2 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002
32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
Note: The Registrant hereby undertakes to furnish, upon request of the Commission, copies of all instruments defining the rights of holders of long-term 

debt of the Registrant and its consolidated subsidiaries. The total amount of securities authorized thereunder does not exceed 10% of the total 
assets of the Registrant and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.

* Management contract or compensatory plan, contract or arrangement required to be filed by Item 601(b)(10)(iii) of Regulation S-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 

signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Calgon Carbon Corporation

By /s/ RANDALL S. DEARTH

Randall S. Dearth

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

March 1, 2017

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf 

of the registrant and in the capacities on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/S/ RANDALL S. DEARTH Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer March 1, 2017
Randall S. Dearth (Principal Executive Officer)

/S/ ROBERT M. FORTWANGLER Chief Financial Officer March 1, 2017
Robert M. Fortwangler (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

/S/ J. RICH ALEXANDER Director March 1, 2017
J. Rich Alexander

/S/ WILLIAM J. LYONS Director March 1, 2017
William J. Lyons

/S/ LOUIS S. MASSIMO Director March 1, 2017
Louis S. Massimo

/S/ WILLIAM R. NEWLIN Director March 1, 2017
William R. Newlin

/S/ JOHN J. PARO Director March 1, 2017
John J. Paro

/S/ JULIE S. ROBERTS Director March 1, 2017
Julie S. Roberts

/S/ TIMOTHY G. RUPERT Director March 1, 2017
Timothy G. Rupert

/S/ DONALD C. TEMPLIN Director March 1, 2017
Donald C. Templin
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J. Rich Alexander (2) (3)
Chairman, 
Allnex Corporation

John J. Paro (1) (3)
Chairman, President 
and Chief Executive Officer,
The Hallstar Company

Julie S. Roberts (2) (4)
President,
JSRoberts Consulting, LLC

Timothy G. Rupert
Retired President 
and Chief Executive Officer,
RTI International Metals, Inc.
Lead Director, Calgon Carbon 
Corporation

Donald C. Templin (1) (4)
Executive Vice President,
Marathon Petroleum 
Corporation

Steven D. Nolder
Vice President Human 
Resources and Supply 
Chain Management

Stevan R. Schott
Executive Vice President – 
Advanced Materials, 
Manufacturing, and 
Equipment Division

Randall S. Dearth
Chairman, President 
and Chief Executive Officer,
Calgon Carbon Corporation

William J. Lyons (1) (4)
Retired Executive Vice 
President and 
Chief Financial Officer, 
CONSOL Energy Inc.

Louis S. Massimo (2) (4)
Retired Executive Vice 
President and Chief 
Operating Officer,
Arch Chemicals, Inc.

William R. Newlin (3)
Chairman,
Newlin Investment 
Company LLC

James A. Coccagno
Executive Vice President – 
Core Carbon and 
Services Divison

Randall S. Dearth
Chairman, President 
and Chief Executive Officer

Robert M. Fortwangler
Senior Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer

Board of Directors

Officers

(1) Audit Committee, (2) Compensation Committee, (3) Governance Committee, (4) Investment Committee

Chad Whalen
Senior Vice President, 
General Counsel 
and Secretary



Information for Shareholders

Corporate Office
Calgon Carbon Corporation
3000 GSK Drive
Moon Township, PA 15108
(412) 787-6700

Mailing Address:
Calgon Carbon Corporation
P.O. Box 717
Pittsburgh, PA 15230-0717

E-mail:
info@calgoncarbon.com

Website:
www.calgoncarbon.com

Stock Market
Calgon Carbon Corporation’s Common 
Stock is publicly traded on the New York 
Stock Exchange under the symbol CCC.

Form 10-K
The Calgon Carbon Corporation Form 10-K
for 2016 is contained in this Annual Report. 
Copies of any exhibits to the Form 10-K are 
available by e-mail, telephone, or written 
request to:
Investor Relations
Calgon Carbon Corporation
(412) 787-6795
IR@calgoncarbon.com

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Shareholder Correspondence:
Computershare
P.O. Box 30170
College Station, TX 77842-3170

Overnight Correspondence:
Computershare
211 Quality Circle, Suite 210
College Station, TX 77845

www.computershare.com/investor

Phone Numbers:
Inside the U.S.: (800) 368-5948
Outside the U.S.: (201) 680-6578

TDD Numbers:
Shareholders inside the U.S.: (800) 231-5469
Shareholders outside the U.S.: (201) 680-6610

Investor Relations
Calgon Carbon Corporation
3000 GSK Drive
Moon Township, PA 15108

Independent Auditors
Deloitte & Touche LLP
2500 One PPG Place
Pittsburgh, PA 15222

Global Sales Representation
Americas
São Paulo, Brazil
Toronto, Ontario, Canada
Mexico City, Mexico
San Francisco, California, U.S.
Chicago, Illinois, U.S.
Baton Rouge, Louisiana, U.S.
Lake Charles, Louisiana, U.S.
Louisville, Kentucky, U.S.
New York (Metro area), New York, U.S.
Portland, Oregon, U.S.
Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, U.S.
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, U.S.
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, U.S.
Houston, Texas, U.S.
Charlottesville, Virginia, U.S.
Seattle, Washington, U.S.
Appleton, Wisconsin, U.S.

European Sales Offices
Feluy, Belgium
Kolding, Denmark
Paris, France
Beverungen, Germany
Milan, Italy
Ashton-in-Makerfield, UK
Houghton-le-Spring, UK
Gothenburg, Sweden

Asia Pacific Sales Offices
Suzhou, Jiangsu Province, China
Hong Kong
Osaka, Japan
Tokyo, Japan
Singapore
Taipei, Taiwan

Global Manufacturing & Innovation
Feluy, Belgium
Suzhou, Jiangsu Province, China
Parentis-en-Born, France
Riom-ès-Montagnes, France
Saint-Bauzile, France
Foggia, Italy
San Pietro di Legnago, Italy
Fukui, Fukui Prefecture, Japan
Ashton-in-Makerfield, UK (leased)
Grays, UK
Houghton-le-Spring, UK (leased)
Tipton, UK
Gila Bend, Arizona, U.S.
Blue Lake, California, U.S.
Catlettsburg, Kentucky, U.S.
North Tonawanda, New York, U.S. (leased)
Pearlington, Mississippi, U.S.
Columbus, Ohio, U.S.
Moon Township, Pennsylvania, U.S. (leased)
Findlay Township, Pennsylvania, U.S. (leased)
Neville Island, Pennsylvania, U.S. (two plants)

Joint Venture
Calgon Carbon (Thailand) Company Ltd.

Nakornrachasima, Thailand

The CEO/CFO certifications required to be filed with the SEC regarding the quality of the Corporation’s public 
disclosures are Exhibits 31.1, 31.2, 32.1 and 32.2 to its Annual Report on Form 10-K filed for the period ending 
December 31, 2016. The Company also has filed with the New York Stock Exchange the CEO certification in 
accordance with the filing requirements of NYSE Rule 303A.12(a).
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1.800.4CARBON calgoncarbon.com info@calgoncarbon.com

© Copyright 2017 Calgon Carbon Corporation, All Rights Reserved
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